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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBRE

TURNOVER % %48
2009 €» 1,957,525
2008 @ 1,530,446
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

HMEREE
2009 2008
—EEhEF T N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET AREET T
Results £
Turnover EEER 1,957,525 1,530,446
Gross profit EH 211,941 189,163
Profit before taxation BRA BTN 127,476 105,981
Net profit el 126,814 95,226
Basic earnings per share (RMB) BIREREBF (ARE) 0.0485 0.0376
Gross profit margin FEFE 10.8% 12.4%
Net profit margin RS 6.5% 6.2%
Financial position BRI
Cash and cash equivalents B FIREEEY 291,296 242,825
Total assets BEE 1,339,495 1,111,471
Total debts BEE 351,238 223,774
Total equity T AERE 988,257 887,697
Current ratio (Times) MELLE (%) 2.2 25
Quick ratio (Times) B E (1F) 1.6 18
Gearing - borrowings 1B & — B3R
to total assets BRIABEE 5.7% 0.9%
Efficiency ratios Mkt &
Debtors turnover (Days) JEWER A (R0 30 30
Creditors turnover (Days) FERTRRFGEE (K& 15 16
Inventories turnover (Days) FEESE (R&) 34 34
Cash conversion (Days) ReEm (RE) 49 48
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
~EEF

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tian Qixiang (Chairman)

Mr. Gao Shijun (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Yu Yingquan

Mr. Liu Xianggang

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Dong Yanfeng
Ms. Yu Shumin

Mr. Cao Zenggong
Mr. Yue Kwai Wa, Ken

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Siu Hong, FCCA, FCPA

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Yu Yingguan
Mr. Leung Siu Hong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

PO. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 2408, 24/F

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers
22/F, Prince’s Building
Central

Hong Kong
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LEGAL ADVISERS

Chiu & Partners
40th Floor

Jardine House

1 Connaught Place
Hong Kong

INTERNAL CONTROL REVIEW ADVISOR
SHINEWING Risk Services Limited

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

China Construction Bank Corporation
Agricultural Bank of China
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China

CAYMAN ISLANDS SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Cayman) Limited
Butterfield House

68 Fort Street

PO. Box 705

Grand Cayman KY1-1107

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
26th Floor, Tesbury Centre

28 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

www.chinastarch.com.hk
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Dear shareholders, BEMAIER -

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of RN AZEREXTREBRMDIERAER A ([ AAQ
China Starch Holdings Limited (the’Company”),lampleased topresent Al NEE([EZF )@ ([EF€]) r MARIIRE
the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, ZAATIREMBARI(GBAIAEH])HE

the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2009. —EEAF+ A=+ HIENFEEER

%o

BUSINESS REVIEW ¥£KE R

Cornstarch is a raw material for a wide range of products and is MNUEXBMARMEHNEREEZESZ K%

generally used in daily diet and daily consumer goods, such as soft ERARAMBEREMBEAEER  flw -

drinks, beer, yarn, papermaking, medicine, natural sweeteners and ~ #{HERKl « E - 4540 - EAK C BH - KA

food, etc. Therefore, cornstarch and its derivatives are daily consumer — FHEREl - B SE o FTA KB RETA R

goods and are characterised by their non-reusable nature. EnAAEHERBAETERFERA R
M o

CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED R BIR 1ERR B R A R
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EFE®mE

Amid the global economic downturn and an operating environment
with a lessened demand, the Group has inevitably been affected by
reduced sales growth and falling average unit prices. Nevertheless,
our management regarded this financial tsunami as a challenge to
their operational foundations and competence, and it also brought
new development opportunities for the Group. During the year under
review, the Group offset the impact on the falling average price of
cornstarch by exploring new markets for cornstarch and exercising
strict cost control. Thanks to our remarkable business management
and prudent capital management, the Group did notincur any monthly
loss and was not subject to any operating cash shortage in 2009.

Furthermore, ER/B 1288 EAREW AR A F] (Linging Deneng Golden
Corn Bio Limited) ("Deneng Golden Corn"), established by the Group in
2008, has an average utilisation rate of 48.5%. It also started generating
profits for the Group in May 2009. Moreover, the Group's starch-based
sweetener project was completed earlier and has commenced trial
production in October 2009.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The Group's overall turnover for the year 2009 amounted to
approximately RMB1,957,525,000, representing a surge of 27.9% over
the previous year. Gross profit margin slightly dropped 1.6% to 10.8%.
Net profit margin for the year was 6.5%, which is fairly similar as
compared to last year (2008: 6.2%). Profit attributable to shareholders
substantially increased by 28.9% to approximately RMB126,659,000
(2008: RMB98,234,000). Since the Group planned to significantly
increase its production capacity in the next two years, the Board
considers that it is in the long term interests of the shareholders
and the Company as a whole to reserve part of its capital for the
purpose of expansion and liquidity. Therefore, the Board recommends
the payment of a final dividend of HK1.16 cents per share, totalling
approximately HK$33,522,000, and a bonus issue of shares on the basis
of a one new ordinary share for every one ordinary share held to the
shareholders of the Company whose names are on the register of
memberson 17 June 2010, subject to the approval of the shareholders
of the Company in the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. The dividend payout ratio is 23.3%.
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EEHEBZHELHEBRERBTRME 2K
BRFT AEREEERMAERNKEAX
HERRMELFOEB TR ZFE -8
EEBEREXRTRER SN EENEEER
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£ BF 1B 540 ORI 3 i 5 M BRAR 12 Il A
AFEHFOEE TR ZRFE - BEME -
AEEE_ZTTNFILRAHREAEBEESL
LEECEMZBER EEBRREMESH

EEEFMRTHNESEEREMR
Brib 2 5h - REBREFRILZBERESE

KA B BR A Al(Linging Deneng Golden Com

Bio Limited) ([12EE® K 1) A FHE A X EE|
485%  WEAE—FZENFHA Eﬂ%#’ﬂl&%l

WORENERL - BIN  AEBE ZBIETIZIT
RER-_ZFTNF+ATRILFRAGHE °

M RE
TETNFAEENBEEEBOAARK
1,957,525,0007T 88 2 £F Lt 8 K i@ £ F27.9% ©
EFREIR T B1.6%E10.8% » 2 FHFF=X
Bl EFHE B65% (ZEFN\F : 62%) °
B R FDE KR EA289%E 4 B AR
126,659,0007C( ZZEZ )\F : AK¥98,234,000
TL) c ERAEEFEIERR-F S RNIBIG
MEER ESeRAREBIHESERE
ERnBESCAERTERERARIRER
@ At - EFREFERNARBRESR 168
(& F£#933,522,000870) MR EEE —
AREE RS AR EERITAR TR
—ZT-TFXNAT+EBRRINARBRESLM
IR - EAFARRIRER AR A BD R
THREBFERS EHE - FAMEE - KRB
LR B233% ©



Affected by falling average unit prices but benefited from the
expansion of facilities, the turnover of cornstarch and ancillary corn-
refined products for the year 2009 significantly increased 33.8% to
RMB1,425,700,000 (2008: RMB1,065,915,000). Though the average gross
profit margin of the year (6.7%) was lower than that of previous year
(2008: 9.8%), a comparison of the first half and the second half of the
year shows that the gross profit margin of this business segment is
rising from the bottom.

As for lysine, the Company has set an annual sales target of 15,000
tonnes for 65% lysine at the beginning of the year and the actual
annual sales volume recorded 19,666 tonnes, which was much higher
than our expectations. As the annual performance of lysine and related
products was still influenced by the decrease in unit prices, sales
slightly increased by 6.8% to approximately RMB394,984,000 (2008:
RMB369,832,000).

Sales of electricity and steam substantially increased by 38.7% to
approximately RMB131,339,000 (2008: RMB94,699,000) and the gross
profit margin significantly climbed from 18.4% to 35.9%. The increase
was primarily due to the price adjustment of electricity and steam
of last year.

Starch-based sweetener is a new product of our Group. Since it was
under trial production stage and was sold as a sample product, it did
not generate any profit for the Group during the year under review.
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CHAIRMAN!S STATEMENT
ER®|E

ERBHEERFMIBERBEARIFY
BETRFE BEHRERLA - U=
TENFNEETENAR EFA3B%NE A
R #1,425700000t( —ZZEZN\F: ARK
1,065,915,0007C ) © & A RN F Y F 15 EF| =
6.7%) L EFE(ZEZ)NFE 1 98%) * BUAT
FEH FYFHE  REBIRBAOENEE
FRAEBFH -

BREAE - BPIRER6S%BRIER 2
PEHEERIZA150000  MEFEREES
AIEE R TEHAA19,666ME o R TEE B M HkES
En2FRBENIEETE  FINHEER
B Fr6.8% %2 89 A R #6394,984,00070( =
TNF : AR¥369,832,0007T) °

BHRERIHEERNE EFABIELH AR
131,339,0007C( ZEZENF + AR ¥ 94,699,000
7T) © EMERINA184% AN EFHE359% ° i&
RXBERNEFENREERAEE -

BORERRAREZHER ARERE
BEEMCERMESEMIEEZR  ZEMR
CEFEANERE/AKETRANER -
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EFE®ME

PROSPECTS AND DEVELOPMENT PLANS

We notice that the global economy has been slowly recovering since
the end of 2009. Average market prices of cornstarch and 98.5% lysine
at the end of the year were even higher than the level reached in the
first quarter of 2008. Currently, the Company has an annual production
capacity of 850,000 tonnes and 55,000 tonnes for cornstarch and lysine
respectively with the addition of 100,000 tonnes of liquid starch-based
sweetener. We are confident that with the gaining momentum of
economic recovery and rising unit prices, the results for the year 2010
will record a remarkable growth.

In addition, since the domestic and overseas consumer markets
restored positive growth, the demand for cornstarch and its by-
products will likely increase. As disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 19 January 2010, the Group plans to, within two
years, increase the annual production capacity of cornstarch, lysine
and starch-based sweetener to 1,650,000 tonnes, 105,000 tonnes and
300,000 tonnes respectively in order to satisfy and cope with current
and future needs of the market.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFE®|E

APPRECIATION &

| would like to express my deepest gratitude to the Board and ZARATHRBEZESMEEE T AL HE G
the employees for their loyalty and commitment in spite of the ZH&ENLRE NBFEA - BRI BHASE
economic crisis, which has not only realised but exceeded our Group's  EE] v 2 B1Z

expectation.

Tian Qixiang FE
Chairman AHE#¥
Hong Kong, 23 April 2010 HE  —ET-TFMNA=+=AH

CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED R BIR 1ERR B IR A R
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBNWR DN

OVERVIEW

Turnover of the Group for the year was approximately RMB1,957,525,000
(2008: RMB1,530,446,000). In the face of decreasing demand and selling
price of products during the year under review, it was not easy for
the Group to pursue a substantial growth of turnover and maintain
profitability amongst other market players.

During the year under review, we introduced a new product, starch-
based sweetener, to the market. It is expected this new business
segment will be our growth driver in the next two years. We also
formulated a two-year expansion plan on each segment of the Group.
With a solid financial position and improved worldwide economic
condition, the Group will benefit from its leading position and the
expansion plan in future.

BE
REEBRAFENEEENAARE
1957525000t — T FE N\ HF: AR K
1,530,446,0007T) - BIEFE N + ¥ F KR
DPREMEBETYK  AEEZEREETRE
ERRRAEEMTISEFPRBIEFRE DK
HHE -

REBFE  ARBEEMS EHELHER -
BADKE - MHIL I ER D K& 2 A KER
KMENERE S - XAEBETDHEESDH
HIEMFREFTETE - BEEENVRE N R
EREEBERNE  ARERRGAIEESR
Bl RIS EIMEE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFNWE D

Gross profit increased slightly to approximately RMB211,941,000 (2008:
RMB189,163,000) while the gross profit margin decreased slightly by
1.6% point to 10.8% (2008: 12.4%). Profit after taxation for the year
increased significantly by 33.2% to approximately RMB126,814,000
(2008: RMB95,226,000). Basic earnings per share of the equity holders
of the Company was RMB0.0485 per share (2008: RMB0.0376 per
share).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Cornstarch and ancillary corn-refined products

Turnover

Sales of cornstarch and ancillary corn-refined products for the
year ended 31 December 2009 surged by 33.8% to approximately
RMB1,425,700,000 (2008: RMB1,065,915,000). This business segment
represented about 72.8% of total turnover of the Group (2008:
69.6%).

FEHEHEREDHARE211,941,00070( =
TT)N\F: AR¥189,163,0007T ) * T E F
KA AT BAD16%2108% (ZFZ )N\
F 0 124%) o FRBRELEFEAIEIE H133.2%
EHARM126814000L( ZZENF : AR
#595,226,0007C) ° N AR EmIFHE ABMLS
BEARBFBEBRARE00485TT(ZZEEN
F: R AR003767T) °

¥ OB
ERBHRERKFNIIER

]

HE-_TTNAF+_A=+—RHLFE  E
SRBD T2 KRN T &IZE G ) 35 & 80 33.8%
ZEH ANE¥1,425700000C( ZEBEE)\F A
E¥51,065,9150007T ) ° LLEEH HIEREE
BB T728%( —FTT)\F 1 69.6%) °

Cornstarch and ancillary corn-refined products EKE# EXKRMILEER

Turnover & %8

+33.8%

MW+46.1% Cornstarch E KR
M+28.0% Corn gluten meal &H
1 +9.1% Com fibre FAKMEEE

(RMB000) * : : : : . . . W +21% Corn germ 3
(AREFT) 0 200:000 40010[)[) 600,000 800,000 1,000,000 1,200,000 1,400,000 W-168% Com slurry TK%
Quantity &
| +41.9
[
0
| . 7%
[
, } } } } M+44.8% Cornstarch TR
2009 a5204 | M+32.5% Corn gluten meal &EH#H
R AR RN R R RN N EE R N A A W+40.7% Corn fibre TKMEE
T 0 100,000 200,000 300,000 400,000 500,000 600,000 700,000 800,000 W+303% Corn germ B3

MW+36.4% Cormn slurry FR#E
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the year under review, sales volume of cornstarch increased
significantly by 44.8% to 517,736 tonnes (2008: 357,520 tonnes).
Meanwhile, sales amount of cornstarch surged from RMB672,799,000
to RMB983,051,000. The average selling price of cornstarch in the
second half of 2009 increased by 22.2% to RMB2,065 per tonne as
compared with the average selling price of RMB1,690 in the first half of
2009.The average selling price of current year was RMB1,899 per tonne
(2008: RMB1,882). The market of cornstarch in the second half of the
year improved as the global economic market trended to stabilise.

Corn gluten meal and corn fibre were mainly used for the production
of animal feeds. Average selling prices of these two products were
affected by the poor performance of animal feeds market. In addition,
the export sales of these two products decreased significantly during
the year under review.

Corn germ is a major material for the production of cooking oil. Sales
of corn germ was affected by the decrease in prices of soybean and
soybean oil throughout the year.

EEEFWR DT

REBEE - EARBHAHEE S KIEE N
448%%E517,736M8( =TT )\ : 357,520WF) o
BRI - FRBRMAEERBTAARE
672,799,0007T 238 E= A R #983,051,0007T ° 7
ZETNFTHEF  ERBHHFHEEE
2220 = FHE ARE206570  M_ZZTNF
¥ FENFHEBAARAR 600 « KNF
EHFHEEREMARKE89T(ZTTN
F: AR¥18827T) - HREHREBEMI5E B
BE - EARBRMTISR N HEIR B -

EAMMREABEBR T ERIELEDMEL -
EMEERNTHEERS AR TSERE
KISMZHE ° Wi EMEE MmN BB F
BRI OHETRARE T8 -

MAFREERABNERME - MAESFRF
NHEHERRERAZHER TRMZY
&2 o

Cornstarch and ancillary corn-refined products E K& EXKRMIEER

Average selling price (Per tonne) ¥ &E (EH)

5,000 -

LT

4,000 -

3,000 -

2,000 -

L

1,000 - 1 W +0.9% Cornstarch ZKE#H
2y M -34% Corn gluten meal EHH
0 08 2009 W8 2009 w8 2009 08 2009 e 2009 1 -224% Corn fibre E KRR
(A(;Mg Cor\n/starch Corn guten meal Cor\r} fibre Corn gf_erm Corn\s/lurry W -21.7% Corn germ B3
EXRBRD =p} FRBE & ERE W -388% Corn slurry EoK4F
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE D

The increase in utilisation ratio and full year effect of annual production  E&i&5Zae & FRKEMBER AT EE L £
capacity of BB 1B RE R E AR EMAMRAF (Linging Deneng Golden K )M A ERA R HEBAFEHFER
Corn Bio Limited) ("Deneng Golden Corn’) increased the production 2§24 FXKBMH R EAKZINIEE RN @
volume of cornstarch and ancillary corn-refined products during EEFEMESBATEINN - Baedw TR T K
the year under review. Sales of cornstarch and ancillary corn-refined B M EXK XM LEIERAZENEEN A
products of Deneng Golden Corn to customers was approximately A K #5142950007t( Z T N\F: AR
RMB514,295,000 (2008: RMB120,531,000). 120,531,0007T) ©

Cost of goods sold and gross profit margin HEKARENE

Cost of goods sold of cornstarch and ancillary corn-refined products KB K& 2K % 0 T 2l E G 59 85 & Ak AR 18

increased by 38.4% to approximately RMB1,330,399,000 (2008:  11384%% #) A E #1,330,399,00070( — B &

RMB960,949,000). During the year under review, the average corn  J\4E : AR #960,949,0007T) - NEIEEE -

kernel and coal prices were RMB1,506 per tonne and RMB693 per  FK¥ R RE)FHEER D B ATGHEARE

tonne (corn kernel and coal prices in 2008: RMB1,537 per tonne and  1,5067C X G A R¥63T(—ZEENENE

RMB797 per tonne) respectively. Kb K B R B - FHEA R 153770 M WA
ARHET977T) ©

Gross profit margin for this business segment was about 6.7% (2008:  tIB B D MR EF KL B67% (ZEE )N
9.8%). The decrease in gross profit margin was mainly duetothe decrease 4 : 9.8%) » EF XK FH AL F BERHNEEEE
in overall selling prices during the year under review. The Directors ANHEEEE T EFRA T RKBHA™
regard that the market condition of cornstarch started toreboundinthe BN ENR —_EENEZE —ZEH - RE
last quarter of 2009 because the selling price of cornstarch increased to /& F KR 8 & (B 1L = G WE A R #2,0657T
RMB2,065 per tonne and the average gross profit margin increased from T \FEF KB — S NE _FF FH52%
5.2% in the first half of 2009 to 8.1% in the second half of 2009. ENEZTTAFTFFHSI%

Lysine and fertilisers &S & L}

Turnover & ¥ 38

+6.8%

: M +88% Lysine FA&
!94,9!4

1-26.6% Fertilisers FE&

(RMB'000) *

AEEFT) ( 50, 000 100 000 150 000 200 000 250 000 300 000 350 000 400 000

]

Quantity

+30.9%

W +454% Lysine FAEEL

1+107% Fertilisers FEAL

| |
H H | |
) 0 10, 000 2, 000 30, 000 40, UUO 50,0[][] 60, 000 10, 000 XO,E)OO
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Lysine and fertilisers

Turnover

Sales of lysine and related products increased slightly by 6.8% to
approximately RMB394,984,000 (2008: RMB369,832,000) which
represented about 20.2% of turnover of the Group (2008: 24.2%).

During the year under review, sales volume of lysine increased to
51,912 tonnes (2008: 35,710 tonnes). The increase in sales volume
was mainly due to the outstanding performance of 65% lysine. The
average selling price of lysine decreased to RMB7,318 per tonne (2008:
RMB9,780). Both the domestic and overseas market of lysine started
to rebound in the last quarter of 2009. The market average selling
price of 98.5% lysine started to go upward in December 2009 and in
the meantime export sales increased to 32.6% of total sales of lysine
in the second half of 2009.

Sales volume of fertilisers increased by 10.7% to 28,408 tonnes, which
was lower than the average increase in sales volume of other products
of the Group. The pace of increase was slower because less sewage
was left as raw material for the production of fertilisers resulted from
the increased output ratio of lysine products.

Lysine and fertilisers &S & LR}

Average selling price (Per tonne) 9 &E (W)
10,000 -
9,000«
8,000 -
7,000 -
6,000 -
5,000 -
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3,000 -
2,000 -
1,000 -

0

(RMB)
(AR™)

M -252% Lysine fE& B

e 1 -337% Fertilisers BB}
NS

2008 2009

Fertilisers

e

EEEWR DT

BREREH

=]

WA K& IEEE SR EE M IEes%E H A
R #304,984000( —EZENE: AR
369,832,0007T) * fh ARG B & EFE4202% (=
TR )\E  242%) °

REBFE  BafkriEE S mEs1 o126
TEE)\F :357100F) - HESEMEER
FRR65% B R R IHE RIF B - Bak
HFEHEBREBBEARKE7318TT(ZZEZN
F: AR¥9,78070)  BBABRK A K G HNT
BRIZENFRE —FHFAKREA © 985%
BRENTSIFHEER_STNF+A
BEREA ARR_ZETAFTEFELO
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DN
Cost of goods sold and gross profit margin EE ALK G EFIZ

The cost of production of lysine and fertilisers was lower due to the  RREIEAFE = E AR KA N AR B A5 Hy 2
decreased corn kernel and allocated electricity and steam costs from  BHHAE RERK A T - SHBEERIE
our own power plant during the year under review. As a result of the  KI&JAEER A T c BRI XD AL %
same percentage increase in both turnover and cost of goods sold %8 M HE K AN [EI L IE N - MR EEFE R E
in this business segment, the gross profit margin remained at 18.0%  F|Z&E 4157 18.0%( ZZEE/\4E : 180%) ©

(2008: 18.0%) for the year under review.

Electricity and steam BHRER
Turnover SR

Sales of electricity and steam for the year under review was REIFEFEE  BEHREAHHEENABARE
approximately RMB131,339,000 (2008: RMB94,699,000). It represented  131,339,00070( ZZZ )\ : AR %94,699,000
about 6.7% (2008: 6.2%) of the turnover of the Group. The increase  JT) @ (hANEB L EREL6.7% (ZEZT )\ F :

was mainly due to adjustment of unit price of electricity and steam  62%) ° 5 EEMET B2 HAZ M HFWMER

by their respective local Price Bureau in 2008. R_ZBZENFRABE N RFANEC BB
ﬁ o

Cost of goods sold and gross profit margin EHERL K} EFIIE

During the year under review, the average coal price decreased by REREFE @ FHE B T L13.0%E FMEA

about 13.0% to RMB693 per tonne. R#6937T ©

As a result of the increase in average selling price of electricity and HRELBBEFERNE O RZXANFHEE L
steam and the decrease in average coal price during the year under  Ft & FHEE ¥ - UL ER D A0 E FI =
review, the gross profit margin of this business segment increased  F184%ZF2359%

significantly from 18.4% to 35.9%.

Electricity and steam £ H K &S

Turnover & ¥ %8

+33./%

M+58.0% FElectricity £71

W+27.0% Steam %5

(RMB'000) *

AR T A, 000 40, 000 0, 000 8, 000 100 000 120 000 140 000
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Starch-based sweetener
Turnover

The Group's starch-based sweetener production plant was located
in Deneng Golden Corn. This production plant was early-completed
in the last quarter of 2009. During the year under review, the Group
started to introduce maltose syrup and sold samples to our customers
in Shandong and Hebei. Total sales amount was approximately
RMB5,502,000.

The Directors expected the introduction of this new product will
enhance our product base and improve the utilisation rate of Deneng
Golden Corn production plant in future.

Cost of goods sold and gross profit margin

As the product was in the pilot-run production stage, the Group did
not record any profit for this business segment for the year under
review.

Other income

Other income mainly represented government grants, sales of scrap oil
and coal and steam connection income. During the year under review,
other income decreased by 32.2% to approximately RMB11,023,000
(2008: RMB16,269,000) because of the decrease in government grant
and amortisation of staff quarter rental income.

Distribution and administrative expenses

During the year under review, the Group strengthened control over
expenses and budget. Although the sales volume increased significantly,
our distribution and administrative expenses did not increase. The
decrease in administrative expenses was mainly attributable to the
reduction of foreign exchange loss.

Share of result from an associate

The share of profit from our associate, BN &R REMERDER
A7) (Shouguang Golden Far East Modified Starch Co., Ltd) was
approximately RMB2,147,000 (2008: RMB6,444,000) for the year ended
31 December 2009.

BEENWR DN

BT

=3
AEBBMEEERBUNERESEAK-
HAERERFAZETNFEE =
T -REOBEFE AEERBHELETE
£ WHEILER T RFPHEEE SR - BiHE
4 A AR 5,502,0007T °

EFEMBLLNESTSAAAERES
WE . PARERES TKEEREBED
R -

HRNZERDERERE - IAKREERE
FREF JE 3 R A L SR 75 20 BRER ISR R o

HA A

HMRAZTZEARGHE - HERHRERE
NRZERERBA - REIBFE - EfikA
3220 #) A R #11,023,00000( ZEZE )\
F: AR¥16,269,0007T) + R E & B AT B)
NESEHE TEEHESWARDFTE

DEHRITRER
REEFE - AEENRHERMAENE

RATHE R EIEN - TTHREREREER
B A B S IS 1RIR D FTEK ©

BiE—REEAREE
BE_ZETNF+_A=+—HILFE &
AEBBEN RS EREEBRDER
NEWNFEL A ANRE2147,00000( ZFEEN
F : AR¥6,444,0007T) ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE DM

Taxation

The decrease in tax expenses to approximately RMB662,000 (2008:
RMB10,755,000) for the year under review was mainly attributable to
the recognition of deferred income tax assets in respect of losses in
previous years.

We were not liable for income tax in Hong Kong as we did not have
any assessable income arising in/derived from Hong Kong.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Directors expect that dividends will be paid as interim and/or
final dividends. Our long term dividend policy is to pay annual cash
dividends of not less than 30% of our distributable profit in each
financial year.

However, the payment of such dividends will be made at the discretion
of the Board and will be based upon the availability of distributable
profits, earnings, financial positions, funding requirements and other
relevant factors from time to time.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 19
January 2010, the Group will increase its annual production capacity
of cornstarch, lysine, starch-based sweetener from 850,000 tonnes,
55,000 tonnes and 100,000 tonnes per annum to 1,650,000 tonnes,
105,000 tonnes and 300,000 tonnes per annum respectively in a span
of approximately two years to satisfy and cater for current and future
market demands. Therefore, the Board is pleased to recommend
the payment of a final dividend of HK1.16 cents per share, totalling
approximately HK$33,522,000, and a bonus issue of shares on the
basis of one new ordinary share for every one ordinary share held to
the shareholders of the Company whose names are on the register of
memberson 17 June 2010, subject to the approval of the shareholders
of the Company in the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company, and if passed, dividend and share certificates will be paid
and posted respectively on 24 June 2010. The dividend payout ratio
is 23.3%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 December 2009, the Group had approximately 2,181 full time
staff (2008: 2,064). Total staff costs, including Directors’emoluments, of
the Group was approximately RMB57,357,000 (2008: RMB45,948,000).
The Group considers the experience, responsibility, and performance of
the Directors and employees of the Group in order to determine their
respective remuneration packages. The Company has also adopted
a share option scheme (the "Scheme”) with a primary purpose of
motivating our employees and other eligible persons entitled under
the Scheme to optimise their contributions to the Group and to reward
them for their contribution to the Group. In addition, a remuneration
committee is delegated by the Board to review and determine the
terms of remuneration packages, bonuses and other compensation
payable to the Directors and senior management.

As at 31 December 2009, no share options have been granted under
the Scheme.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial management and treasury policy

The Group adopts a conservative approach for cash management and
investment on uncommitted funds. Any unused fund is intended to
place on short term/fixed deposits with authorised financial institutions
in Hong Kong and/or the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

Foreign currency exposure

The Directors consider that the Group has limited foreign currency
exposure because our operations are mainly conducted in the PRC.
Sales and purchases are mainly denominated in Renminbi and the
foreign currency risk associated with export sales is not material. In
view of the minimal foreign currency exchange risk, we monitored the
exchange rate closely instead of entering into any foreign exchange
hedging arrangement.

Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure

As at 31 December 2009, the available and unutilised banking facilities
of the Group amounted to approximately RMB401,000,000.

The Directors are of the opinion that the working capital available to
the Group is sufficient for its present requirements.

BEENWR N
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE DM

The major financial figures and key financial ratios are summarised

TEPBEELERY B ERGAmT

as follows:
2009 2008
—2EAE  -—TTNE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARET T
Borrowings: B :
— Within 1 year ——F LR 69,509 1,551
— Between 1 and 2 years ——FEMF 886 886
— Between 2 and 5 years —MEERF 2,659 2,659
— Over 5 years — AT F 3,767 4,654
Total T 76,821 9,750
Included: BIE
Fixed-rate borrowings TEBER
- Government grants — BB 9,750 9,750
— Cash advances for discounted bills —BRR BN S BR 67,071 -
76,821 9,750
Debtors turnover (days) JEW AR T AEE (R &) 30 30
Creditors turnover (days) T BRFURE (K&) 15 16
Inventories turnover (days) FERE(KE) 34 34
Current ratio &N & 2.2 2.5
Quick ratio D)o 2 1.6 18
Gearing ratio — borrowings divided by total assets 1EIREL R — R IABE E 5.7% 0.9%
Pledge of assets and contingent liabilities EEHEARIAREE

As at 31 December 2009, bills payable were secured by bank
deposits and bank acceptance bills at the amount of approximately
RMB2,004,000 and RMB708,000 respectively. The Group did not pledge
any leasehold land and building to secure banking facilities and have
any material contingent liabilities at the year ended 31 December
2000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Use of net proceeds

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 16 December
2009, the Group fully utilised the net proceeds from the global offering
of the shares of the Company in 2007 (the “Global Offering”) after the
capital injection of RMB72,000,000 (RMB67,000,000 from the Global
Offering and RMB5,000,000 from internally generated funds) to Deneng
Golden Corn in December 2009 to increase the shareholding interest
from 85.94% to 91%.

FUTURE PLAN AND PROSPECT

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 19 January
2010, the Group will increase its annual production capacity of
cornstarch, lysine, starch-based sweetener from 850,000 tonnes,
55,000 tonnes and 100,000 tonnes per annum to 1,650,000 tonnes,
105,000 tonnes and 300,000 tonnes per annum respectively in a span
of approximately two years to satisfy and cater for current and future
market demands. On 10 February 2010, the Group announced the
completion of placing of 277,340,000 shares of the Company. The
Group has raised a new fund of approximately RMB335,678,000, net
of expenses, from the equity market and will use the fund for the
expansion of production capacity and as general working capital.

The current development of new business in starch-based sweetener
and the market turnaround in each sector of cornstarch and its related
products are encouraging. It is believed that the outbreak of global
financial crisis speeded up the consolidation of cornstarch industry
in the PRC. The Group as a leading market player in the cornstarch
industry in the PRC will have an advantage on the economies of
scales on the production of cornstarch and the development of new
downstream products with lower cost as compared with others.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

EEREREEAERN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tian Qixiang, aged 46, is the chairman of the Board principally
responsible for the Group's strategic positioning. He is also responsible
for formulating the Group's business development objectives and
ensuring that such objectives are implemented by the Board
accordingly. Mr. Tian was the chairman of the board of directors of
IR B E&E® FAKMEEHFR AR (Shandong Shouguang Juneng
Golden Corn Development Co,, Ltd.) (“Golden Corn”), an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, during the period from July
2003 (when he first joined the Group) up to October 2005. He was re-
appointed as director of Golden Corn in December 2005 and has been
the chairman of the board of Golden Corn since August 2006. Mr. Tian
has been the authorised representative and chairman of the board of
directors of LR K E g2k & E B R A 7] (Shandong Shouguang
Juneng Holding Group Co., Ltd.) ("Juneng Holding Group”) since its
establishment in October 2005. Mr. Tian has been working for 5 ¢ T i
TR A (Electricity Supply Company of Shouguang City) (“Shouguang
Electricity Supply Company”) since 1984. He was appointed as the
deputy manager of Shouguang Electricity Supply Company in October
1985, and was further appointed as its deputy party secretary in May
1990. Mr.Tian has been the manager and party member of Shouguang
Electricity Supply Company since March 2000. Mr. Tian possesses
substantial experience in corporate management.

Mr. Tian completed his study of T JHEE (Electricity and Water
Irrigation) from IUEREKF|HEER (Water and Electricity
Machinery School) in 1981 and graduated from Bl EH LI EA
Z B 2 E R (The Shandong Province Party Committee School of the
People’s Republic of China) with a diploma in &% & £ (Economics
Management) in 1996. Mr. Tian obtained the qualification as a senior
economist in December 2002.

Mr. Tian is beneficially interested in approximately 54.5833% of the
issued share capital of Merry Boom Group Limited (“Merry Boom”),
a substantial shareholder of the Company, and is also a director of
Merry Boom.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES
EENREREEAEREN

Mr. Gao Shijun, aged 42, is the chief executive officer of the Company.
Mr. Gao is principally responsible for overseeing the Group’s operations
and business management. Mr. Gao joined Golden Corn in August
1998, and was later appointed as the deputy manager of Golden Corn
in January 2000. Mr. Gao has been a director of Golden Corn since July
2003 and its general manager since May 2005. Mr. Gao is also a director
of BE /B EEE S EAREWABR A A (Linging Deneng Golden Corn Bio
Limited) ("Deneng Golden Corn"), a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of
Golden Corn. Mr. Gao graduated from LU 82K 2 (Shandong University)
in 1989 with an undergraduate degree in Physics.

Mr. Yu Yingquan, aged 41, is principally responsible for the overall
management in investment and corporate finance of the Group. Mr.
Yu first joined the Group as a director of Golden Corn during the
period from July 2003 to October 2005, and was re-appointed as
director on 17 March 2007. Mr. Yu had worked in the accounting and
internal audit departments of Shouguang Electricity Supply Company

S THE A F])since August 1990 holding positions as deputy
supervisor of audit department, deputy supervisor and supervisor
of finance department and deputy chief accountant. Mr. Yu took up
the position as chief accountant of Juneng Holding Group upon its
establishment to oversee the financial reporting and performance
of all its investments. Mr. Yu is also a director of Juneng Holding
Group since October 2005. Mr. Yu graduated from LLI B 7K Fl| B R E 4%
(Shandong Hydro Institute) in 1990 with a diploma in 7K 1|4 75 £ B
T%%E 2 (Hydro Economic and Financial Management), and obtained
a diploma in B/ #&%E 2 (Finance Management) from 115 487 &
B HIPERPE (Shandong Economics Management Institute) in 1998.
Mr. Yu obtained the 2 AR MBI T HEEIREE (Certificate
of Accounting Professional of the Peoples Republic of China) issued
by B/} MEIBUS (Finance Bureau of Shouguang City) in 1997.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

Mr. Liu Xianggang, aged 41, first joined Golden Corn as a factory
supervisor in 1998 and has been a director of Golden Corn since
October 2005. In March 2008, Mr Liu was also appointed as the general
manager and a director of Deneng Golden Corn. He is responsible
for the Group's production technology developments, cornstarch
production and Linging production plant. Mr. Liu had worked in the
production technology department of Shouguang Electricity Supply
Company from July 1990 to July 1997 as technical staff responsible
for production management and production route design. Mr. Liu
graduated from B T % K& (Shandong Industrial University) in
1990 with an undergraduate degree in T2 &2 T4 (Industrial
Management), and obtained a post-graduate diploma in £ 3 4575 £
(Industrial Economics) from 1L B8 K E2 48 B £ (the Economics School
of Shandong University) in 2003. Mr. Liu also obtained the qualification
as senior engineer in December 2002. Mr. Liu is the deputy supervisor
of EXRMEZEZE B € (the Cornstarch Professionals Committee) of
BB  T 1€ (China Starch Industry Association).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Dong Yanfeng, aged 73, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 5 September 2007. Ms. Dong was granted
the qualification as senior engineer by BZ% &5 %2 12 /5 (State Medical
Control Bureau) in 1988, and is currently the standing deputy chief
secretary of B T2 & (China Starch Industry Association)
responsible for its general management as well as organizing and
supervising the execution of its annual plans. Over the years, Ms.
Dong had won several technology awards, including BHEAKR =
4% (Third Level Award on Technology Results) and RHE#E#=
Z 42 (Third Level Award on Technology Advancement) in 1984 and
1986 respectively granted by JAl I & RBI2RMZEEE (Science and
Technology Committee of Hebei Province), BHE#E# —5 48 (First
Level Award on Technology Advancement) in 1986 granted by ;A 3t
% B2 2548\ F] (Chief Medical Company of Hebei Province) and =%
4% (Third Level Award) in 1987 granted by BI R B 2 filT 4 25 8857 28
Z B (Evaluation Committee of the State Science and Technology
Advancement Awards). Ms. Dong’s achievements in technologies was
also evidenced by the grant of a special financial grant from the State
Council in 1993 for her contributions in engineering technologies.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES
EENREREEAEREN

Ms. Yu Shumin, aged 68, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 5 September 2007. Ms. Yu graduated from
b RIEE T EEH (Beijing Chemical Technical Institute) in 1963
HT{EE (Chemical Analysis). Ms. Yu obtained the
1L 2 (Chemical Analysis) in 1988. Ms.
Yu is a consultant and the General Manager of Cornstarch Sweetener

with a diplomain 7
qualification as engineer in 73

Sub-association and Polyol Sub-association respectively in the China
Fermentation Industry Association.

Mr. Cao Zenggong, aged 47, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 5 September 2007. Mr. Cao graduated from
B 2E X2 (Qinghua University) in 1984 with an undergraduate degree
in B E& R E BB (electrical engineering specialising in power
system and automation). Mr. Cao is the &= fF (deputy director) of 2%
)Eﬁﬁiﬂ*ﬁ (the development planning department) of LLIER & 1153

/3] (Shandong Electric Power Corporation) principally responsible
for power system planning, project feasibility analysis and electricity
network management, and has been appointed as a specialist of
the specialist committee of Shandong Electric Power Corporation in
October 2006. Mr. Cao was awarded the =<5 4Z (Third Level Award)
for his thesis on 1R 4E{b 2 51 — A8 322 5% B2 DA A B4R (Standardiised
Design —Keys to City Electricity Network Construction and Re-modeling)
by LB EH# T F22€ (Shandong Society for Electrical Engineering) in
2001. Mr. Cao was also granted honorary certificates by Bl E /15
23R 5H73 & (Electric Power Design Association) in 2003 and 2004 for
his participation in two award-winning projects, namely the & F ¥ T
BAEEREMRE (Jinan City Electricity Network Development Plan) and
the AL CEM)500kvE EFT T2 (Yellow River North (Bingzhou)
500kv Transformer Station Project), respectively.

Mr. Yue KwaiWa, Ken, aged 44, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 5 September 2007. Mr. Yue is a Certified
Public Accountant with over 17 years of experience in accounting,
auditing and corporate finance. Mr. Yue is also a member of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member of the
Colorado State Society of Certified Public Accountants and a member
of the Hong Kong Securities Institute holding a specialist certificate
and a practising certificate in corporate finance.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

All the executive directors of the Company are respectively responsible
for the various aspects of the business and operation of the Group.
These executive directors of the Company are regards as the members
of the senior management team of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRESE

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
20009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Company’s subsidiaries are principally engaged in the manufacture
and sale of cornstarch, lysine, starch-based sweetener, and ancillary
corn-based and corn-refined products and sales of electricity and
steam. Details of the principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries
are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements. There
were no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities
of the Group during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2009 are
set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on
page 103.

The Board is pleased to recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK1.16 cents per share, totalling approximately HK$33,522,000, and a
bonus issue of shares on the basis of one new ordinary share for every
one ordinary share held to the shareholders of the Company whose
names are on the register of members on 17 June 2010, subject to the
approval of the shareholders of the Company in the forthcoming annual
general meeting (the"AGM") of the Company, and if passed, dividend and
share certificates will be paid and posted respectively on 24 June 2010.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members will be closed from 14 June 2010 to 17 June
2010 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares
will be effected. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend,
bonus share issue and to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers of
shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office of the
Company, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre,
28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than
4:30 p.m. on 11 June 2010.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company during the year are set
out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group spent approximately RMB73,134,000 on
additions of property, plant and equipment mainly for the expansion

and enhancement of its production capability.

Details of movements in the Group's property, plant and equipment
during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial

statements.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 184. The
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial

statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2009, the Company's reserves available
for distribution to shareholders amounted to approximately
RMB373,264,000. Movements in the reserves of the Company are set
out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted
for less than 30% of the Group's turnover and purchases from the
Group's five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the total

purchases of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of

this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tian Qixiang (Chairman)

Mr. Gao Shijun (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Yu Yingquan

Mr. Liu Xianggang

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Dong Yanfeng
Ms. Yu Shumin

Mr. Cao Zenggong
Mr. Yue Kwai Wa, Ken
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By virtue of Article 108 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr.
Tian Qixiang, Mr. Gao Shijun and Ms. Yu Shumin will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’
CONFIRMATION

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and as at the date of this
report still considers all of them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

On 1 August 2009, each of the independent non-executive Directors
has entered into a renewal appointment letter for his/her appointment
as an independent non-executive Director for a term of two years
commencing from 5 September 2009, subject to termination by either
party giving to the other not less than three months'advance written
notice of termination and the provisions of the Company’s articles of
association.

As at 31 December 2009, none of the Directors proposed for re-election
at the AGM has entered into any service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policies of the Group are formulated based on the
Group's operating results, individual performance, working experience
and responsibility, merit, qualifications and competence of individual
employees and comparable market statistics and are reviewed
regularly.

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’” approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments of directors are determined based
on the Group's operating results, individual performance, duties,
responsibilities and comparable market statistics.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group during the year under review are set out in
note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2009, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)
as recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “"Model Code”") contained in the Listing
Rules, were as follows:—

Name of Director

Espg

Mr. Tian Qixiang
("Mr. Tian")

HERESE
(THEED

Mr. Gao Shijun
BtELE

Mr. Yu Yingquan
THERE2RE

Note:

The Company/
associated corporation

ARE/ABEE

The Company
AUNG|

Merry Boom Group Limited
fREEEERAR

Merry Boom Group Limited
fREREEERAR

Merry Boom Group Limited
fREREEERAR

Capacity/nature
of interest

gt/ EEME

Interest of a
controlled corporation

SEHAEER

Beneficial owner

ESBAA

Beneficial owner

EGBEAA

Eﬂ}

Beneficial owner

EEHAA

(1) The letter " denotes the Directors’ long position in the shares of the
Company or the relevant associated corporation.

(2)  These Shares were held by Merry Boom Group Limited. Merry Boom
Group Limited is owned as to approximately 54.58% by Mr. Tian. Mr.
Tian is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Merry Boom
Group Limited under the SFO.

(3)  The percentage of shareholding was based on the total issued share
capital of the Company before the placing of the existing shares and
top-up subscription of the new shares of the Company which were
completed on 8 February 2010 and 10 February 2010 respectively.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2009, none of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company nor their respective associates
had any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to
be recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 5
September 2007. The major terms of the Scheme are as follows:

1. Theprimary purpose of the Scheme is to motivate our employees
and other eligible persons entitled under the scheme to optimise
their contributions to the Group and to reward them for their
contribution to the Group.

2. Eligible participants of the Scheme are (a) any employee
(whether fulltime or part-time including any executive director
but excluding any non-executive director) of the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested Entity”) in which
any member of the Group holds an equity interest; (b) any
non-executive directors (including independent non-executive
directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested
Entity; (c) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity; (d) any customer of any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (e) any person or entity
that provides research, development or other technological
support to any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (f)
any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity; (g) any adviser (professional
or otherwise) or consultant to any area of business or business
development of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity; (h) any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture, business
alliance or other business arrangement to the development and
growth of the Group.
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The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme and any other share option scheme
adopted by the Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the
share capital of the Company in issue from time to time. The total
number of the Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
the exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose, options
which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group) to be granted
under the Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue
on the date on which the Shares are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon the exercise of the options granted under the Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Group (including both
exercised or outstanding options) to each grantee in any 12-
month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
the Company for the time being (“Individual Limit"). Any further
grant of options in excess of the Individual Limit in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of such further grant must
be separately approved by the shareholders of the Company in
general meeting with such grantee and his associates abstaining
from voting.

Any grant of options under the Scheme to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or any of
their respective associates must be approved by independent
non-executive directors of the Company (excluding independent
non-executive director of the Company who or whose associates
is the proposed grantee of the options). In addition, any grant
of options to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director of the Company or any of their respective
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue at any time
or with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HKS5 million, within
any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval of
the Company in a general meeting.
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6. The exercise period of the share options granted under the 6. 1RIR:ZaH2I3% H A BEAREA 17(F 2R &

Scheme is determined by the directors of the Company, which RABEZETE  ZABETAHELHER
period may commence from the date of the offer for the grant HEFE AR ERHEREREA
of options is made, but shall end in any event not later than 10 B+ 1 - skazstalEm B E (A
years from the date of the offer for the grant of the option or REERBE) A WNZAEFTHBIE
the expiry date of the Scheme, if earlier, subject to the provisions BREAGEIRERERIL -

for early termination as stated in the Scheme.

7. The acceptance of an offer of the grant of the option must be 7.  #EHEEIRERESENE @ ALt
made within 21 days from the date of the offer for the grant Z+H—HRER - mEARRARERRE
with a nonrefundable payment of HK$1.00 from the grantee. SATRAREFR1.00588 7T ©

8. Theexercise price of the share option is determined by the Board 8. BEREMNITHEBRESSET - BFE

but shall not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of DPRUAT®REE - (ORI L BT
the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Bt A2 P B 3Rk EPRAIEV T (B - ()RR 1D
Exchange on the date of grant; (i) the average closing price of REERODBHAESEBEREZAT
the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations A¥RE EM5ATFHWRTE - RiikH
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the HE -

date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares.

9. The Scheme shall be valid and effective till 4 September 2017. 9. ZitEIEERE_Z—+E N AMH
_It o

As at 31 December 2009, no share options have been granted under R-ZEZENE+_-_A=+—0 ' WERE X

the Scheme of the Company. NEIFZET B AR o

CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED R BIR 1ERR B R A R
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INTERESTS OF THE SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

Asat 31 December 2009, sofar as is known to the Directors, the following

persons, other than a Director or chief executive of the Company, have

an interest or a short position in the shares or underlying shares of

the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the

Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Name of shareholder

BREREH

Merry Boom Group Limited
TEEEEAR AR

Victory Investment
China Group Limited

Wang RuiYun Interest in controlled corporation,
TmE Victory Investment
China Group Limited
SRS ABE R ¢ Victory Investment
China Group Limited
Beneficial owner
EEEAA
Note:

Capacity/nature
of interest

51 HEmiE

Beneficial owner

EmEEA

Beneficial owner

EmlEa A

The letter " denotes the long position in the shares of the Company.

These Shares were held by Merry Boom Group Limited. Merry Boom
Group Limited is owned as to approximately 54.58% by Mr. Tian, an
executive Director and Chairman of the Company. Mr. Tian is deemed
to be interested in all the Shares held by Merry Boom Group Limited

under the SFO as disclosed under the paragraph headed “ Directors’

and Chief Executive’Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying

Shares or Debentures of the Company or its associated corporations”

above.

The percentage of shareholding was based on the total issued share
capital of the Company before the placing of the existing shares and
top-up subscription of the new shares of the Company which were
completed on 8 February 2010 and 10 February 2010 respectively.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2009, other than the
directors and chief executive of the Company whose interests or short
positions are set out in the paragraph headed “ Directors' and Chief
Executive’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
or Debentures of the Company or its associated corporations” above,
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company were not aware
of any person who had an interest or a short position in the Shares,
or underlying Shares of the Company which were required to be
recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section
336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as the Scheme of the Company disclosed above, at no time during
the year was the Company, its holding company, its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements whose objects are, or
one of whose objects is, to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company or any
of its subsidiaries, of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2009.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Sales of bank acceptance bills

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 14 April 2010,
on 16 December 2009, 17 December 2009 and 23 December 2009,
IR E B RES® T KA B R AR (Shandong Shouguang Juneng
Golden Corn Development Co., Ltd.) (“Golden Corn") sold certain
bank acceptance bills (the “Bills”) which it received from its customers
to LW E K B REIEAR B AR A 5)(Shandong Shouguang Juneng
Holding Group Co., Ltd.) (Juneng Holding Group”) and LI ER ¢ B AE
#£8  FR /2 7] (Shandong Shouguang Juneng Special Steel Co,, Ltd)
(Juneng Special Steel”) respectively at an aggregate consideration of
approximately RMB42,400,000 in cash which is equivalent to the face
value of the Bills (the “Sales”).
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Juneng Holding Group is owned as to 55% by Mr. Tian Qixiang
("Mr. Tian"), an executive Director, and an associate of Mr. Tian and
accordingly, a connected person of the Company for the purpose
of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Juneng Special Steel is owned
as to 59% by Juneng Holding Group. As Juneng Special Steel is a
subsidiary of Juneng Holding Group which is in turn an associate of
Mr. Tian, Juneng Special Steel is a connected person of the Company
for the purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the
Sales constituted connected of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

The principal raw material of the Group's products is corn kernels. The
Group sources corn kernels principally from individual farmers and
settles these purchases on a cash-on-delivery basis. It is the Group's
policy to keep high level of corn kernels near to the year end and
Chinese New Year in order to ensure having abundant inventories for
the production in holidays and winter. The Sales provided the Group
with immediately available cash for payment of its suppliers on the
one hand and on the other hand, minimized the interest expenses of
the Group by minimizing the amount of the Group’s bank borrowings
for payment of its suppliers.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at the date of this report, Juneng Holding Group, an investment
holding company established in the PRC, was 55% owned by Mr. Tian
(who is a Director and a controlling shareholder of the Company)
and accordingly is an associate of Mr. Tian for the purpose of the
Listing Rules. As at the date of this report, Juneng Holding Group
was interested in approximately 33% of the equity interest of L&
SR EREEATEREABMR QA (Shandong Shouguang Juneng Heat
and Electricity Development Co,, Ltd.) (Juneng Heat and Electricity
Development”), a company established in the PRC and is principally
engaged in the provision of electricity to the provincial power grid of
Shandong Province. Each of Juneng Holding Group and Juneng Heat
and Electricity Development has given an irrevocable non-competition
undertaking in favour of the Company. For further details, please
refer to the paragraph headed “Competing business of controlling
shareholders” under the section headed “Business” in the prospectus
of the Company dated 12 September 2007.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2009, in so far as the
Directors were aware, none of the Directors or their respective associates
had any interest in a business apart from the Group’s businesses that
competed or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing shareholders.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the events after the reporting period of the Group are set
out in the note 34 to the financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the date of this report,
there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company's
total issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Directors are of the opinion that the Company has complied with
the code provisions set out in the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the “CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules throughout the year except the following:

Pursuant to code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the chairman of
the independent board committee (if any) should be available to
answer questions at any general meeting to approve a connected
transaction or any other transaction that is subject to independent
shareholders'approval. However, as disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 14 April 2010, the Company was in breach of the
independent shareholders’approval requirements under Rule 14A.48
of the Listing Rules in relation to a series of connected transactions
entered into by the Company on 16 December 2009, 17 December
2009 and 23 December 2009 (the “Transactions”). As a result, the
Company should have but had not held a shareholders’ meeting to
approve the Transactions.
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In April 2010, the Board has convened a Board meeting to approve and

rectify the Transactions. On the other hand, the Board is determined

to uphold a high level of internal control within the Group and to

strengthen the Group's internal control and corporate governance

by:

providing additional training courses to the Directors, the senior
management and personnel at the operation level involved in
financial matters of the Group on a regularly basis;

closely monitoring the level of connected transactions and/or
continuing connected transactions of the Group by the senior
financial officers of members of the Group and making monthly
report thereon to the Board;

seeking instruction from the Board whenever an obligation or
possible obligations under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
should arise;

seekingadviceandassistance from professionaladvisersinreviewing
the Group's internal control and making recommendations on any
improvements that are required; and

seeking advice from professional advisers and the Stock Exchange
in the event of queries or doubts on the application of the Listing
Rules.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the

Corporate Governance Report on pages 41 to 100 of this annual

report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by

PricewaterhouseCoopers who shall retire and, being eligible, offer

themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Tian Qixiang
Chairman

Hong Kong

23 April 2010
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

A M\Aﬁﬂ:

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company
is mindful of the importance of good corporate governance practices
and procedures in safeguarding shareholders'interests and enhancing
the performance of the Group. With this objective in mind, the
Company is committed to the establishment and implementation of
good corporate governance practices and procedures.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the year under review, the Company has complied with the
code provisions prescribed in the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the "CG Code") set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules (the
“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) which are
adopted by the Company as its own code of corporate governance
practices.

The Board is pleased to present the major principles in the CG Code
that were applied by the Group during the year. The recommended
best practices of the CG Code as mentioned below are not part of the
Company’s code of corporate governance practices.

rrmEE((EFDe((EFg)) &
Hﬂﬂﬁ?ZfB%a/uﬁfﬁﬁfifxTﬂ%Fﬂx$$%
mRNEAEERRCERN - KEBULAE
B RRARBARI L RETRFZEERER
FRLRERF

ERERER

REEFE  AAREETREMEERA
RSAARAR B ES EHHA
(T EMRAD MR+ mAR e EE 88 RT
AT REERERTH D ZTFAKI  ER
ARG 2 EEEREHTA -

I

EEEMARINAEEFAMER ZELEE
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No.
wme

A.

Principle:

Complied
with (v)/
Details SCIELENT Implementation

] (3] BiTER
BT/
%2 (E)

DIRECTORS
E=E

The Company should be led by an effective Board which shall assume responsibility of leadership and control of the
Company and take collective responsibilities for directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. Directors should, in
the interest of the Company, make decisions objectively.

JRA : ARAEA—ETZAERNEEERE EFCREFEENERARANEL  TREBAERETEER
RAIEH - EFEZEFHTE  MERRENERRR 2 M

A1 The Board
g

Code Provision

<F A&

A1 The Board should meet regularly and Board 4 Since 1 January 2009 until 31 December 2009 (the
meetings should be held at least four times a year “year under review"), the Company has convened
at approximately quarterly intervals. It is expected a total of six Board meetings, of which four
that such regular Board meetings will normally meetings were regular meetings pre-scheduled
involve the active participation, either in person or in last year.
through other electronic means of communication,
of a majority of Directors entitled to be present. H-ETNE-R—RE-ZETNF+=A
Accordingly, a regular Board meeting does not ST-ARI(IEEFE])  ARAIEHER
include the practice of obtaining consent from the TRRES®H  HPNRDDEAFHELE
Board through circulation of written resolutions. ZEHEHE -

EZCORTHNG EXCCHEEFEA
ELOR - ANEBF R - B 8RAHNK
FEZCTHERE AR ARLESRE
MEERIHLE JBBEMETEAE
BE2E - Al EEEEHRERL TR
NEHEMRZ I ARGESSME -
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Implementation
BiTER

Details of the Directors’ attendance record in
Board meetings as of 31 December 2009 are as
follows:

EFRAE-FTRAST A=+ —ALLH
EFRRUEEHMMT ¢

Attendance
HERY

Executive Regular Other
Directors meetings meetings
HITES EHEE HttgE
TIAN Qixiang (Chairman)
mE#(EE) 3/4 172
GAO Shijun (Chief Executive Officer)
BUE(7THAR) 4/4 22
YU Yingquan
THZ 4/4 22
LIU Xianggang
215 4/4 1/2

Independent Non-Executive Directors

BUXHITES

YU Shumin

RME 4/4 0/2
DONG Yanfeng

e 4/4 0/2

CAO Zenggong
B 3/4 0/2

YUE Kwai Wa, Ken
REE 4/4 1/2

Such meetings involved the participation, either
in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of the Directors.

NEeZUHEERILRNEBEMET
BATEZE
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i

Details

ES

Arrangements should be in place to ensure
that all Directors are given an opportunity to
include matters in the agenda for regular Board
meetings.

%$Aﬁg rJﬁﬁﬁF L}\ﬁ{%i%ﬂ%% ﬁ%
SR HETEEIAE P

HesEis o

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
(3]
BFWV)
FR(E)

Implementation

BIER

Prior to convening the meetings, the company
secretary has consulted with each of the Directors
if there are certain matters to be discussed before
incorporating in and issuance of the formal
agenda.

EeHA - ARNEHNETARESEREE
ANETEESMALEHEASHZRE -

Notice of at least 14 days for convening a regular
Board meeting should be issued to give all
Directors an opportunity to attend.

AHREFEEHERRELEL T HRA
M AEMAEEEAMER=LE -

For all other Board meetings, reasonable notice
should be issued.

ERAREMAAESEE S
BA

BHELEE

The schedule of the four regular Board meetings
will be made available by the company secretary in
December every year to encourage the Directors
to actively participate in Board meetings.

REF+_R RRANERFINRERS
BNERE BNRZBSEFEES R

MEFEE:

Notices of regular Board meetings were given to
the Directors at least fourteen days prior to the
actual dates of convening such meetings.

SHBNNSEE R BT
FUARBAESES -

EHEHE DT

For other Board meetings, reasonable notices
have been given in compliance with the relevant
provisions under the Company's Articles of
Association and the Listing Rules.

REMEFSSREMNE  CETARAND
ﬂik&imﬁﬁmﬁ@ﬁmm%Aﬁﬁ
A e
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All Directors should have access to the advice and
services of the company secretary with a view
to ensuring that procedures of the Board and all
applicable rules and regulations are complied.

EESERIMERAIMENERMERAM
Wk BRRRTRGEZSEEFIAE
ERRA RPN RS EST -

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation

(3]
EBIF (V)
FREE(E)
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Implementation
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The Directors may make enquiry to the company
secretary at any time in respect of the agenda or
other matters of the meetings as well as updates
on rules and regulations.

ARREREEEEERENR BRI AR
o FEA R AR RE B0 -

Minutes of Board meetings and of meetings
of Board committees should be kept by a duly
appointed secretary of the meeting and such
minutes shall be available for inspection at any
reasonable time upon reasonable notice by any
director.

RIAZANSENERBEFESSIRET
ZEGNOHALE FRENESZELAE
B EARAHERLRHUEEEMNSE
HEERER] °

The company secretary is responsible for preparing
draft minutes of Board meetings, which shall be
circulated to and reviewed by all Directors before
signing by the chairman of the Board meetings
for the Company’s and the Directors’ record
purpose.

ARMEARRBERCE(R)LAEE
REIRESENRT REZEIREZTER
MEALD B MBS FRCERAE

The Directors are entitled to request the company
secretary for a copy of any minute(s) of Board
meeting(s).

EZTARBERLANERMENERIHRZ
B o
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Complied
with (v)/

No. Details Explanation Implementation

1wk ESi | (3] BTER
EBIF ()
fRIE(E)

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board
committee meetings should record in sufficient
details the matters considered and decisions made
by the Directors, including any concerns raised or
dissenting views expressed by the Directors.

EXENEABETZREENERLE  BYE
ESMERERIERMIREERIFAN
i HREZERESRENEFMEER
RENRHER -

Draft and final versions of minutes of Board
meetings should be sent to all Directors for their
comments and records respectively, in both cases,
within a reasonable time after the Board meeting
having been held.

EZQQHARE  ERAERRAXKR
SECBNIREEREREZEZRES
MRHEEFRERR  RRERAERLLE
R e

Please refer to A.1.5

BREAS

The final version of the minute of Board meeting
has been signed by the Chairman of the Board
meetings upon confirmation for record purpose.

HESEERIRRENFEEZEEARK
TETRBRCER °

There should be a procedure agreed by the
Board to enable the Directors, upon reasonable
request, to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company's
expense.

ESERGATREF REFRAEEX
AEEENBERTSRBEUEEER - BF
:EYNEINI

The Board should resolve to provide separate
independent professional advice to the Directors
to assist the relevant director(s) to discharge his/
their duties to the Company.

ESERERDIIARESREBUEXRE
R AGBABESERITEHARMNALE -

The Directors may seek for independent
professional advice at the expense of the Company
as and when necessary upon making request and
obtaining approval at the Board meetings

EFERABESNBIELEL  ANE
EERELRHERRIE  BANEAA
A -

In addition, as stated in Article 101 under the
Company’s Articles of Association, the Company
bore all expenses reasonably incurred by the
Directors while executing their duties.

BRitz b RARERFI0ORIEL  EFER
TEBRERZENEZHAEEREAARA
BE-
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Complied
with (v)/
Details Explanation Implementation
ES ] (3] BiTER
BFWV)
31 (3]

A1.8 If a substantial shareholder or a director has a v/ During the year under review, if there were a
conflict of interests in a matter to be considered conflict of interest in a matter to be resolved by
by the Board which the Board has determined to the Board and such conflict is determined to be
be material, such matter shall neither be dealt with material and required to be considered by the
by way of circulation nor by a committee (except Board, a Board meeting should be held by physical
a committee of the Board specially set up for that meeting.
purpose pursuant to a resolution passed at a Board
meeting) but a Board meeting shall be held. ROBEFE EEEFEHTHANSZED

FAENGERREECEETZN R EREE
AREARRAEFHEESTEHTERNER BEEABRHEEFGZR  MRBTEEE
FEEEZERAEANFRER  FHF e
BETNEABHX T RARERRAETEER
ERB(REEFTSLZE LRBNRET R If such Directors or shareholders were present at
RUFBEXUNEZESRIN  MERTES the meeting, disclosure would be made before,
= and as the case may be, request for absence of
such Directors would be made when voting on
Independent non-executive Directors who, and the resolutions.
whose associates, have no material interest in
the transaction should be present at such Board FRESIRRIBEEAS L TETAZ
meeting. DrREHBRBERIRERBAEREBEESEHE
BATRBEESE -
ERGRAG RAMEANDRBEARMEK
BYUFHTESEZLERBENESES
E

Recommended Best Practices

EERERR

A19 The Company should arrange appropriate E The Board considered there is no practical need

insurance cover in respect of possible legal actions
against its Directors.

AREREEST MY NERTHIEE
BHRRLHE -

to arrange such insurance.

EZeRRABRRILREERER -
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Committees of the Board should, to the extent of
practicable, adopt the principles, procedures and
arrangements set out in A.1.1 to A.1.8.

EXQBE TZEQRAENENTNEEAR
MAIIEABIRATIIRRN 227 R & Bk

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
(3]
BFWV)
FR(E)

Implementation

BIER

Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee (collectively referred to
as the “Committees”) have been established by
the Board. Meeting schedules for the year of 2009
of the Committees were proposed and made
available to the members in December 2008.

EZERTRAENZES FHZEER
REZEG(HBZER]) -FRZEEN
—ERNFEZRATE_TT/\F+_A
REWLBAZHKE -

Audit Committee shall convene meetings at least
twice a year in accordance with the terms of
reference of the Audit Committee. Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee shall
convene meeting at least once a year. Unless
having been agreed by all members of the
relevant Committees, period for notice of meeting
of all of the Committees shall be no less than 7
days. The requirement for four regular meetings
under Code A.1.1 of Corporate Governance was
not adopted with respect to the Committees as
the Directors considered that it was not necessary
for the proper and efficient performance of their
respective duties. The right of any member or
the secretary of the Committees to convene a
committee meeting has been sufficient to cater for
the need to convene one in case of necessity.

REEZZESRELERT  BEHREES
BFEBRIREMR - FHEEGRIREEE
eEFRIME R -BIEEENEZESR
BRERE MEZBEEMSHBNHET
PRER - ARBITERZEBERALEE
AERTAABBIRERSZNMRE I
TRREZRAUBHZERARBTASE
BRNBEMSUIEVE -ZESEARER
WENARZESSRNENTARNES

FENBATARERNFE -

CG Codes A.1.2 to A.1.8 shall be applicable to the
Committees.

PEESEASFAA I DEAISHANRESS o
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BT

A.2 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
ETERITHER

Principle: There should be a clear division of the responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company to ensure a balance of power and authority

RA ARBRFFERITBEH  MOBEVRERRD - UHRFRENNEESHHE -

Code Provision

FRIfES

A2.1 The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive v/ Mr.Tian Qixiang is the Chairman, and Mr. Gao Shijun
Officer should be separate and not be performed is the Chief Executive Officer, of the Company.
by the same individual.

AEELEERRRREE  SEHEELERER
TFRETBARNACEERED W IAER AT THAESY, -
— NRIBE -
The Chairman is primarily responsible for the

The division of responsibilities between the strategic positioning, and the Chief Executive
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer should Officer is primarily responsible for the operations
be clearly defined and set out in writing. and business development, of the Group.
ITRETRARZEABREN D TRBERTE IFFIZEREENEBBISE  TRERTE
WIAEEFIE o BEBENKENMEBER -

A2.2 The Chairman should ensure that all Directors v/ In respect of regular Board meetings and, so far as

are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings.

IJ

IREERREF SR LMAESOEEA
AERIAFR °

practicable, other Board meetings, the company
secretary provides necessary information on
relevant issues to all Directors at least three
days before the date of convening of the Board
meeting.

RENEZSSHER(EVEATHNERT)
HttgE=geadms RAANESEESS

BUERHENR) - HRAEBESRHESR
R ¢
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Fokid ] (3]
B/

Implementation

BIER

FRRE(E)

A23 The Chairman should be responsible for ensuring v
the Directors receive adequate information,
which must be complete and reliable, in a timely
manner.

ITEEAERREERKURITONES -
mERESTBATHEASE -

Recommended Best Practices
BERETR

Please refer to A.2.2.

F2EN22-

A24 One of the important roles of the Chairman is to v
provide leadership for the Board.

The Chairman should ensure that the Board
works effectively and discharges appropriate
responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate
issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner.

ITREEREFSARCHER BETRA
BE YRERMAEERNEE FRETAH

A
A ©

The Chairman should be primarily responsible
for drawing up and approving the agenda for
each Board meeting and taking into account,
where appropriate, any matters proposed by
other Directors for inclusion in the agenda. The
Chairman may delegate such responsibility to a
designated Director or the company secretary.

TRETEAEER IS REERE S
MBI EEEBRT - SRR EH R
WEERENAZENEAEE - TETE
EEEIHEEENESRATNE -

The Chairman of the Board is held by an executive
Director, whose functions including the assurance
of the development objectives being executed
by the Board.

EXQIRAVTESEL ETNIER
RERERAZEHESTSHT -

The company secretary is responsible for assisting
the Chairman in the preparation of agenda for
each Board meeting and ensuring matters for
discussions proposed by other Directors being
included in the agenda.

ARNEREMYEIFEEBREZSS:
MR YHRAREMESRL ZH®ER
HIABERERRZF
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Details

E S

The Chairman should take responsibility for
ensuring that good practices and procedures for
corporate governance are established.

IREEARCRFRARNERFNERER
ERRRER o

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation

(3]
EBIF (V)
FREE(E)

CORPORATE GOVER

51

NCE REPORT

EEERBRE

Implementation
BiTER

The Chairman, with assistance of the company
secretary, is responsible for evaluating the
effectiveness of the practices and procedures of
the Company's corporate governance and making
recommendations on any changes as considered
necessary by the Chairman, the Directors or the
company secretary.

ERAMEHYT TERAEFEARAD
XERRRMEFNEMEE  UHER
ESHAANERRLENTAEZESELR

2y
% °

A26

The Chairman should encourage all Directors to
mark a full and active contribution to the Board's
affairs and to play a role model to ensuring the
Board acts in the best interest of the Company.

TREBDFEEE2 IRAEEEEY
WU H IR BEREERTEHARARE
s -

During the year under review, there is satisfactory
attendance for the Board and the Board meetings
of the Committees.

REOBEFEE EXZERETZENL DA
SREPR AT

A2.7

The Chairman should, at least annually, hold
meetings with the non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors),
without the executive Directors' present.

ITREELBFEFHNTER(RIEE LI
TEF)RT-RIBRTESTHROEE -

The Chairman, Mr. Tian Qixiang, is a member of the
Remuneration Committee and of the Nomination
Committee. Therefore, it is considered that the
Chairman has opportunity to discuss all relevant
issues with the independent non-executive
Directors annually without the need of a formal
requirement in this regard.

ITFERERALERFMNEE G RIRREES
RE - AUNRBACEAERERTFEB U
WTEZEFIRMEAHEE  MBAR
StERHEA ESK -
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i

A28

Details

ES

The Chairman should ensure that appropriate steps
are taken to provide effective communication with
shareholders and opinions of shareholders are
submitted to the Board as a whole.

TEERARRBUEE &R BB RA M
2 URERERRERUTEZIEBEES

PN
&= o
=]

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
(3]
BFWV)
FR(E)

Implementation

BIER

The Company has provided effective means of
communication through:

AATBEERN TSR ERNERE
i

(1) providing shareholders and potential investors
with the corporate information by annual
reports/interim
circulars; and

reports/announcements/

/PR B BHARRREER
BERMAAMER R

(2) releasing its latest news to shareholders and
potential investors through websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange; and

N )N X A B A [ AR BB FE AR B A
BREHHE &

(3) publishing the latest development of the
Company, subject to the actual needs.

s

RERFENTREMALARNERE
W e

A29

The Chairman should facilitate the effective
contributions of non-executive Directors in
particular and ensure constructive relations
between the executive and non-executive
Directors.

TRREERARIFATESHEES N
BRER THRERHTESEFRATESZ
IR R IR -

Please refer to A.2.6.

FERENLG °
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Principle:

RA

Details

E S

Composition of the Board

EEg4AR

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation

(3]
EBIF (V)
FREE(E)

CORPORATE GOVER
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NCE REPORT

EEERBRE

Implementation

BT

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Company. The Board should ensure a balanced composition of the executive Directors and the independent non-

executive Directors so that strong and independent judgment can be made.

EXQRRBEAREHMNAEER RN
{ERES IR R A BB S 1B -

Code Provision

ST AIER

QEL o

EXQRBRITEBYIIFNTESNAAREEE - N

A3

The independent non-executive Directors shall
be expressly identified as such in all corporate
communications that disclosing the names of the
Directors of the Company.

RAMEHAEFHRNDRBAT - BZ
RSB IFRTERES) -

Recommended Best Practices

EREERR

All corporate communications of the Company,
such as announcements/circulars/financial
reports/website of the Company that disclosing
the names of the Directors have expressly identified
each independent non-executive Director of the
Company.

ARERDM,/BE/ HBRE B EH
ARBREBBEESHLS  LIHALRAF
BBUFNTERH D -

A32

The Company shall appoint independent non-
executive Directors, representing at least one-third
of the Board.

RAEIMEENBY N TEZTREESSK
BABEDL=H—-

The Board comprises of four executive Directors
and four independent non-executive Directors.
Independent non-executive Directors represents
50% (i.e. more than one-third) of the Board.

EEeREANENTEERNE B IR
TESRAK  BUFRITESHESTS ALY
50%(ENRB=0—) °

A33

The Company shall maintain on its website an
updated list of its Directors identifying their roles
and functions and whether they are independent
non-executive Directors.

NAEEEPE FRFRRESTNESS
KERE  WHEHEAEMEEE LKA
HERBIUFNTES

The Company has maintained on its website an
updated profile of each member of the Board,
and identified all independent non-executive
Directors.

ARBMBUEEENSEZTEXNER
BYTRAEBBUIFNTES -

K
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A.4

Details

ES

Appointments, Re-election and Removal

ZfE > EENER

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation

(3]
EBIF ()
fRIE(E)

Implementation

BIER

Principle: There should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure for the appointments of new Directors to the Board.
All Directors should be subject to re-election at regular intervals.

A

ESTRAHTLEN  EFEREELAEZNRNNESRERSF - MAESHRERETHENEMER -

Code Provision

<7 AIEC

A4

Non-executive Directors should be appointed for
a specific term, and subject to re-election.

FATESNREERARELH  TRER
BATES -

Independent non-executive Directors are
appointed for a term of two years subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three
years according to Article 108 of the Company’s

Articles of Association.

BUGFHTEENEHAMFRREQAE
RI0sfFRERBARE  ZOB=F R -

At the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 1 June 2009, Ms. DONG Yangfeng (an
independent non-executive Director) retired and
was re-elected as an independent non-executive
Director.

E_ZTNFNA-HETNARARFRE
FAEL BERSLULBUFNTERRE
WEREEBUIFNTES -

A4.2

All Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy
should be subject to election by shareholders at
the first general meeting after their appointment.
Every Director, including those appointed for a
specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

ERERERERMRZENESEER
REARNERBRAG LESTRRER -
BLEZ(EREHEETAHNES ) ERAR

ff BOBZE—R -

The related matters are provided for under the
Company’s Articles of Association and the terms
of appointment of each Director.

FREECREBEADALAERRSESN
REGFIELAE °

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 —ZZ A FF R



Details

E S
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B

EEHR

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
(3]
BFWV)/
FRIE(E)
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EEERBRE

Implementation
BiTER

A43

“Serving more than nine years" could be relevant
to the determination of a non-executive Director’s
independence.

EEEHFNTESNBUME [EIEFE
BE RAMER—EZ B -

If an independent non-executive Director serves
more than nine years, any further appointment of
such independent non-executive Director should
be subject to a separate resolution to be approved
by shareholders.

EBUFRTEFELCBNTF - KA
BZAERRBBUFNITESTYRINELRE
RVAHRREZRE -

The Board should set out to shareholders in the
papers accompanying a resolution to elect such an
independent non-executive Director the reasons
they believe that the individual continues to be
independent and why he should be re-elected.

EZORARBECALBUFNTESN
RERBEM N ARRIIAEEER
RZBANTHEBLA LR H A KPR
REBMETEAEENRA -

All independent non-executive Directors of the
Company were appointed on 5 September 2007,
therefore none of their independence are at this
stage was affected due to serving for more than
nine years of terms of office.

BARRBUFATESHE_TTLF
NARBRZER ALHEENEERERER
NEMPELBIUIENFE -

The Nomination Committee may, howsoever,
consider other factors in the determination of
the independence of each independent non-
executive Director.

EBRZZEGNAGEREMRARAETSE
B IFITESMBLM -

Each of the independent non-executive Directors
had provided their annual confirmations on their
independence in accordance with the Listing
Rules.

EBUFNTEEREBELTRARKERE
B FERER
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R

A44

Complied
with (v)/
Details Explanation
ES| (3]
BF(v)
FREE(E)
The Company should establish a Nomination 4
Committee.
REERURZEES -

A majority of the members of the Nomination
Committee shall be independent non-executive
Directors.

RERBGANEFTESHASH -

Implementation

BIER

The Nomination Committee was established by
the Company on 5 September 2007.

ARRAE_ZEELFNALAKUTRER
E‘@ o

-~ B

The Nomination Committee comprises of four
independent non-executive Directors and an
executive Director.

RAZEENEHNUBYENTEER—
BHITESAEMK -

The Company held one Nomination Committee
meeting during the year under review. Details of
attendance of the meeting is as follows:

ARRREBEFERGTT - RREEEEE
% ERERHEEFBMT -

Members of the

Nomination Committee Attendance
REZEEHE R
YUE Kwai Wa, Ken (Chairman) 11
REEFE)

TIAN Qixiang 11
AR

YU Shumin 11
e

DONG Yanfeng 11
08 3

CAO Zenggong 11
B

Such meeting involved the participation, either
in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of the committee members.

NEEBImESRIHEREBEMET
BAESE o
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A4.5

Details

E S

The Nomination Committee should be established
with specific written terms of reference which
deal clearly with the committee’s authority and
duties.

ARIEEHEARAZESARNBES
B BREHAZEGNBEMET

The Nomination Committee should discharge the
following duties:

REZBEERBITATERL:

(@) toreview the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board on a regular basis
and make recommendations to the Board
regarding any proposed changes;

EHRHESENRE - ABRAK(E

ik MBRERFE) WA ETE
BB NEERELEY

C5

to identify individuals suitably qualified
to become board members, and select or
make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships;

NEARRBEERAZIESTHIAL I
%%Eég%AiﬁE§$ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ$

() to assess the independence of independent
non-executive Directors; and

BN FITESHEUMN - K

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on
relevant matters relating to the appointment
or re-appointment of the Directors and
succession planning for the Directors in
particular the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer.

REEZERERZEURES(LER
TRERTBAR)BEAENEREER
E=eRIER -

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation

(3]
EBF(V)/
FREE(E)

CORPORATE GOVER

57

NCE REPORT

EEERBRE

Implementation
BiTER

The Company has established written terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee with
reference to and no less exacting than this
recommended best practice.

ARFELERERERRIENLERR
HIRRZ B SR X RERE -

During the year, the Nomination Committee
discharged the following duties:

RAEE  REZEGMITTATIME:

- making recommendation to the Board for the
re-election of Directors at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 1 June 2009;
and

RARBR ZZZAF A —HETHR
RBEFAS FERESMNESTSELE
2,
B &
- reviewing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and the
annual written independence confirmation
provided by each of them.

EHBUIFRNTEFTNBULIERBEFRME
) FE BB IR -
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A4H

Details

ES

The Nomination Committee should make available
its terms of reference explaining its role and the
authority delegated to it by the Board.

REZEERAMEBERE BEEAG
NREZQERTHMNESN -

Complied
with (v)/
SCIELENT
(3]
BF(WV)
FRR(E)

v

Implementation

BIER

The major duties of the Nomination Committee
are to review the structure and composition of the
Board, to review and provide recommendations to
the shareholders of the Company on the terms
of Director’s service contract, and to assess the
independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.

REZEGNIZBAEARTEZTENAR
FARK - BH LA EZNREA N EREA
ARBRREHES  THEBLFRTES
B o

The Nomination Committee considered each
individual's professional knowledge, industry
experience, personal ethic and personal skills
when it makes recommendation to the Board as
to whether that individual is suitably qualified to
become a member of the Board.

REBALREANEBMAETEMAE
EEFHERN REZESTRZALHN
EXAE  TFER - EABRUREAR

4k
Be °©

Details of the terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee are available at the Company’s
website.

AHANREAZECRBEENTCLELR
AL AR ©
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Details

E S

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
(E)
EBF(v)
FRIE(E)

Implementation
BiTER

A47 The Nomination Committee should be provided v/ This is part of the rights and powers of the
with sufficient resources to discharge its duties. Nomination Committee under its terms of
reference.
REZEGREMHGARERNBITHR
B WHRREZ B SR BESEIR T HENRE
NE—B7 °
A48 Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect N/A No independent non-executive Director was

an individual as an independent non-executive
Director at the general meeting, it should set out
in the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory
statement accompanying the notice of the
relevant general meeting why they believe the
individual shall be elected and the reasons why
they consider the individual to be independent.

FEFERNBRRASLREAERELX
ALTABUFATES  AARRASAS
FRBEMT AV ERAR B R KSR
ZINAEFSRREETZBALHNEAMN
PR RZAATEELALNREA -

newly appointed during the year under review.

REBEEE BENBLFATESER
ffeo
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R

A5

Principle:

A

Details

£

Responsibilities of Directors

EEEf

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
(3]
BF(W)
FRR(E)

Implementation

BIER

Every Director is required to keep abreast of his responsibilities as a Director of the Company and of the conduct,

business activities and development of the Company.

BREZAIR TRAEARRRIESENEE  URARANEE TN  ZHESBNER -

Code Provision

<7 AIE

A5

Every newly appointed director of a company
should receive a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his
appointment, and subsequently such briefing
and professional development as is necessary,
to ensure that he has a proper understanding
of the operations and business of the Company
and that he is fully aware of his responsibilities
under the statute and common law, the Listing
Rules, applicable legal requirements and other
requlatory requirements and the business and
governance policies of the Company.

BENMZAINESHREIRERZARHE
"EE  EARBEAEMKOREAN B
EBNMEESHBNNAREXER - AR
AERRNEEREFDEEE R -
URTEMBRGHEERRERE (LTR
) ERAERRERAEBEEREARD
AIMEB RERHR THBE -

No Director was newly appointed during the year
under review.

REBEFE  SENESERT -

For understanding the latest development of the
relevant rules and regulations, the Directors were
provided with regular updates on the rules and
regulations and so far as practicable, individual
training provided by professional organisations.

ARTBRAEBRARRINSHER EF8
TEHIR AR R B AR B3 A R (FEN B AT 1THY
BERT) mEREEREERE -
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Details

E S

The functions of non-executive directors should
include but should not be limited to the following:

FMTEFNRERBEETRRTIISE

(a) participating in Board meetings of the
Company to bring an independent judgment
to bear on issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments and standards of conduct;

SHENFEEEEH ESREE K

R RAIKXR MAEWN BR TEZE
FARTRREEE - REBIZAHIE

=

taking the lead where potential conflicts of
interests arise;

EHRBEN S ERAEIEERES|BE
j==

(c) servingontheaudit,remuneration,nomination
and other governance committees, if invited;
and

ERLIECERS FHZES  RE
ZRENEMELRREENKE Kk

—
o
=

scrutinising the Company's performance
in achieving agreed corporate goals and
objectives, and monitoring the reporting of
performance.

FAREARMKRETEZIREND
XEBMEN  TEREHRATNRENE
EO

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation

(3]
EBF(V)/
FREE(E)

CORPORATE GOVER

61

NCE REPORT

EEERBRE

Implementation
BiTER

All independent non-executive Directors are
members of the Audit Committee.

BUFRTESEHEABRREEENE -

During the year under review, the independent
non-executive Directors participated in Board
meetings (including those when there were
matters involving conflicts of interest to be
considered).

REBEEE  BUFATESCL2EESE
CR(BEBTERESLANGAREENE
#) e

In addition, the independent non-executive
Directors had reviewed the comparison of profit
forecast for the year with actual performance in
the regular Board meetings of the Company.

Mo BUFRTEEERNAAANEHRE
EeeRTENE2FANBEANRERRAR
PLHOLLES ©
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Details

ES

Every Director should ensure that he can give
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Company and should not accept the appointment
if he may not do so.

BREEEMEREN LR AR KGR
BRRNER  BRITEEXRE -

Complied
with (v)/
SCIELENT
(3]
BF(WV)
FRR(E)

Implementation

BIER

During the year under review, the Directors have
been actively participating in the Board meetings.
For details, please refer to A.1.1.

REBFEER  SESHEHB2EEZSH
HIBRmABEAL °

A54

Directors must comply with their obligations
under the Model Code set out in Appendix 10
and, in addition, the Board should establish written
guidelines on no less exacting terms than the
Model Code for relevant employees in respect of
their dealings in the securities of the Company.
For this purpose, ‘relevant employee” includes
any employee of the Company or a director or
employee of a subsidiary or holding company
of the Company who, because of such office
or employment, is likely to be in possession of
unpublished price sensitive information in relation
to the Company or its securities.

ES VAT TNGRETAD)  EFET
EHEMEEEEAAESFERTEHE
5l FEINBREZ A L(RETRDRR © 5
s [ERER | EREARIERHERK
FEEBEMALSEARNDAREES
MARRBREREEMOESR - XFAAM
BRRIZERAMLEFERXES -

The Company has established its own code of
conduct governing securities transaction by the
Directors of the Company (“Securities Dealing
Code") on no less exacting terms than the Model
Code set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules.

ARBHETAFREARRIETETE
RHNITATACEFEETA)) - AR
Ao Em R I+ CRE ST ADR R ©

%
g

At the Board meeting held on 31 March 2009,
all Directors approved the amendments to the
Securities Dealing Code in compliance with the
modification of the blackout period made by
the Stock Exchange in February 2009.

E_TTNEF=A=+-RBINESS
T RREFBR(EFRETADETUF
AR _FTNF - AL H LA
B

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all
Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the Securities Dealing Code during the year under
review and up to the date of this report.

RAMBESFLARETHER  MEESC
BRAEDBEFERBEARERY  —HHE

HEFEETH -

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 —ZZ A FF R



Details

E S

Recommended Best Practices

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
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FREE(E)
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EEERBRE

Implementation
BiTER

BEKEER
A55 All Directors should participate in a programme of v Since talent is the most valuable asset of the
continuous professional development to develop Company, the Company has encouraged Directors
and refresh their knowledge and skills to help and senior management to further their studies.
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains The Company will offer support, such as subsidies
informed and relevant. The Company should be of tuition fee, news with regard to rule enforcement
responsible for arranging and funding a suitable and latest Listing Rules with the assistance of the
development programme. company secretary, to Directors and staff.
MEERR2EREZXRRAE  BRY ARA-—BESBESNAEMEEASHELE
BRTE AN R A - ABNRREEBE NS B BRAMRARRAGREEZEAEZ —° &
FEBHBAGENBEATHESSELR RAIBREEME TREEENEE - fin
Bl AREEBERHAENERAEIWRMHE EEHEY  ERARWEBRENBIENBEMER
F@Es - #HEMRANEEES -
Please refer to E.1.2
F2EE12.
A5.6 Each director should disclose to the Company at v The Directors have disclosed to the Company at

the time of his appointment, and on a periodic
basis, the number and nature of offices held in
public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments, with the identity of
the public companies or organisations and an
indication of the time involved. The Board should
determine for itself how frequently such disclosure
should be made.

BRESRNEXZAERARRARE(ERE
RESMRE) ENARR A SABEERLD
FARMENAREMEAAYE  EHy/AR
HARRARABNBEARBREELS
BRSAS MR - ES 8RR BTREM
&% AMEH— R -

the time of their appointment and are reminded
to keep the Company updated with regard to
the number and nature of offices held in public
companies or organisations and other significant
commitments.

EEAEBRSRABCRARABREERAR
NESABETRANEE MIEE LR E M
BARHIE o

The company secretary is responsible for updating
the disclosed information from time to time when
necessary.

ARMERENATERTRENEREH
-
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AS5.7

Details

£

Non-executive Directors, as equal board members,
should give the Board and any committees on
which they serve such as the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee or Nomination
Committee the benefit of their skills, expertise and
varied backgrounds and qualifications through

regular attendance and active participation.

FRTEFEREAMESRARITHAA
EXENE  BEHHFESEREREH
TREERENRBE(fINERZES  #
MZEeRHZES )NEZLEH2ES
B UEKE  EXABRTANERRE
BIELER -

They should also attend general meetings and
develop a balanced understanding of the views
of shareholders.

FHTRFLEEERAAS  HAARE
HERETENHTR -

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
(3]
BF(W)
FRR(E)

Implementation

BIER

Attendance of the independent non-executive
Directors at Board meetings and meetings
of the Board during the year under review is
satisfactory.

BUFNTEERADBEFENESTERE
TREGZERLFETHESARE °

Mr. Yue Kwai Wa, Ken, an independent non-
executive Director, attended the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 1 June 2009
on behalf of other independent non-executive
Directors.

BUFNTEERFELERREMBUIEF
HTEFHRTARAR-ZEZAFAH—
ARTZBRAFAE -

A58

Non-executive Directors should make a positive
contribution to the development of the
Company’s strategy and policies through
informed

independent, constructive and

comments.

FHPTESREBREHAY  ERRUELA
REBENER Y QA5 ERERBEREHEE
E

Independent non-executive Directors had made
such contributions through meetings of the
Board and the Board committees with all relevant
information provided to them in a timely manner
prior to the meetings in order that they can provide
informed comments.

BUFNTEFHEFQORETZES DS
LEHER - HESRABERRHEMES
BEE  REERERANEER -
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Provision of and Access to Information

BERUKER

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation

(3]
B ()
FERE(E)
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EEERBRE

Implementation
BiTER

Directors should be provided in a timely manner with appropriate information in such form and of such quality as

will enable them to make an decision and to discharge their duties and responsibilities as Directors of the Company.

EFRERMEENEREN  ARARZEARESHENEERABENNBN MELIRT - WaEEITHE

RAREZNMENEE -

Code Provision

57 B

A6.1

In respect of regular Board meetings, an agenda
and accompanying board papers should be sent
in full to all Directors in a timely manner and at
least 3 days before the intended date of a board
or Board committee meeting (or such other period
as agreed).

ExerHednERERESeXE
EHMEEAREEES  TEDEFERT
EXERHETRRE SR A NN =XRA(X
B EO B T Y ) s i

The documents of regular Board meetings and
Committee meetings (and so far as practicable in
other Board meetings) are sent out to all Directors
three days before the date of the meeting.

EXeTHeRMEETRBE TR (KD

E
ERTHBATEMESS SR ) XHHES
ZAMRZHALTEBES -
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Details

ES

Management has an obligation to supply the Board
and its committees with adequate information in
a timely manner to enable it to make informed
decisions.

EEEREARNESEREETRERM
RENEGER  WEESHNHEZERH
BRABER MELABRE

The date provided for the management must
be complete and reliable. To fulfill their duties
properly, Directors may not in all circumstances
be able to rely purely on what is volunteered
by management and further enquiries may be
required.

EREFRENBBLAREASR - KT
BEBTESME - LT RA R
TEEEELEEDRROME  HF M
EBOTIEE 5B -

Where any director requires more information
than is volunteered by management, he should
make further enquiries where necessary.

EAEFEREERBREBNERRED
RULSN OB EREREBEE— 55
ne

The Board and each director should have separate
and independent access to the Company’s senior
management.

EEERELESRAATEBATBRE
BABMBTRE -

Complied
with (v)/
SCIELENT
(3]
BF(WV)
FRR(E)

Implementation

BIER

The company secretary will attend relevant
Board meetings and Board committee meetings
while other persons may be invited to provide
explanations on issues to be discussed where
necessary in order to provide the Directors
with adequate information for making informed
decisions.

ARMEHELEARNESERETERE
2R NEFERNEBFEMALRE
EREBTIRNBBTR UEESER
RINEREEHABERE

The company secretary acts as the communication
channelamongthe Directorsand hisresponsibilities
include accessing to the Company's senior
management as per the request of the Directors.

ARMERREFZRMNEREE  E8K
EEEIRBANFRRERE -
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Details

E S

All Directors are entitled to have access to board
papers and related materials.

MEEENEREHNESTEX M RERE
&

Such papers and related materials should be
prepared in such form and quality as will enable
the Board to make an informed decision on
matters placed before it.

LEXHRABRBBORET ARZERE
ESRNREETEASA T RIFLAER
RIERIRTE °

Where queries are raised by Directors, steps must
be taken to respond as promptly and fully as
possible.

ERESRLMAE  DRVERRSBIAR
RIELZEREREIE

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
(E)
EBF(v)
FRIE(E)

CORPORATE GOVER

67

NCE REPORT

EEERBRE

Implementation
BiTER

The Directors may request the company secretary
to provide access to the Board papers and related
materials.

ESANAARRERREHNESTEXXMNR
HREER

The company secretary and the Chairman should
respond to the queries raised by the Directors in
a timely manner.

ARAIMEMEIEVRERINESEBRRA
& HEEERRARERE -
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CORPORATE

VERNANCE REPORT

TEERERE

No.

R

B.1

Details

£

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
(3]
BF(W)
FRR(E)

Implementation

BIER

Level and Make-up of Remuneration and Disclosure

B 2 2 B A9k P R AR A

Principle: There should be a formal and transparent procedure for setting policy on executive Directors’ remuneration and for
fixing the remuneration packages for all Directors of the Company. No Director should be involved in deciding his

RA

own remuneration.

AAEREEAMABAENESF UG ERRTEEMENBR LB R AR EENHMGE - TWES

TESMETTAS WS -

Code Provision

<7 AIERC

B.1.1

Companies shall establish a Remuneration
Committee with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with its authority and duties. A
majority of the members of the Remuneration
Committee shall be independent non-executive
Directors.

ARERIAARERNNERELENTMHZ
Be AHREREREEHAZESNER
FRE - FHMEEENAEIKERABYL
FRTES -

The Remuneration Committee was established
on 5 September 2007 with written terms of
reference.

FHEREEeE T LFNAR ALK
T OB o

The Remuneration Committee of the Company
consists of all independent non-executive
Directors and the Chairman of the Company.

ARBRNFHEZE SR EH BB IFNT
EERARRBEFEAERX
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEERBRE

Complied
with (v)/
Details Explanation Implementation
ES ] (3] BiTER
BF(WV)/
FRIE(E)
B.1.1 The Remuneration Committee held one
(Cont'd) Remuneration Committee meeting during the
() year under review. The attendance of the meeting
is as follows:

ARRREEFEE 8177 -RAFHZES
% ARERLERHRBNT

Members of the
Remuneration

Committee Attendance
FMZESEME IR
YUE Kwai Wa, Ken (Chairman) 11
REEELRE)

TIAN Qixiang 1/1
AER

YU Shumin 11
RRE

DONG Yanfeng 1/1
siee

CAO Zenggong 1/1
EIED)

Such meeting involved the participation, either
in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of the committee members.

NEERPMESRILEIERBEMET
BAEZE o
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CORPORATE

VERNANCE REPORT

EEERERE

No.

ki

B.1.2

Details

ES

The Remuneration Committee shall consult the
Chairman and/or Chief Executive Officer about
their proposals relating to the remuneration of
other executive Directors and have access to
professional advice if considered necessary.

FTHZReRMEMATESNHMERR
ALTRER/ITBEE  NRREFE - 7T
ARMEXER -

Complied
with (v)/
SCIELENT
(3]
BF(WV)
FRTE(E)

Implementation

BIER

To ensure good communications, the Chairman
of the Company also acts as one of the members
of the Remuneration Committee.

RTBREBE ARAZENZFMEZE
QKB

The Remuneration Committee has the rights to
seek advice from professional consultants at the
Company's expense under its terms of reference.

BEGERTREFHNZEQERNEXRE
MASER  BRAAREXN -
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Details

E S

The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee should include, as a minimum, the
following specific duties:

SHEBEEREREH ARRERE B
THREME

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on
the Company's policy and structure for all
remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing policy on such remuneration;

RAREENSREEAEN2 B
RERE  RBERILERMDEEBE
REFFTHEFMERE  AEFERLZ

o]

=

to have the delegated responsibility to
specific
packages of all executive Directors and senior

determine the remuneration
management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments,
including any compensation payable for loss
or termination of their office or appointment,
and make recommendations to the Board of
the remuneration of non-executive Directors;
and

BEFEBRUTHE  DET2BHT
ESRRBEEABNBESTMESE
BREFEENS RRSEFLBESR
(BRBRAIREBBIZENREE) XL
RIFRTEENFNRESTSREES

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation

(3]
EBF(v)/
FREE(E)

CORPORATE GOVER

71

NCE REPORT

EEERBRE

Implementation
BiTER

The Remuneration Committee has been
established by the Company with a written terms
of reference in accordance with the requirements
as set out in the CG Code.

ARBKUFNEE S ERXBELE
RIBEERE IR TR T RIPFEERHE -

During the year under review, the Remuneration
Committee discharged the following duties:

REBFE  FTMEESRITTUTRE

- reviewing the remuneration of the Directors

and its adjustments and make

recommendations to the Board; and

ENEEOFHARLFNEE - YE
SRS R

- reviewing and making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration policies.

EHRNESSRFMBRELES -

During the year under review, there was no loss or
termination or removal of office or appointment
of Directors or senior management

REBEFE MEEEXSREEAERK
R I BB HERE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERERE

Complied
with (v)/
No. Details Explanation Implementation
w5 ESE] (3] BiTER
BF(W)
fRRR(E)
B.13 (c) to review and approve performance-based
(Cont'd) remuneration by reference to corporate goals
(&) and objectives resolved by the Board from
time to time;

BR2REFTEIRBBANARTERNE
H) - iReT RALER R MEE HEB -

(d) to review and approve the compensation
arrangements relating to any loss or
termination of the offices or dismissal or
removal of Directors or senior management to
ensure that such compensation is determined
in accordance with relevant contract terms,
and is reasonable and appropriate; and

B R ERNESTSSREZAERKK
RIS RIRBA TS R E R - AR
R SRERABANGREET B E
EBE R

(e) to ensure that no director or any of his
associates is involved in deciding his own
remuneration;

ERENEFAHTMHEANEETE
BEE
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Details

E S

The Remuneration Committee should make
available its terms of reference, explaining its role
and the authority delegated to it by the Board.

FHZEeRAFMERERE BEELAG
FEFSERTHNES -

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation

(3]
B ()
FERE(E)

4

CORPORATE GOVER

73

NCE REPORT

EEERBRE

Implementation
BiTER

The major duties of the Remuneration Committee
are to review and make recommendations to the
Board on the Company’s remuneration policy and
structure compensation scheme of the Directors
and senior management as well as to determine
the specific remuneration packages of all executive
Directors and senior management.

FMEEEMIBREATHARIALRAS
HEZRSRERENHMRE LB M
BEAREMER  UREEMAERTESR
RREEBNHMEE

Details of the terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are available at the
Company's website.

FMEEeMBREEFECEAL R
VNG

The Remuneration Committee should be provided
with sufficient resources to discharge its duties.

FHEEeRERGRARERANBITAR
EEEO

\
/

v

This is part of the rights and powers of the
Remuneration Committee under its terms of
reference.

LhHME R e BEGER T EEFNRED

B —8E7 o
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERERE

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation

No. Details Implementation

BIER

im ] (3]
BF()/
%2 (E)

Recommended Best Practices
BEREDR

B.1.6 A significant proportion of Executive Directors' v Under the service contracts of the executive

remuneration should be structured so as
to link rewards to corporate and individual
performance.

Directors, all executive Directors are entitled to
a discretionary bonus representing up to 5% of
the audited consolidated profit of the Group (after

taxation and minority interest and payment of
HTEFNFMERED  BHEREALIHNR
BHEE A B R B ARIR AN o

such bonuses).

HTEENRBEAARNEAZBATESH
NERTBRAKELERESMEGRK
DEBRE A RSN FEALR) 5% BfE
FEAL ©

Resolution approving the bonus to executive
Directors would be discussed by the Remuneration
Committee before being submitted to the Board
for discussion. To avoid any conflict of interests,
the executive Director receiving the bonus is not
allowed to vote in the relevant resolution.

BRGTHTESEANREFTRERNLB
FHZE NIRRT RREZG® A
2HNEER BRARIEANRTESZAA
DEFmEEAMARRTRS -

Bonus for the executive Directors in 2008 was
discussed at the meeting of Remuneration
Committee held in 16 April 2009, and specific
disclosure was made in the annual report of the
Company.

E-TTAEMA+ABRANFNERS
SR BT ARTEEEE DTN FY
JEAL - B BASAEAA R RER L A
B -
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Details

E S

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation

(3]
EBF(V)/
FREE(E)

CORPORATE GOVER

75

NCE REPORT

EEERBRE

Implementation
BiTER

B.1.7 The Company should disclose any remuneration E The management believes that:
payable to members of senior management, on
an individual and named basis, in their annual BEERR
reports and accounts.
1) the remuneration payable to senior
NEEEEEERELEEABRBERNSRE management comprises an insignificant
BAEBYANEANE  WHHEFRRRE portion of the expenses; and
BABHHR -
BRERASNHMEFRHLEHIRD
K
2) disclosing remuneration payable to individual
staff on named basis may affect overall staff
morale,
BFEEANEINMe RAGEEEEYE
2BEITR
thus will not consider disclosing the name and
remuneration of senior management on an
individual basis.
FIATZRIIEBESRERABNLEM
B.1.8 Where the Board resolves to approve any N/A The Board has never approved any matters which
remuneration or compensation arrangements E R have previously been rejected by the Remuneration

which the Remuneration Committee has
previously resolved not to approve, the Board
must disclose the reasons for its resolution in its
next annual report.

NEZSZRBENTHIME L AFHMN
ZEQAMBRATTREE EFSRAET
—ERTRBEEBRZRRENRE o

Committee during the year under review.

REBEFER EXZQTEARFMERS
FATFEARN T BBHFR
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CORPORATE

VERNANCE REPORT

TEERERE

No.

R

C.

Details

£

Accountability and Audit
EERZE

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
(3]
BF(W)
FRTE(E)

Implementation

BIER

Principle: The Board should present a balanced, clear and comprehensible assessment of the Company’s performance, position

A :
c1

and prospects.

ESQRTE AW k2EHIRARNKER  BRNAR

Financial Reporting

I E R

Code Provision

<7 AIlE

C1a

Management should provide such explanation
and sufficient information to the Board as will
enable the Board to make an informed assessment
of the financial and other information put before
the Board for approval.

EEERRESSRHERINERERZHN
BF - BEF G AR A M PSRBT
BREMER - FHEREOFE -

The financial information and plans of the period
were discussed in the regular Board meetings. The
Chairman was responsible for explaining the latest
business developments to the Directors.

EEZENTHERT EZ2RUAN
HHERMGE THEFAENSESH
BRINEBER -
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Details

E S

The Directors should acknowledge in the
Corporate Governance Report their responsibility
for preparing the accounts, and there shall be a
statement by the auditors about their reporting
responsibilities in the auditors’ report on the
financial statements.

EERR(EERERRE)TERBAA R
REMEL ZBOTEERBUBERERN
BEMBERROMNRREEHELER -

Unless it is inappropriate to assume that the
Company will continue in business, the Directors
should prepare the accounts on a going
concern basis, with supporting assumptions or
qualifications as necessary.

BRIEBRAFAKEFELEEBALTRE -
TR EXRBENREBUATRELER
Eit - ARERERHABRRIREZR -

When the Directors are aware of material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, such
uncertainties should be clearly and prominently
set out and discussed at length in the Corporate
Governance Report.

REENEREATHREMHRBERATES
BEVERRAFELENE)  EEEE(D
XERBS)FRBRERENFATBULED
AR

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation

(3]
EBF(V)/
FREE(E)

CORPORATE GOVER

77

NCE REPORT

EEERBRE

Implementation
BiTER

The Directors hereby acknowledge their
responsibility for preparing the accounts of the
Company. For the statement by the auditors about
their reporting responsibilities in the auditor’s

report, please refer to pages 101 to 102.

EEENARMMERREENEMT - 2K
FAMZ BN RS R St R R B e A Rg
FB2HE1012102E °

As at 31 December 2009, the Company continued
to prepare its financial report on a going concern
basis.

ARRNBE-TEAST A=+ AL
RS EO R AER AR RS -

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may affect the
business of the Company or cast doubts on its
ability to continue as an ongoing concern.

EEeESRAERERNERTHREMK
BREFEARARZEBAFEEFELE
HIBEN °

CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED R BIR 1ERR B IR A R



78

CORPORATE

VERNANCE REPORT

TEERERE

Complied
with (v)/
No. Details Explanation Implementation
w5 ESE] (3] BiTER
BF(W)
fRRR(E)

C13 The Board's responsibility to present a balanced, v The management discussion and analysis section

clear and understandable assessment extends to in the annual report of the Company has provided
annual and interim reports, other price sensitive an analysis on the business during the year.
announcements and other financial disclosures
required under the Listing Rules, and reports to ARANEERENERBIRREATELSE
requlators as well as to information required to be REFEBIET D o
disclosed pursuant to statutory requirements.
FHESQETE BH RARMTELRR
FENELT BRAREERERPHRSE -
By RIREGFREMNBSERBE( LR
AR ATHRENEMIABEE - URME
BEERRNBEEUZERBEAFREATR
BN -

Recommended Best Practices

BEREER

C14 The Company should announce and publish E The Company has no intention to issue quarterly

quarterly financial results within 45 days after
the end of the relevant quarter, disclosing such
information as would enable shareholders to
assess the performance, financial position and
prospects of the Company.

DRRERBAEEERRASKADH KT
FEMBRE  MARENEE  LERR
FERAZARNERE « BB RAR o

Any such quarterly financial reports should be
prepared using the accounting policies applied
to the Company's half-year and annual accounts.

ARRETANETENBRER - EER
MEBRANEFFERFERANGHR
% o

financial report for the time being.

ARRIEEFENEFEMHRE -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEERBRE

Complied
with (v)/
Details Explanation Implementation

BH (3] BITER
B ()
FERE(E)

C15 Once the Company decides to announce and E Please refer to C.14.
publish its quarterly financial results, it shall
continue to adopt quarterly reporting for each of EBECI40
the first 3 and 9 months periods of subsequent
financial years.

AR—BRELMRINEFTENBEE A
ERERNMBFEEEERBZ=E=|A
FENEANTERE -

Where the Company decides not to announce and
publish its financial results for a particular quarter,
it shall publish an announcement to disclose the
reason(s) for such decision.

ARRREIDMETNER -FTENHBE
B BIETIR A - MEESHRRTNRA -
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VERNANCE REPORT

EEERERE

No.

ki

C.2

Details

ES |

Internal Control

AR EE 1

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
(3]

BF (W)
FRR(E)

Implementation

BIER

Principle: The Board should ensure that the Company maintains sound and effective internal controls to safeguard the

RA:

ST AIEC

shareholders” investment and the Company s assets.

ESQRBRARNNADEEZARRZEMAER - UREBRNIZRERARNEE -

Code Provision

C21

The Directors should at least annually conduct a
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal
control of the Company and its subsidiaries and
report to shareholders that they have done so in
their Corporate Governance Report. The review
shall cover all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions.

EXRRIEBFRA-RAAREHNELRR
HABEERREEAN  LE(EXE AR
B)FABRRERC KK EBRT - AH
RIEREMEEENEZIE  BREMB

B BEEERAREEARERERED
BE °

The Board is ultimately responsible for the internal
control of the Group.

EXQRABEENRMEENRRELE -

On 1 June 2009, the Board has engaged
SHINEWING Risk Services Limited to review the
internal control system of the Group. The report
has been completed by December 2009 and
submitted to the Audit Committee and the Board
for discussion.

EXeA_TTNFAA-HABBREREK
TREREEARARISAREAREZER
FETRY ARREEEE_ZTTAFT
“ARKERRGEGEZEENET S

o,
LA
Ay ©

The Group has performed risk evaluations on
human resources, financial, budget control,
internal audit and capital usage functions and the
Group is not aware of any material weaknesses.

RAEBEELUANER M5 BEE
B AHEZNMESERSELT AR
fh WEHRBERRK o
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Details

E S

The Board, when making annual review, should
particularly consider whether the resources,
employees'qualification and experience in respect
of the functions of accounting and financial
reporting, and the training programmes given
to the employees and the relevant budget, are
adequate.

EFEEFRTRIN - BEHERAAL
EHRUBERRE I AGER BTAE
RIEHRTRH - AR A THEE0HIR

BREBEERRERR -

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation

(3]
BV
FERR(E)

CORPORATE GOVER

81

NCE REPORT

EEERERE

Implementation

BT

The management of the Group has dedicated
to improving the efficiency of accounting and
financial reporting. During the year of review,
the Group has replaced the accounting software
and given relevant training programmes to the
relevant employees. The Board considers that
the employee’s qualification, experience and the
budget, etc. are sufficient.

AEEERE-BERIRESHNAKER
NHENBE - REBRFER KEEEHRT
SHEMERYHB]RE TREMRRE -

EZERRBTER KRLhEBESEER

5
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VERNANCE REPORT

TEERERE

No.

R

Details

£

Recommended Best Practices

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
(3]
BF(W)
FRR(E)

Implementation

BIER

BEREDR
C23 The Board's annual review should, in particular, v The Board conducted annual review for the
consider: Group's exposure to risks (including operating
environment and financial situation).
ERELTFRINSEESNEETSE

(@) the changes since the last annual review in the
nature and extent of significant risks, and the
Company’s ability to respond to changes in
its business and the external environment;

B EERIE  BEARROMEREER
EHEE  URDFENEEHHER)
ERFBBRS

(b) the scope and quality of management’s
ongoing monitoring of risks and of the system
of internal control, and where applicable, the
work of its internal audit function and other
providers of assurance;

EEEREERRARNMANEZERSNT
ERELRE - ROIER) ARMXE AL
FEMRERME T

(c) the

communication of the results of the
to the Board (or Board
committee(s)) which enables it to build up a

extent and frequency of the

monitoring

cumulative assessment of the state of control
in the Company and the effectiveness with
which risk is being managed;

MEFE(AETZES)EEEEERY
AEERERRE BBEREE EFE
BUERANEZERREREENAR
BEEVZBHNFEER

ExesEnendSENAREBREER
BRABIER)

Audit Committee formulated review proposal at
the beginning of the year and external and internal
auditors performed relevant works according to
the proposal.

EZZEe Ei%ﬂ@%llmff TET 813 RIS
MR R Z B R SIETT AR TIE -
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EEERBRE

Complied
with (v)/
Details Explanation Implementation
ES ] (3] BiTER

EF(v)

FRIE(E)
C23 (d) the incidence of significant control failings or v
(Cont'd) weakness that has been identified at any time
(&) during the period and the extent to which

they have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or
contingencies that have had, could have had,
or may in the future have, a material impact
on the Company’s financial performance or
conditions; and

HAEARRELEERERRARABRE
REFESHEMRE - RANEBBURGERAR
HERIESBEANEERE  MAER
RABRAHRAINBHRAXBREE
£ AIREEELTRRAEEELENERX
TE R

(e) the effectiveness of the Company’s processes
relating to financial reporting and Listing Rule
compliance.

ARIAAMBERE BT ETRAD R
MEFESEMR °
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CORPORATE

VERNANCE REPORT

TEERERE

No.

R

C24

Details

£

The Company should disclose as part of the
Corporate Governance Report a narrative
statement how they have complied with the
code provisions on internal control during the
reporting period. The disclosures shall also include
the following items:

ER(ERERHREINBO AR - REIEMK
RETZARBENAEREHNETERA
BEZOTAGRX - EARERTLERR
THI%A :

(@) the process that the Company has applied
for identifying, evaluating and managing the
significant risks faced by it;

NEIREAGER - MG REERMEEHNER
B P ERER B AR FF
(b) any additional information to assist
understanding of the Company's risk
management processes and system of internal

control;

EAEY TRARREREERF AR
REFRREBRINE

(c) an acknowledgement by the Board that it
is responsible for the Company's system
of internal control and for reviewing its
effectiveness;

EEeARERUNRANANBEERRA
B WHEEmAZNENARIL

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
(3]
BF(W)
FRR(E)

Implementation

BIER

The Board hereby acknowledges in this report
that it is responsible for the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Group.

EXQAABRSTEARAARAREARNE
BEEFROERIE -

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the internal
control system of the Company during the year
under review and did not reveal any significant
defects of the internal control system.

EZZBERBEOBFREAARAREER
B TEXRADEZZRFEEAMEER
9&0

On 1 June 2009, the Board engaged SHINEWING
Risk Services Limited to review the internal control
system of the Group. The report was completed
by December 2009 and submitted to the Audit
Committee and the Board for discussion.

EXZeE_TTNFAA—BEREXIHE
RREZARAAAASBEAEZERGE
TR FREREELE_TENFT A
FERARRGEZRBENEFTGFTMW °
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EEERBRE

C24
(Cont'd)
(#8)

Details

E S

(d) the process that the Company has applied in
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control; and

AR AR R G R T B MATRENE
BF R

(e) the process that the Company has applied
to deal with material internal control aspects
of any significant problems disclosed in its
annual reports and accounts.

ARIBEER FEHRE MR A AP EN
ARERNNEEEHNEAFRATRR
IR ©

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation

(3]
EBF(V)/
FREE(E)

Implementation
BiTER

C25

The Company should ensure that their disclosures
provide meaningful information and do not give
a misleading impression.

ARERAFBEENRAERNEE  MA
RBRAERENEE -

The Company aims to ensure disclosures provide
meaningful information and do not give a
misleading impression.

RARENERABRENZEEENEE
MATEFABRENZE

C26

The Company without an internal audit function
should review the need for one on an annual basis
and should disclose the outcome of such review in
the Company's Corporate Governance Report.

REABZBNENAREEFRIEEH
ERRIIBINE  AREE(LEERARE)
ARBERAER -

The Board believes that, considering the scale
of the Company, it is more efficient to engage
independent internal auditor to conduct annual
review rather than establishing a dedicated
internal audit department.

EFERAUADARME R ABE
BT T R R T SRR I E
BRE
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VERNANCE REPORT

TEERERE

No.

R

c3

Principle:

A

Details
EI1F

Audit Committee

ENZEEE

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
(3]
BF(W)
FRTE(E)

Implementation

BIER

The Board should establish formal and transparent arrangements for considering how it will apply the financial

reporting and internal control principles and for maintaining an appropriate relationship with the Company’ s

auditors.

E SRR A0 FE PR BT I 4R e M R ES R R A RN R R A R BT B VB R E L EAR R ABHEN R

73

Code Provision

ST RIEX

C3.1

Full minutes of Audit Committee meetings should
be kept by a duly appointed secretary of the
meeting (who should normally be the company
secretary). Draft and final versions of minutes
of the meetings of Audit Committee should be
sent to all members of the committee for their
comment and records respectively, in both cases
within a reasonable time after the meeting.

ERZEENEERLBEALAREN
RNE(BRERARANE )RE - BRZ
BEEHLENIRAREEREESH]

—BAERRAALTKEXZEG2EBKE
NRHEKERERER  RERERELLERZ
H -

The company secretary is responsible for preparing
minutes of the Audit Committee meetings. The
draft minutes is circulated to and verified by the
participants, then signed by the chairman of the
meeting for final confirmation and duly kept by
the company secretary.

Twiﬁaﬁﬁﬁﬁééémﬁﬁﬁﬁ
FRERLE %ﬁ@%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ&
W%maﬁiﬁﬁ fFE  YHRRWER

8
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EEERBRE

Complied
with (v)/
Details Explanation Implementation
ES ] (3] BiTER
BF(WV)/
FRIE(E)
C31 The Audit Committee held four meetings during
(Cont'd) the year under review, of which two were regular
() meetings. Details of the attendance of the meeting
is as follows:

ERZBEENOEFERN BT THOAE
# HEPMAAEMEE FRSHELER

FEMT
Attendance
HERE

Members of the Regular Other
Audit Committee meetings meetings
EREEERE TEHER Hiv@E
YUE Kwai Wa, Ken 2/2 2/2

(Chairman)
REE (L)
YU Shumin 2/2 2/2
RRE
DONG Yanfeng 2/2 2/2
site
CAO Zenggong 2/2 1/2
Eir)

Such meetings involved the participation, either
in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of the Directors.

NEeZUHEERILRREBEMET
BATEZE o
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EEERERE

No.

ki

€32

Details

ES |

A former partner of the Company’s existing
auditing firm should be prohibited from acting
as a member of the Company’s Audit Committee
for a period of 1 year commencing on the date
of his ceasing:

ARAEERLAKRAENZELANAES
BAEATBHARBBRERE)ER—
FR MEREELFERZEGHME

(@) to be a partner of the firm; or

AR ERAARIAR AN B 3

ik

(b) to have any financial interest in the firm,
whichever is the later.

ABFEAARABEHEN B

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
(3]

BF (W)
FRIE(E)

Implementation

BIER

No employee of the auditing firm, including
partner of the firm, was appointed by the Company
as a member of the Audit Committee.

ARARYEREIRARRNEMREE®ES
BAERBRZEEKE -
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Details

E S

The terms of reference of the audit committee
should include at least the following duties:
EREZESNBREERZVAETIIIE:
(@) to be primarily responsible for making
recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal
of the external auditor, and to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of

the external auditor, and any questions of
resignation or dismissal of that auditor;

I%ﬁf%%%ﬁ%%%%&*i%%&
FESRNEZTSRMEES  HEMNSRH
Bl B 57 B % B R R &J&%EEEHEEQEA
BB BRI BEN O

=

to review and monitor the external auditor's
independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standard and discuss with the
auditor the nature and scope of the audit;

R R R N B R INE R BB B
VEREBUEAREZBENANME - I
EZHIM R E R

(c) todevelopandimplementonthe engagement
of an external auditor to supply non-audit
services;

BLONEAZ BUEM B St I X BURTS B E R -
I F AR R KT

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation

(3]
EBF (V)
FREE(E)
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EEERERE

Implementation

BT

The Audit Committee has established its written
terms of reference on no less exacting terms with
reference to the CG Code.

ERZEQN2ELRERERT
HT AR RRR B EE -

AlBIE A

Details of the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are available at the Company's
website.

%ﬁima%%flﬁl EREARR A Ak
NG

During the year under review, the Audit Committee
discharged the following duties:
REBFER  BREEGNTTATRE :
- reviewing the results and the financial

reporting during the year under review with
the management; and

HEEBEMNLDBFENRE LM BRE
H: R

A )

- discussing the annual audit issues with the
external auditor; and

HEINEZBM R ARFEERLCEE
53

- making recommedation to the Board on the
re-appointment of the external auditor.

RERINSZHBMAEST S HEE
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TEERERE

Complied
with (v)/
No. Details Explanation Implementation
w5 E3 | (3] BiTfER
#BF(v)
FR¥E(E)
C33 (d) tomonitor integrity of the Company’s financial For the year ended 31 December 2009, the fees
(Cont'd) statements and the Company's annual payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers below by the
(&) report and accounts and half-year report, Company is as follows:

and to review significant financial reporting

judgments contained in them; BE_ZTNF+-RA=T—HLFE" ' K
NRENEERKEGTMEBANER

ERRANBBHRRRARFERS M

B FFERSNHTEYL  URBHERK HK$'000
s R B 7 B e A FHET
Audit 1,356
(e) tocommunicate with the Board, and the senior iy 1356
management and the Audit Committee of [ — 200
the Company must meet at least once a year rh B2 3 200
with the auditor of the Company, and consider Tax representative service 2%
any significant or unusual matters reflected RTER = IR 24
or required to be reflected on such reports

: Total 1,580

and accounts, as well as properly review those R
At 1,580

matters proposed by the accounting and

financial reporting staff under the Company,
the compliance officer or the auditor; and

SERNRIESTENREERABRER
- BENRRAREMEL BFEE—
R RECREBNGFRE LKA T
&%&m&@%&ﬂiﬁ&ﬁ FER
YRBEZREMELAE TSt RIH%
ﬁ% CARTEIREMBELNE

Wti

:r

%

)
)

to review the Company’s financial controls,
internal control and risk management
systems.

RERRMMBEE  AREERRRE
BEHE o
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Details

E S

The audit committee should make available its
terms of reference, explaining its role and the
authority delegated to it by the Board.

ENZBERAMERELNE BELAG
FEFSERTHNES -

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation

(3]
EBF(V)/
FREE(E)

4
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EEERBRE

Implementation
BiTER

The major roles and functions of the Audit
Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting process, financial controls,
internal control and risk management system
of the Group and to provide recommendations
and advices to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditor
as well as their terms of appointment.

ERZEENIZRERYEARIRER
AKENFBHRERSF  MHIZH - ARPE
ErREBRERSE  LHRIMEREEOE
- EREERBRARBRENZEERRA
ESerhEERERER -

Details of the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are available at the Company's
website.

BN E A GBI R ERA LA

NG

C35

Where the Board disagrees with the audit
committee’s view on the selection, appointment,
resignation or dismissal of the external auditors,
the Company should include in the Corporate
Governance Report a statement from the audit
committee explaining its recommendation and
also the reason(s) why the Board has taken a
different view.

NEZETRAEERZEQHTE £F
BEXRRIEZEMEENER - RAE
HeEErmE)TIEERZESR M
HEZNEHR UREFEHIRERNR
& o

The Audit Committee has approved and
the Board to re-appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the

recommended

Company on 16 April 2009 (which was then passed
at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 1 June 2009) until the conclusion of the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

ERZBER _ETNFOATAARER
EReREBRERAUKESHMEBM(E
RESERRE_ZTTAF A -BRITHR
ARARRBFARE LBBRARR Z A
ETEBRRBFREERAL
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TEERERE

Complied
with (v)/
No. Details Explanation

im ] (3]
BF()/

Implementation

BIER

FRRE(E)

C36 The Audit Committee should be provided with v
sufficient resources to execute its duties.

Recommended Best Practices
BEEREDR

This is part of the rights and powers of the Audit
Committee under its terms of reference.

C37 The terms of reference of the audit committee v
should also require the audit committee:

ERZEGNRELEARRE -

(@) to review arrangements by which employees
of the Company may, in confidence, raise
concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other
matters. The audit committee shall ensure
that proper arrangements are in place for the
fair and independent investigation of such
matters and for appropriate follow-up action;
and

B RAREHA T ZH - ARSI
gt B EE R - AR B iR st H A 75 [E AT AR
BENTEETRRLET - EREEE
EHREREHEE R  BARYNLEEEE
HAFEINRERRESTE - &

(b) to act as the key representative body for
overseeing the Company’s relation with the
external auditor.

EERAREINEZBE MM EEREK
BEER_FZZRNBE-

The Audit Committee has adopted measures
(such as exit interviews with Directors/financial
controller/general manager) to facilitate
appropriate investigation or action by the
management.

ENZEGERRT —LER(IN: B/
MBREREREORBER) T EERRE
fEHEEAEHITE

The Audit Committee meets the external auditor
annually without the presence of the management
to discuss issues including their cooperation and
problems.

EVZECEFAERAERBLRNEBERT
HEINBZMEHR  HPANBTER_ENAE
BEMBELNRE -
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Principle:

RA

D.1

Details

E S

Delegation by the Board
ESEREINER

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation

(3]
B ()
FERE(E)

CORPORATE GOVER
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EEERBRE

Implementation
BiTER

The Company should have a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the Board for its decision and the

Board should give clear directions to management as to the matters that must be approved by the Board before

decisions are made on behalf of the Company.

ARIEE—EEANEEBIR JIEFHEEESERENFTRANEARETEREAPLERAERRA

AFHRERTHESSHLE -

Management Functions
EEIEE

Code Provision

SFAIER

D.1.1

When the Board delegates aspects of its
management and administration functions to
management, it must at the same time give clear
directions as to the powers of management, in
particular, with respect to the circumstances where
management should report back and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions
or entering into any commitments on behalf of
the Company.

EEFOREEERTRIRTENENE
RTERER  VARKRERENES
RYBMMES BRHREMNEERTEE
ERAEZGERARERKRDBELER
RERF LEMAHRERGESSHES
EHIA

Four executive Directors with different expertise
and defined roles are responsible for the daily
operations of various aspects of the Company.
Prior approval from the Board has to be obtained
for all significant matters of the Company.

MUMTESHRAERZBARLFER
AN BERER - BAREENERE
R AR BESSRAREL -
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TEERERE

No.

R

Details

£

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
(3]
BF(W)
FRR(E)

Implementation

BIER

D.1.2 A company should formalise the functions reserved v The Chairman is responsible for the strategic
to the Board and those delegated to management. positioning of the Group, formulating the
[t should review those arrangements on a periodic development objectives and ensuring that
basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the such objectives are implemented by the Board
needs of the Company. accordingly. The Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for overseeing the operations and
RAESBLRE TESTSHBE R LE business development of the Group.
RTERENBEEDHIETE TR RAHLETE
HERFPLERE  UEREAZHENE R IREESENBRIZERERARNRE
AHHRE o VHRELEZHESTSMHENT - THE
HEEEREREENLENEBER -
The Board is also responsible for reviewing the
structure of organisation and Board regularly to
ensure that the Company can operate properly.
EEe BT RN EBLETEREN
BARADNAIZELE -
Recommended Best Practices
EERERR
D13 The Company should disclose the division 4 Please refer to D.1.1.

of responsibility between the Board and
management to assist those affected by corporate
decisions to better understand the respective
accountabilities and contributions of the Board
and management.

ARIEREEEQHEEREE CRANBES
T DB MERERARFEEE THE
SHEEESEANAHARARARELE

T
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E S

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation

(3]
EBF(V)/
FREE(E)
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EEERBRE

Implementation

BT

D.14 Directors shall clearly understand delegation v/ Each of the Directors has a formal letter of
arrangements in place. To that end, the Company appointment setting out the key terms and
shall have formal letters of appointment for conditions in respect of his appointment. They
Directors setting out the key terms and conditions also maintain a copy of the terms of reference of
relative to their appointment. their respective Committees for reference purpose

in the future.
i%ﬁF”TM%mm%ﬁﬁ%kﬁ =
bt RAEEERANESREE  FIHEH ZEERHEERZAEE  FTHFERIRE
ZENT 2R - oA twATEREEMBZEG LR
BEE(ERBR2EZR -

D.2 Board committees
ExZeg

Principle: Board committees should be formed with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with the
committees” authority and duties.

JRA : EEZESNRUEIASENSEREDE  BRIBZESRNLBE

Code Provision

SFRIfESC

D21 Where Board committees are established to v/ The Board has established the Audit Committee,
deal with matters, the Board should prescribe the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
sufficiently clear terms of reference to enable Committee with their own terms of reference.
such committees to discharge their functions
properly. EFEHRINL TEZZESD @Hi/\a

FiREZRES Rimaﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ
AENUEZZEGREEE EFCRR
NBERNFAREZEENBREEE  EF
AEESREESMETERA
D22 The terms of reference of the Board committees v/ This is part of the terms of reference of each

should require such committees to report to the
Board on their decisions or recommendations,
unless there are legal or regulatory restrictions
on their ability to do so (such as a restriction on
disclosure due to regulatory requirements).

EXZEeNBRAERATAEREER
MEFTEFRIARTREZ  KIZFEE
SRR LEERBIATR M AL F L ER ()
MREEREMRHBEE) o

Committees.

SR B ERMEREN—
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EEERERE

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation

No. Details Implementation

wek ESi | (3] BTER
B/
fREE(E)

E. Communication with Shareholders

RRRNEE

Principle: The Board should endeavour to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and, in particular, through annual
general meetings or other general meetings to communicate with shareholders and encourage their participation.

R : EXRERENERRFERFYE  LHARERRBFASIHMOBRAGBEREBLSEIBANS2HE -

E.1 Effective Communication
BEREE
Code Provision
<FRIMESC
E11 In respect of each substantially separate issue at a Each substantially separate issue (including re-

general meeting, a separate resolution should be
proposed by the chairman of that meeting.

ERRAEL @EIFENEREREY
M EEERITEHIRZESR -

election of Directors) was proposed by separate
resolution at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 1 June 2009.

ARAE-ZEAFAA-BETHRERE
FAE BRERBUNFHERERES)
HREHRLAEE -
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Details

E S

The Chairman of the Board should attend the
annual general meeting and arrange for the
chairmen of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee (as
appropriate) or, in the absence of the chairman
of such committees, another member of the
committee or, failing this, his duly appointed
delegate, to be available to answer questions at
the annual general meeting.

EXZRIRELERRBFAE  YLHE
REEg FHZEgRRLZES(REE
ERMEINEIRE  SEZEZEENTIER
FEHS—2RB(HMZBRERELE
AHEEZENRR)ERRBEFAG LOE
T2 o

The chairman of the independent Board committee
(ifany) should also be available to answer questions
at any general meeting to approve a connected
transaction or any other transaction that is subject
to independent shareholders' approval.

EZeETHVZES(WA)NTIFIEAR
ERREAE FEERE  UHERER S
SEMEMALBLRRILENRZ S

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation

(3]
EBF (V)
FREE(E)
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EEERERE

Implementation
BiTER

The Board opts to hold the 2009 annual general
meeting in Hong Kong in order to encourage
shareholders participating actively the annual
general meeting and to allow the Directors to
communicate with shareholders directly.

RTZBRRBEE2 TRRBFA G EE
EMNERERRER EFEEERA
BI_TTNFRRBFAE -

The Chairman of the Board, Mr. Tian Qixiang,
and the chairman of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, Mr. Yue Kwai Wa, Ken, attended the
2009 annual general meeting and was available
to answer questions.

EZQTRAENLERERZES  FM
ZEERRAZEENIRRTERLHNE
HE_SENFRRBFAGURSZIRMA -
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Complied
with (v)/
No. Details Explanation Implementation

1wk ESE | (3] BTER
EBIF ()
fRIE(E)

However, as disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 14 April 2010, the Company
was in breach of the independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Rule 14A.48 of the
Listing Rules in relation to a series of connected
transactions entered into by the Company on
16 December 2009, 17 December 2009 and
23 December 2009 (the “Transactions”). As a
result, the Company should have but had not
held a shareholders’ meeting to approve the
Transactions.

R BMARRBAHAE-_T—FTFNA
THHNAGEE  ARRAR_ETAF
+-A+<B - ZEEAF+-_At+tAR
“EENFT A+ RETHNESREE
RHG([ZERS])F » Bk ETHHEEIZE14A48
IREVB Y IRRALERTE - Bt $®ﬁ$%
HRERTRREASHEZER S

In April 2010, the Board has convened a Board
meeting to approve and rectify the Transactions.
On the other hand, the Board is determined to
uphold a high level of internal control within the
Group and to strengthen the Group's internal
control and corporate governance by:

R_ZE-—ZFMA ESCEFRESEY
& WHERBEZERS - m—H @A
BEEgRTRAEEAARRKTHAE
B WRTIGAMBAEE A ZLEE
RipFEER

providing additional training courses to
the Directors, the senior management and
personnel at the operation level involved in
financial matters of the Group on a regularly
basis;

EHAREEEASEAKEYBEH
EX SREEERETRHBIMEIR
12
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EEERBRE

Complied
with (v)/
Details Explanation Implementation

ES1:] (3] BTER
EBF(V)/
FREE(E)

closely monitoring the level of connected
transactions and/or continuing connected
transactions of the Group by the senior
financial officers of members of the Group
and making monthly report thereon to the
Board;

AAKERE AR SRR EE TR
AEBHER SR/ SFHEBERZ 5K
T URtEARNESTERRES

seeking instruction from the Board whenever
an obligation or possible obligations under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules should
arise;

W AR 15 £ AR B S5 14A S T A HE 3 T B8
AEEE AmEFEsF3E3l

seeking advice and assistance from
professional advisers in reviewing the
Group's internal control and making
recommendations on any improvements
that are required; and

B ) A B R S R A
REH - AELEMUAER RS LG
B R

seeking advice from professional advisers
and the Stock Exchange in the event of
queries or doubts on the application of the
Listing Rules.

¥t EMRRERELFALRRE  BRE
EER B AEHER -
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TEERERE

No.

R

Details

£

Where general meeting to be held, the Company
should arrange for issuance of notice to
shareholders at least 20 business days, and, in
respect of all other general meetings, at least 10
business days, before the meeting held.

MERBRRAE  ARRTHERGRTE
POEEXRARMBREZBA  MBMEHE
ERRAEMmS - AERGRITAMED10
=X BEXBA -

Complied
with (v)/
Explanation
(3]
BF(W)
FRR(E)

Implementation

BIER

The Company issued notice to shareholders on
24 April 2009 (exceeding 20 business days) prior
to the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 1 June 2009.

ARAE_ZZEAFAA-—BRITEARAR
RBFRgH ER-_ETNFHOA-TH
B (ZR20{8% % B )RR REXBEA

Save as the abovementioned annual general
meeting, the Company has held no other general
meeting during the year under review.

bR LRGBS K& A5
ERRE|THMBERAE -

ARAREEF

E.2

Voting by Poll
BREFARR

Principle: The Company should ensure shareholders are familiar with the detailed procedures for conducting a poll.

RA -

ARERERRRATARET NETRRANHARER -

Code Provision

<7 AIIEC

E21

The chairman of the meeting should at the
commencement of the meeting ensure that an
explanation is provided of the detailed procedures
for conducting a poll and then answer any
questions from shareholders regarding voting by
way of a poll.

AReIRERREEZRHRFCEEARE
HRAETRANFARE  REROEBRRE
AR ARREFLER -

Procedures for voting by polls are set out as per
the notice of annual general meeting of the
Company dated 24 April 2009. At the annual
general meeting, the chairman conducted voting
only after having confirmed with shareholders at
the annual general meeting that they have no
problem about the procedures of voting by poll.

WMARBRMA—TTNAFNA-_THAN
BRBEARSBEHA  ERHFIARELTRA
FRWEF - RERBFREL KgXF
EEARRBEFAS LNERRERNSY
RERFRAEARE A ETRERR
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ROMKEGMERH

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA STARCH HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Starch
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) set out on pages 103 to 183, which comprise the consolidated
and company statements of financial position as at 31 December
2009, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates
that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers ZEERKEGHETERFT
22nd Floor, Prince’s Building &8 TR
Central, Hong Kong RFRE2E

Telephone: (852) 2289 8888
Facsimile: (852) 2810 9888
www.pwchk.com

% 5E ¢ (852) 2289 8888
{55 : (852) 2810 9888
www.pwchk.com

BYRBEERE
HHPERVERERATRRE
(RESHESEME L HERLA])

REZEA(ATHBIEMD EEZNNER
F13R1BEFEBMIERERAG(ER
AINDEKEMNBARIATAE EE£E )M
EUBHRE  BEEMBEREBPER_ZEZ
NE+ZA=+—HMERE KRR
BEEBEZALFENGEEIEREE
RERREHRNGEESRER  URE
SETBURLE R M AR -

EERMBBRREAAENER

BERAEZAAERER LG SRM
Y E B B 15 3 Y B MR BREEC ARG
R BR AR E R B M BB T A 51 ek F 4R
BMBHmE - EEERER  Bkg#
BRE N A B M AT b5 B 75 ¥R AR 7
PRIBBAZ B - DAGE B 75 R N7 R IFF =X
$H R M S B AR, EEVEREE
FEETECR - MZIER MER AR A
it

BB EE

RO EERRERMOBZYRXSEAH
BRREHER  TEAZRBRERS - B
bEZ ShAS R B A A B ) o R EFRA
JENE WA LB SR
BT
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BAZBEMRE

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards  FH D BRIESF Bt A @B HNE S FX
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public ~ YEBI#1T31%Z - & LR BRI METE®E
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical R %5 - WIRBIRMITEZ - U BBTIE
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable  BAf&#R3k 2 & T H (FA T ARGt o
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material

misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence %TZ\}*}&%M?E}"JJAZ’%HX%F% B SRR PTEk
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The S ERBEEERNNBXEE - IETHRERF
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including — BURFARZSET &Y HI ET - 55T B R EEE L
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial ~ $EER MBI FE R E 74 5= AR A R
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk [ o fEFE{HZF AR - ZEAEEHZA
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Tﬁﬁ%‘é&ﬁ,\ﬁﬁ N 51| 3 B 7S R 3R AE BE Y
entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial ~ RNEMIEH] - IARETE S NTBZZF - B 3E
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in -~ S AR H R ZPIEH| LR R E R - Bk
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinionon ~ B IETEEERMEANSHBEN S E Y
the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes M Fr{EE M@ sHEETRO A BN - AR ES
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the — FE¥RFERAEERES)H AT -

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well

as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and ﬁiﬁ HBE - BFFESHEZEBRERRTEM
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. HEMARMNEZERIRHER -

OPINION =R

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give atrue and IR A @ ZEE S5 BEHREXDREES
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as B 7§ ¥ & % 8 IJEE MAFE &R HAQF
at 31 December 2009 and of the Group's profit and cash flows forthe & BHEBR-_ZZAF+-_A=+—HHY
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting BN E BE£BHZZ B FFENTHE
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the  RIR& R E & I D IRBEBC D & YR 3

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. BEHTLAERR -
PricewaterhouseCoopers EORKESTMERAT
Certified Public Accountants HESHA

Hong Kong, 23 April 2010 EE —E-FTEMWA=-+=H
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

e EmEWER

For the year ended 31 December

HE+T-_A=1+—HILLFE

Note 2009 2008
B 5 —EBNE —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥FTT AREFIT
Turnover EER 5 1,957,525 1,530,446
Cost of goods sold SHERAR (1,745,584) (1,341,283)
Gross profit EH 211,941 189,163
Distribution expenses HIHEMR (50,981) (51,640)
Administrative expenses THER (47,218) (54,379)
Other income E A 6 11,023 16,269
Operating profit S WIbE 124,765 99,413
Finance income RE WA 2,733 3,852
Finance costs BhE AR (2,169) (3,728)
Share of result of an associate JE(E— KBt DR EAA 2,147 6,444
Profit before taxation BrE AT F)E 9 127,476 105,981
Income tax expenses . prsMies 1066 (10755)
Profit for the year REZEFE 126,814 95,226
Attributable to: AT B IR -
Equity holders of the Company ZAYNSIE- S5 SN 126,659 98,234
Minority interests DB R R 155 (3,008)
126,814 95,226
Basic and diluted earnings FRERREEET
per share (RMB) (AR¥) 13 0.0485 0.0376
Proposed final dividends BORARER B 14 26,682 26,265

The notes on pages 110 to 183 are an integral part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ane BRI L R R

As at 31 December

Rn+=—A=+—H
Note 2009 2008
B 5 —EEBAE —ETNEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WER&E 16 548,014 539,706
Prepaid lease payments FENHEER 17 43,564 27,539
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, UYEEHIE - BE K& &
plant and equipment Eﬁ?ﬁ% 16 - 18,000
Interest in an associate R—FKEEE A R RS 19 39,094 36,517
Deferred tax assets FEERIAEE 26 6,019 206
... 636,691 621968
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 20 194,223 132,292
Prepaid lease payments TERHEER 17 1,175 831
Trade and other receivables B 5 K& H A FE YR 21 214,106 113,555
Pledged bank deposits EHEFRITIFR 22 2,004 -
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEEY 22 291,296 242,825
e ........702,804 489503
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables 5 hEMERNR 23 217,984 152,463
Income tax payable FERTFREHE 10,375 5,128
Employee housing deposits BIFEERZER
— Basic deposit portion —HARRESEH D 24 26,381 26,499
— Instalment portion — D HART REB D 24 - 12,407
Borrowings &k 25 69,509 1,551
... 324249 198048
Netcurrentassets REBEEFE ... 378555 291455
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERE 1,015,246 913,423
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B RS IR L R R

As at 31 December

BW+—-_A=+—H

Note 2009 2008
Gk —REAE  —TIT)\F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETTT ARETTT

Non-current liabilities ERBERS
Deferred tax liabilities FEHIBER 26 75 -
Borrowings & 25 7,312 8,199
Deferred income TRIE A 27 19,602 17,527
_________________________________________________________________________________________________ 26,989 25726
Net assets BEFE 988,257 887,697
Capital and reserves EARR#HE
Share capital &N 28 237,762 237,762
Reserves & 734,120 634,943
Attributable to equity holders A AR 971,882 872,705
Minority interests DERE R IELS 16,375 14,992
Total equity AR 988,257 887,697
Tian Qixiang Yu Yingquan
HE# Fxz
Director Director
g =

The notes on pages 110 to 183 are an integral part of these financial ~ $ 1102183 B MMt T HEI Rz 2 HP I 5 -
statemnents.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R 3 T

As at 31 December

Rn+=—A=+—H
Note 2009 2008
B 5 —EEhE —EENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R BRI E 18 159,121 159,121
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H i Uk 21 - 259
Amounts due from subsidiaries JEUL B A B FRIE 18 454,688 480,851
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREEEY 22 833 9,060
455,521 490,170
Current liabilities REEE
Otherpayables AMEER B 3616 . 3698
Netcurrentassets REREF® 451,905 486472
Total assets less current liabilities HEERABEE 611,026 645,593
Capital and reserves EARRf#HE
Share capital LN 28 237,762 237,762
Reserves s 29 373,264 407,831
Total equity R 611,026 645,593
Tian Qixiang Yu Yingquan
HEH Fuz
Director Director
g =

The notes on pages 110 to 183 are an integral part of these financial 1102183 B MM 3T HEI IRz 2 P &5 -
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEERSER

For the year ended 31 December

HE+T-_A=1+—HILLFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

LNGE SN
Share Share  Special  Capital Statutory Retained Minority
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve profits Total interests Total
SRR
Bx RfEE HARE EXHE  AERE  BEAE Ch i it
Note RVMBOOO  RMBOOO ~ RMB00O  RMBOO0  RWBOOO  RMBO0O  RMBOOO  RMBO0O  RMBOOO
i ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETL
(Note 29(i)
(B0
At T January 2008 R-FEN\E-A-H 477 458893 2080 S7A4 %5 M5502 79341 - TR
Profit for the year RERHE - - - - - BB B BNy %6
Dividends [t} 14 - - - - - 78 (17870) - (78N)
Transfer to statutory reserves E)\IERE - - - - 1888 (11889 - - -
Contribution fiom a minority -FHBLA-%208
shareholder of a subsiciary B - - - - - - - 1800 18000
Issue of bonus shares BATA 28i) 187285 (18728Y) - - - - - - -
At 31 December 2008 RITENF
T-A=1-F 237,762 271608 27,080 57424 04853 213978 872,705 1499) 887,697
At 1 January 2009 NZZENE-F-B B M8 70 TAM G483 239 SDAS 1490 88I6
Profit for the year RERHE - - - - - IRE9 126659 155 126814
Dividends ke 14 - (6 - - - - (62 - 6%
Transfer to statutory reserves E)\IERE - - - - 6 (1216 - - -
Capitalinjecton to non-wholly TETHRE
owned subsidiary HEAdE - - - (1.228) - - (1228) 18 -
At 31 December 2009 R-ZENE
“F=1-H 237762 245,35 27,080 56,1% 77015 38475 971882 16375 988,57

The notes on pages 110 to 183 are an integral part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

nv_\éiﬁﬁﬁééé

For the year ended 31 December

BHE+T_A=1T—HILFE

2009 2008
—EThEF T N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR T T
Cash flows from operating activities RETHEEZHSRE
Profit before taxation B F BB 127,476 105,981
Adjustments for: RERBATIER -
Finance income A WA (2,733) (3,852)
Finance costs & R AR 2,169 3,728
Share of result of an associate JE(E —REFE AR (2,147) (6,444)
Depreciation of property, ME - BEREETE
plant and equipment 61,233 53,353
Realised gain arising on injecting M—REERFNEADE -
property, plant and equipment and TR 55 Ko B AE5 AN -t {5 AR AEAE
land use right as capital to an associate A FBEAME SR (430) (430)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEWSE - BER&E
plant and equipment B8, () 1,762 (173)
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments  FE{FH & FX A § 831 830
Amortisation of staff quarter rental BIFEHESWARES
income and steam connection income BB A 5 (2,384) (4,408)
Net foreign exchange loss bE X E5i8)F 58 - 6,708
Operating cash flows before movements HEESHREH AN
in working capital KERBME 185,777 155,293
Increase in deferred steam connection FORBEBCRIEW AR AN
income 4,459 4,512
Increase in inventories FE’M (61,931) (14,597)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and 5 hHEAEI R (3G ), SR
other receivables (100,551) 19,620
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 N A FEA FRIE N 55,941 30,572
Cash generated from operations KEEERNIRS 83,695 195,400
Income taxes paid BT SR (1,153) (16,029)
Net cash generated from operating activities #& & /EBIFTELMNIRE F5E 82,542 179,371
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERERER

For the year ended 31 December

HE+T-_A=1+—HILLFE

2009 2008
—EEhEF T N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTTT
Cash flows from investing activities RETZHELEZHESRE
Interest received B WFLE 2,733 3,852
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEEWE - BE K& E (55,134) (168,293)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, WY - BEREHD iR
plant and equipment - (18,000)
Increase in prepaid lease payments TERT TR &SRB N (7,620) (191)
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEME - BEREBEER
plant and equipment 1,831 925
Repayments from related companies RN RER - 230
(Increase)/decrease in pledged bank deposits EIXIREITER () HL (2,004) 2,000
Net cash used in investing activities & EENFE AIRE HEE (60,194) (179,477)
Cash flows from financing activities METHELECRERE
Interest paid ERFE (2,169) (1,694)
Dividends paid ERIRE (26,254) (17,870)
Proceeds from borrowings BRATER 67,071 -
Repayments of borrowings EEBN - (102,220)
Decrease in employee housing deposits BTIEERZI2MD (12,525) (9,240)
Capital contribution by minority interests LERRERTE - 18,000
Net cash generated from/(used in) BEEEEL(ER)
financing activities HIR& FE8 26,123 (113,024)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash RekReEBY
and cash equivalents a0, ORd) 58 48,471 (113,130)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FUNHEeRREEEY
beginning of the year 242,825 362,648
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [EXREEFHHTE - (6,693)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FRNBESRRESEEY
of the year represented by bank (ASRITHES RIS R)
balances and cash 291,296 242,825

The notes on pages 110 to 183 are an integral part of these

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2009
E-EEAFT=AS+—AILER

General information

China Starch Holdings Limited (the"Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands under the Cayman Islands Companies
Law as an exempted company with limited liability on 29
November 2006. Its ultimate holding company is Merry Boom
Group Limited (“Merry Boom”) (incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands). The address of the registered office is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P. O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands. The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are the manufacture and
sale of cornstarch, lysine, starch-based sweetener and its related
products and generation and sales of electricity and steam.

The Company has its primary listing on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi ("RMB"), unless otherwise stated, and are approved
for issue by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) on 23 April
2010.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRS") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"). They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in note 4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The Group has adopted the following new/revised
standards and interpretations:

. HKAS 1 (Revised), “Presentation of Financial
Statements”
. HKFRS 8, “Operating Segments”

The adoption of such new and revised standards does
not have material impact on the financial statements
and does not result in substantial changes to the Group's
accounting policies except certain changes on the
presentation of the financial statements.

HKAS 1 (revised), “Presentation of financial statements”
prohibits the presentation of items of income and
expenses (that is “non-owner changes in equity”) in the
statement of changes in equity, requiring "non-owner
changesin equity”to be presented separately from owner
changes in equity. All“/non-owner changes in equity” are
required to be shown in a performance statement.

Entities can choose whether to present one performance
statement (the statement of comprehensive income) or
two statements (the income statement and statement
of comprehensive income). The Group has elected
to present one performance statement. The financial
statements have been prepared under the revised
disclosure requirements.

e M SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2009
E-EEAFT A= +—HILFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2009

2 EF

NE+-A=t—HILFE

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

HKFRS 8, “Operating segments” replaces HKAS 14,
“Segment reporting”. It requires a"management approach”
under which segment information is presented on the
same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes.
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to management.

The following new standards, amendments to standards
and interpretations are mandatory for the first time for
the financial year beginning 1 January 2009, but are not
relevant to the Group:

HKAS 23 (Amendment), “Borrowing Costs”
HKFRS 2 (Amendment), “Share-based Payment”

HKAS 32 and HKAS 1 (Amendments), “Puttable
Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on
Liguidation”
HKFRS 1 and HKAS 27 (Amendments), “Cost of an
Investmentin a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity
or Associate”

HKFRS 7 (Amendment), “Financial Instruments:
Disclosures”
HK(IFRIC)-Int 9, “Reassessment of Embedded
Derivatives” and HKAS 39, “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement - Embedded
Derivatives”

HK(IFRIC) = Int 13, “Customer Loyalty Programmes”

HK(IFRIC) = Int 15, "Agreements for the Construction
of Real Estate”

HK(IFRIC) - Int 16, "Hedges of a Net Investment in
a Foreign Operation”

HK(IFRIC) — Int 18, “Transfer of Assets from
Customers”

HKAS 39 (Amendment), “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement”

HKICPA's improvements to HKFRS published in
October 2008
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The following new / revised HKFRS, potentially relevant to
the Group's operations, have been issued, are mandatory,
and will be adopted by the Group for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2010:

D HKAS 24 (Revised), “Related Party Transactions™

. HKAS 27 (Revised), “Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements”’

. HKAS 32 (Amendment), “Classification of Rights
Issues”

D HKAS 39 (Amendment), “Eligible Hedged Items"’

. HKFRS 1 (Revised), “First-time Adoption of Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards”

. HKFRS 1 (Amendment), First-time Adoption of Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards — Additional
Exemptions for First-time Adopters”

. HKFRS 2 (Amendment), “Group Cash-settled Share-
based Payment Transactions”

. HKFRS 3 (Revised), “Business Combinations”
. HKFRS 9, “Financial Instruments”®

. HK(IFRIC) = Int 14 (Amendment), “Prepayments of
a Minimum Funding Requirement”

o HK (IFRIC) — Int 17,"Distributions of Non-cash Assets
to Owners"!

. HK(IFRIC) — Int 19,"Extinguishing Financial Liabilities
with Equity Instruments”

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July

2009

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2010

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 February 2010

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2010

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2011

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2013

e M SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2009
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2009
E-EEAFT=AS+—AILER

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The adoption of HKAS 27 (Revised) “Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements” and HKFRS 3 (Revised)
“Business Combinations” may have an effect on the
accounting of future business combinations, if any.

Otherwise, save for the above-mentioned, and apart from
certain presentational changes, the adoption of these
HKFRS will have no significant impact on the results and
the financial position of the Group.

In addition, HKICPA also published a number of
amendments for the existing standards under its annual
improvement projects issued in October 2008 and May
2009, certain of which has not yet become effective in
2009. These amendments have not been early adopted
by the Group and are not expected to have a significant
financial impact on the results and financial position of
the Group.

Consolidation
(a)  Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special
purpose entities) over which the Group has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies
generally accompanying a shareholding of more
than one half of the voting rights. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertible are considered when
assessing whether the Group controls another
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
that control ceases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

The purchase method of accounting is used to
account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the
Group. The cost of an acquisition is measured as
the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the
date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable
to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of
the extent of any minority interest. The excess of
the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the
Group's share of the identifiable net assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition
is less than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised
directly in the statement of comprehensive
income.

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position
the investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost
less provision for impairment losses, if any (note
2.12). The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Transactions with minority interests

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions
with minority interests as transactions with
parties external to the Group. Disposals to
minority interests result in gains and losses for
the Group and are recorded in the statement of
comprehensive income. Purchases from minority
interests result in goodwill, being the difference
between any consideration paid and the relevant
share acquired of the carrying value of net assets
of the subsidiary.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

23

Investment in associate

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting and
are initially recognised at cost. The Group'’s investment in
associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net
of any accumulated impairment loss. See note 2.12 for the
impairment of non-financial assets including goodwill.

The Group’s share of its associates'post-acquisition profits
or losses is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in reserves is recognised in reserves. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When
the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or
exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of associates have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, the
investments in associates are stated at cost less provision
for impairment losses, if any (note 2.12). The results of
associates are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividend received and receivable.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

24

25

Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sale of goods and services
in the ordinary course of the Group's activities. Revenue
is shown net of value-added tax, returns and after
eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured, itis probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific
criteria have been met for each of the Group's activities
as described below. The Group bases its estimates on
historical results, taking into consideration the type of
customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of
each arrangement.

Sales of goods are recognised when goods are delivered
and title has passed. Delivery does not occur until the
goods have been transported to the specified locations,
the risk of obsolescence and loss has been transferred to
the customers and the Group has the objective evidence
that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

Sales of steam and electricity are recognised when steam
and electricity are generated and transmitted.

Steam connection income received from customers for
the provision of steam supply are deferred and amortised
into the statement of comprehensive income over the
estimated usage period.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.5 Leases (Continued)

(i)

(i)

The Group as lessee

Rental payable under operating leases are charged
to statement of comprehensive income on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to
enter into an operating lease are recognised as a
reduction of rental expense over the lease term on
a straight-line basis.

Land use rights

Land use rights are accounted for as operating
leases and amortised over the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

2.6 Foreign currency

(i)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Renminbi, which is the Company’s
functional and the Group's presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.
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E-EEAFT A= +—HILFE
2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 FESBIEEHBE %)
(Continued)

2.6 EE(E)

2.6 Foreign currency (Continued)

(iii)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

- assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the end of the reporting
period;

- income and expenses for each statement
of comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions); and

- all resulting exchange differences are
recognised as a separate component of
equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign
operations are taken to shareholders’equity. When
a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold,
exchange differences that were recorded in equity
are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.7

2.8

2.9

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised as and included in
finance costs in the statement of comprehensive income
in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with
all attached conditions.

Grants related to depreciable assets are deducted in
arriving at the carrying amount of the relevant assets.
Grants related to the expense items are recognised in
the same periods as those expenses charged in the
statement of comprehensive income and are reported
separately as “other income”.

Employee benefits
(i) Pension obligations

The Group operates defined contributions pension
plans in Hong Kong and the Mainland China. A
defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay
all employees the benefits relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.9 Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Pension obligations (Continued)

In Hong Kong, the Group'’s contributions to the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are expensed
as incurred. Both the Group and its employees
in Hong Kong are required to contribute 5% of
each individual’s relevantincome with a maximum
amount of HK$1,000 per month as a mandatory
contribution. The assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the Group and managed
by independent professional fund managers.

For employees in Mainland China, the Group
contributes on a monthly basis to various defined
contribution plans organised by the relevant
municipal and provincial governments in the
PRC based on certain percentage of the relevant
employees’ monthly salaries. The municipal and
provincial governments undertake to assume
the retirement benefit obligations payable to all
existing and future retired employees under these
plans and the Group has no further constructive
obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond the
contributions made. Contributions to these plans
are expensed as incurred.

Bonus entitlements

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised
as a liability when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of services
rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of
the obligation can be made. Liabilities of bonus plan
are expected to be settled within twelve months
and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when they are settled.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.9 Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-
based compensation plan. The fair value of the
employee services received in exchange for the
grant of the options is recognised as an expense.
The total amount to be expensed over the vesting
period is determined by reference to the fair value
of the options granted, excluding the impact of
any non-market vesting conditions (for example,
profitability and sales growth targets) and including
that of non-vesting conditions (for example, the
requirement for employees to save). Non-market
vesting conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of options that are expected to
vest. At the end of the reporting period, the entity
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest. It recognises the impact of the
revision of original estimates, if any, in the statement
of comprehensive income, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share
capital (nominal value) and share premium when
the options are exercised.

2.10 Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax

currently payable and deferred tax.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.10 Taxation (Continued)

2 FESHEEHSE®)

2.10 HIE(E)

(i) Current tax () EHHE
The current tax is calculated on the basis of the EHMERRNREARETRR R
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the HIt B A A& & REEBRTK
end of the reporting period in the countries where ARFEBRREERKZEE L2
the Company and its subsidiaries operate and EmMBATE - EEREER
generate taxable income. Management periodically MBEOZZEARBAIERE
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect BRI RN - EEE N
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is EEABR TIRBEHRARBRB
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions HERA ST T B B KRR TE 1A o
where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

(i) Deferred tax (i) EAEFIE

Deferred taxisrecognised, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or a liability in
a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries
and associate, except where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled
by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 FES:EHEME )

(Continued)

2.10 Taxation (Continued) 2.10 BB (E)

(i) Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when
the deferred taxes assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the taxable entity or different taxable
entities where there is an intention to settle the
balances on a net basis.

2.11 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than those under
construction, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Plantand equipment
under construction for production, rental oradministrative
purposes, or for purposes not yet determined, are carried
at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Plant
and equipment under construction is classified to the
appropriate category of plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Depreciation in property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight line method to allocate
their cost to their residual values over the estimated
useful lives as follows:

Buildings 15-35 years
Plant and machinery 5-12 years
Motor vehicles 6 years
Other machinery 4-10 years

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.11

2.12

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the assets.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included
in the statement of comprehensive income in the period
in which the item is derecognised.

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries and
associate and non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example
goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment.

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting
date.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
and associate is required if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 FES:EHEME )
(Continued)

2.13 T3

2.13 Research and development expenditure

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as
incurred. Costs incurred on development projects
(relating to the design and testing of new or improved
products) are recognised as intangible assets when all of
the following criteria are fulfilled:

(@) itistechnically feasible to complete the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

(b)  management intends to complete the intangible
asset and use or sell it;

(c) there is an ability to use or sell the intangible
asset;

(d) it can be demonstrated how the intangible asset
will generate probable future economic benefits;

(e) adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell
the intangible asset are available; and

(f)  the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset
during its development can be reliably measured.

Other development expenditures that do not meet
these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Development costs previously recognised as an expense
are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.
Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible
assets and amortised from the point at which the asset
is ready for use on a straight-line basis over its useful life,
not exceeding five years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.14 Inventories

2.15

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net

realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted

average method, comprises materials, direct labour

and production overheads. Net realisable valve is the

estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,

less applicable variable selling expenses.

Financial instruments

Financial assets

(i)

(i)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets into loans
and receivables.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. They are
included in current assets, except for those with
maturities greater than 12 months after the end of
the reporting period. These are classified as non-
current assets. The Group's loans and receivables
comprise ‘cash and bank balances’ and ‘trade and
other receivables’ in the statement of financial
position (notes 2.17 and 2.19).

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date — the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

The Group assesses at the end of the reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. Impairment testing of trade and other
receivables is described in note 2.19.
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e B IS R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2009
E-EEAFTAS+—AILER

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.16 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends
are approved by the Company’s shareholders.

2.17 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months
or less.

2.18 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-
maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the Board of Directors.

2.19 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold in the ordinary course of business. If collection
of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if
longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they
are presented as non-current assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.19 Trade and other receivables (Continued)

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment. A provision for impairment of trade and
other receivables is established when there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all
amounts due according to the original terms of the
receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor,
probability that the debtor will enter into bankruptcy or
financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in
payments are considered indicators that the receivable
isimpaired. The amount of the provision is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of
the assets is reduced through the use of an allowance
account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income within administrative
expenses. When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written
off against the allowance account for receivables.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited against administrative expenses in the
statement of comprehensive income.

2.20 Share capital

2.21

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs,
net of tax, directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction from the
proceeds.

Trade payables

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

3

E-RPAFT-AS+—RILEE

Financial risk management

(a)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
borrowings, trade and bills receivables, trade and bills
payables, employee housing deposits, pledged bank
deposit, bank balances and cash and amounts due
from/to related companies. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments and the
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Market risk
(i) Foreign currency risk management

The Group undertakes certain transactions
denominatedinforeign currencies,hence, exposures
to exchange rate fluctuations arise. Approximately
10% of the Group’s sales are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of
the Group entity.

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by
closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rate.

The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of
the transactions settled in RMB. Foreign exchange
risk arises when future commercial translation or
recognised assets and liabilities are denominated
in a currency that is not the entity’s functional
currency. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk primarily with respect to United States Dollars
and Hong Kong Dollars.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)
(b) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Foreign currency risk management (Continued)

The Group's assets and liabilities, and transactions
arising from its operations primarily do not expose
to material foreign exchange risk. Other than certain
cash and bank balances, trade and other receivables
and trade and other payables, the Group’s assets
and liabilities are primarily denominated in RMB.
The Group generates RMB from sales in the PRC to
meet its liabilities denominated in RMB. The Group
has not used any forward contracts or currency
borrowings to hedge its exposure as the cost-
benefit is considered not effective.

At 31 December 2009, if RMB had strengthened/
weakened by 5% (2008: 5%) against United States
Dollars with all other variables held constant, pre-
tax profit for the year would have been RMB159,000
lower/higher (2008: RMB125,000 higher/lower),
mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains
(2008: gains/losses) on translation of United States
Dollars-denominated other payables and cash at
bank.

At 31 December 2009, if RMB had strengthened/
weakened by 5% (2008: 5%) against Hong Kong
Dollars with all other variables held constant, pre-
tax profit for the year would have been RMB231,000
(2008:RMB1,606,000) lower/higher, mainly as aresult
of foreign exchange losses/gains on translation of
Hong Kong Dollars-denominated other receivables,
other payables and cash at bank.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009
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Financial risk management (Continued)

(b)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Price risk management

Corn kernels are the major raw materials of the
product of the Group and they are subject to
commodity price changes in the commodity
market. During the year, management did not use
any commodity futures to control the exposure to
price fluctuations of corn kernel. Instead, purchases
are made in bulk at the time when the market price
of corn kernel is considered as low.

Interest rate risk management

The Group's income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates and the Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets except for the bank balances
and deposits, details of which have been disclosed
in note 22. As at 31 December 2009, all of the
Group's interest-bearing financial liabilities are
carried at fixed rate which exposes the Group to
fair value interest rate risk.
The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to variable
interest rates for variable-rate cash at bank, bank
deposits and bank borrowing. Interest rates had
been increased/decreased by 50 basis points is
used when reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

As at 31 December 2009, if interest rates had been
increased/decreased by 50 basis points and all
other variables were held constant, the Group's
profit after tax for the year ended 31 December
2009 would increase/decrease by RMB1,266,000
(2008: RMB1,082,000). This is mainly attributable to
the Group's exposure to interest rates on its variable
rate cash at bank and bank deposits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables from third parties. Management has a credit
policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks
are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses
the creditability of each of the potential customer’s credit
quality and defines credit limit to each customer. In order
to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts.In determining whetherallowance
for bad and doubtful debts is required, the Group takes
into consideration the aging status and the likelihood
of collection. Following the identification of doubtful
debts, the responsible sales personnel discuss with the
relevant customers and report on the recoverability,
specific allowance is only made for trade receivable that
is unlikely to be collected. In this regards, the directors
of the Company are satisfied that this risk is minimal
and adequate allowance for doubtful debts, if any, has
been made in the financial statements after assessing
the collectability of individual debts.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks in the PRC.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk in respect of the trade and other receivables, with
exposures spread over a number of counterparties and
customers.

Liquidity risk

To manage the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009
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Financial risk management (Continved) 3 HMBEMRERE®)
Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) #RBESRMRE)
Asat31 December 2009, the Group has available unutilised RZEBEZFENF+_A=+—8 K&
bank loan facilities of approximately RMB401,000,000 B AHRETERREN A AR
(2008: RMB370,000,000). 401,000000C( ZEZENF: AR
370,000,0007T) °
Liquidity table TEER K
The following table details the Group's contractual TRAHAEENTESRAGBNS
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The RIERIR o xR HERAKBAEL X
= o =3
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted ?gfiEgﬁmﬁﬁffﬁﬁm*ﬁﬁﬁi
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date ”‘LE%”\E : RABRBENEEBEHART
4 . RBRELRE
on which the Group can be required to pay. The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted
cash flows:
Between Between Total
Within 1-2 2-5 Over undiscounted
1 year years years 5 years cash flow
ARRE
—FHR —-FEME WEERE BBLE bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
2009 “BEAF
Trade and other payables ZHREMERNR 217,984 - - - 217,984
Loans B
—interest free %8 2,438 886 2,659 3,767 9,750
- interest-bearing —: B 67,071 - - - 67,071
Employee housing deposits BEIFERES 26,381 - - - 26,381
313,874 886 2,659 3,767 321,186
2008 —RENE
Trade and other payables B 5 KA 152,463 - - - 152,463
Loans BX
- interest free %8 1,551 886 2,659 4,654 9,750
Employee housing deposits BIRERER 38,906 - - - 38906
192,920 886 2,659 4,654 201,119
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial risk management (Continued)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined inaccordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis or using
prices from observable current market transactions.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements approximate to
their fair values.

(e) Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividend paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
the cost of capital.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

Critical accounting judgements and key
sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 2, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions on the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009
E—EENF+_A=+—HLLEE

4 Critical accounting judgements and key
sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

4.1 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

(a)  Impairment of trade and bills receivables

Note 2.19 describes that trade and bills receivables
are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any identified impairment
losses. An impairment loss is recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income when there
is objective evidence that the asset is impaired,
and is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows as expected by
management discounted at the original effective
interest rate. Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected, a material impairment loss
may arise.

(b)  Valuation on inventories

The Group assesses periodically if the inventories
have been suffered from any impairment in
accordance with the accounting policy stated
in note 2.12. The Group carries out an inventory
review on a product-by-product basis at the end
of the reporting period and makes allowance for
obsolete and slow-moving items. The management
estimates the net realisable value for such finished
goods, work in progress and raw materials primarily
on the estimated future selling price and market
conditions.Where the estimates of the net realisable
value are less than expected, a material allowance
may arise.
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4 (Critical accounting judgements and key
sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

4.1 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(©)

(d)

Income taxes and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required
in determining the provision for income taxes in
each of these jurisdictions. There are transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current
and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax loss are recognised when
management considers it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which
the temporary differences or tax losses can be
utilised. When the expectation is different from
the original estimate, such differences will impact
the recognition of deferred tax assets and taxation
charges in the period in which such estimate is
changed.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is
based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives of property, plant and equipment
of similar nature and functions. It could change
significantly as a result of technical innovations and
competitor actions in response to severe industry
cycles. Management will adjust the depreciation
charge where useful lives are different to that of
previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets
that have been abandoned or sold.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009
E-EEAFTAS+—AILER

5 Turnover and segments information

An analysis of the Group's turnover for the year is as follows:

EXERTBEHR
REBMPNAFENEEBINAT -

2009 2008
—BENF —ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBET T AR TTT

Cornstarch and corn-refined TR R E KR
products NIEmR 1,425,700 1,065,915
Lysine and its related products BamBMEERER 394,984 369,832
Electricity and steam BEOREAR 131,339 94,699
Starch-based sweetener A HE 5,502 -
1,957,525 1,530,446

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the

Board. The Board reviews the Group’s internal report in order to

assess performance and allocate resources. Management has

determined the operating segments based on these reports.

The Board considers the business segmentation from product

perspective. Management assesses the performance of

cornstarch, lysine, starch-based sweetener and electricity and

steam.

Cornstarch

Lysine

Electricity and steam

Starch-based sweetener
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the manufacture and sale
of cornstarch and its related
products

the manufacture and sale of
lysine and its related products
the production and sale of
electricity and steam

the manufacture and sale of
starch-based sweetener

IBLERRABEREFTS EFXTERE
BIAREE 2z ARHRE - URFERBALDEE
R EEBEREZFREEELEDH

EERUERMBERLHEH N - ERET
EEKRY  BEE - RDEAREN R
AR ZRE -

FARBE - EENHEEIKBYH
K EAEREE M

FE R - FEREERRER
HARAE R

BANEKAR - EERBEENREA
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Turnover and segments information (Continued)

The Board assesses the performance of the operating segments
based on a measure of segment results. This measurement
basis excludes the effects of non-recurring expenditure from
the operating segments, such as impairments when the
impairment is the result of an isolated, non-recurring event.
Interest income and expense are not included in the result for
each operating segment that is reviewed by the management.
Other information provided, except as noted below, to the
management is measured in a manner consistent with that in
the financial statements.

Total segment assets exclude deferred tax assets and total
segment liabilities exclude income tax payable and deferred
tax liabilities as these are managed on a central basis. These
form part of the reconciliation to total assets and total liabilities
per consolidated statement of financial position.

Sales between segments are charged at cost. The revenue from
external parties reported to the management is measured in
a manner consistent with that in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.

5

e M SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-BBAFT-A=+—AILFE

ERERDIER )

EXeRBENHEGEIREEN I 2K
B oo WA EEEY B AKLE N BNIELE
s fltn R E(ER BRI EEE =M
MELZRE) - FEWARZTETEETA
REEERMNSEEDEEEN - Fr Tt
B RETEEBZEMEMNETA
BB RARPIERAE — B -

DEBEENBRELERBEE - Mo R
BEMTEEERMNMERMEERERARE
RARZEBRBNETER  WIEAKEY
iRk B EERBRENHRID

7 HB [ $H B AR AR HIRL » A B IE B E 2 5D
MM EREERR S 2 WS RATRA
FE—E e
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For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-BBAF A=+ —RILFE

5 Turnover and segments information (Continued) 5 EEFERDHBER (&)
Starch- Reportable

Electricity based segments
Cornstarch Lysine and steam sweetener total Unallocated Total
UHE

IXRY  BER THIREN  ROR  2¥e R2E ait
RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBO00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEBTL ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETL

(Note)
(FzE)

For the year ended BE-ZINE+ZR

31 December 2009 =t+-ALEE
TURNOVER EEH

Total sales HEER 1,425,700 394,984 272,659 5502 2,098,845 - 2,098,845

Inter-segment sales AEEEE - - (141,320) - (141,320 - (141,320)
External Sales HIMEE 1,425,700 394,984 131,339 5,502 1,957,525 - 1,957,525
Segment results DHEE 95,301 70,929 49,473 (1,378) 214,325  (89,560) 124,765
Depreciation and

amortisation WENEH 20,306 19,701 17,238 425 57,670 4,394 62,064
For the year ended BE-ZEINE+ZR

31 December 2008 =t+-HLEEE
TURNOVER EEH

Total sales HEESE 1072815 369,832 235288 - 1677935 - 1677935

Inter-segment sales PHEEE (6,900) - (140,589) - (147489) - (147489)
External Sales HIMEE 1,065,915 369,832 94,699 - 1530446 - 1530446
Segment results DHEE 89,941 66,831 19,39 - 176,168 (76,755) 99413
Depreciation and

amortisation WENEH 14,745 17,798 15014 - 48457 5,726 54183
Note: Unallocated items mainly include government grants and izt : APOBEIEEB ETBEFEREDE Z MR S0

corporate costs which cannot be allocated to individual BIBRUT 7 B R (D BERR AR o
segments,
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Turnover and segments information (Continued)

e M SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-BBAFT-A=+—AILFE

5 ZEXRBERoBER

Starch- Reportable
Electricity based  segments
Cornstarch Lysine and steam  sweetener total Unallocated Total
L&
TRBH BER BARER BiR  2Bas *9E ait
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT
(Note)
(FitT)
Asat31December2009 R=-BENE
t=h=+-H
Segment assets HHEE 478021 154492 199,730 52,270 880513 452,963 1,333,476
Including: 2R
Interest in an associate R—REE N RER - - - - - 39,094 39,094
Additions to property, REME
plant and equipment e
and prepaid lease IRBREER
payments 28,363 8,636 1,773 30,430 69,202 21,132 90,334
Segment liabilities PHaR 83,235 31,862 33,795 7113 156,005 184,783 340,788
Including: o
Borrowings fak - - - - - 76,821 76,821
Employee housing EIRERES
deposits - - - - - 26,381 26,381
Deferred income BN - - 19,602 - 19,602 - 19,602
Asat 31 December 2008 H=EENE
+ZR=1-H
Segment assets NHEE 380,321 164481 170,709 - 715511 395754 1,111,265
Including; B
Interest in an associate R=FE 2R AHER - - - - - 36,517 36517
Additions to property, REME
plant and equipment B REE
and prepaid lease RBAEER
payments 144319 7,503 12,867 - 164,689 3,795 168,484
Segment liabilties AHaE 3716 25414 27,000 - %,130 122516 218646
Including: 2R
Borrowings fEm - - - - - 9750 9750
Employee housing BEIRERER
deposits - - - - - 38,906 38,906
Deferred income BIEHA - - 17527 - 17527 - 17527
Note: Unallocated items mainly include assets and liabilities that are izt APEEE TEBETEESEBITM AR
not directly attributable to any reportable segment. ENHNEENAE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-BEAFT-A=+—RILFE

5 Turnover and segments information (Continued)

A reconciliation of results of reportable segments to total profit
before taxation is provided as follows:

5

EREROBER @)

AT 3R 0 BB H S48 B AR AR AT A AR ER MY BT RR

mF -

For the year ended
31 December

BE+-A=t—HLHFE

2009 2008

—EZEhE —ETNEF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TTT AREFIT

Results of reportable segments AIEDE S 214,325 176,168
Unallocated income AOBUA 8,639 9,336
Unallocated expenses RABCHZ (98,199) (86,091)
Total segment results DI MBS 124,765 99,413
Finance income BE A 2,733 3,852
Finance costs Bl E AR (2,169) (3,728)
Share of result of an associate Eh—REGEE R B LA 2,147 6,444
Profit before taxation IR 127,476 105,981

The amounts provided to the Board with respect to total assets
are measured in a manner consistent with that of the financial
statements. These assets are allocated based on the operations

of the segment.

Reportable segments’ assets are reconciled to total assets as

AEESRUABEEEN
BRI RR P AE — B
ERE B IEDRL

B|oHAED
ZEBEND

AIHRED N EERBEEENLRET

follows:
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+-—8H
2009 2008
—EEAF —ZTENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
Reportable segments’ assets AIREDEEE 880,513 715,511
Unallocated: RAER :
Prepaid lease payments TERHEER 44,739 28,370
Interest in an associate R—KEE AR ERE 39,094 36,517
Pledged bank deposits EHEBIRITIER 2,004 -
Cash and cash equivalents RERREFEY 291,296 242,825
Other unallocated assets HEt AR DB EE 75,830 88,042
Total segment assets DEpEEE 1,333,476 1,111,265
Deferred tax assets BEERIRE E 6,019 206
Total assets as per consolidated A B EmET
statement of financial position KB E E 1,339,495 1,111,471
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Turnover and segments information (Continued) 5

The amounts provided to the Board with respect to total
liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with that of
the financial statements. These liabilities are allocated based
on the operations of the segment.

Reportable segments’liabilities are reconciled to total liabilities
as follows:

E M ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2009
BHE-_ZZNF+-_A=+—HILFE

ERERTIER )
AEESRMHARE ’E@E’J/Pﬁﬁﬁ H
ANEPBHRERAERAE R - ZFAE
EBE)EEEDES

palils

85
5

_\

AREDENAERARGENHENT

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H

2009 2008

—EThEF T N\F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T AERETTT

Reportable segments' liabilities AHESEAE 156,005 96,130

Unallocated: ROBL -

Employee housing deposits BETEERES 26,381 38,906

Borrowings RN 76,821 9,750

Other unallocated liabilities HEtw ki afs 81,581 73,860

Total segment liabilities DEBEAE 340,788 218,646

Income tax payable FERTFR1S L 10,375 5,128

Deferred tax liabilities BEMIBERE 75 -
Total liabilities as per consolidated 4R & MG BE T

statement of financial position REEE 351,238 223,774

The result of its revenue from external customers in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") for 2009 is RMB1,753,206,000
(2008: RMB1,296,381,000), and the total of its revenue from
external customers from other countries is RMB204,319,000
(2008: RMB234,065,000).

At 31 December 2009, the total of non-current assets other
than interest in an associate and deferred tax assets (there
are no employment benefit assets and rights arising under
insurance contracts) located in the PRCis RMB591,462,000 (2008:
RMB585,156,000), and the total of these non-current assets
located in other countries is RMB116,000 (2008: RMB89,000).

RZZEZENF REFEARALMNE
(THFBEDHINREPRAEEARA AR
#1,753206000( —ZEFENHF : AR®
1,296,381,00070) * MR B EMBERINRE P
B U A 4258 A AR #5204,319,0007T (ZTEN
&+ AR¥234,065,0007T) °

RZZFEZENF+ZA=+—8 " BR—KH
M‘Wﬁ’]%ﬁn&aﬁkmﬁéﬁ(mﬂﬂﬁ
BN TEERERNEERERN)IN - 15
PRI IEREEERE A ARKS591,462,000
TT(ZZEE)N\F . ARMES585,156,0007T) © M
MR EMBEROIERDEEREAARE
116,000 (ZFE)\F © ARM89,0007T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-BEAFT-A=+—RILFE

6 Other income 6 HMWA

2009 2008
—EEhE ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARET T
Government grants (Note (i),(ii), (i)~ BURF#8 B (B EEG) ~ (i) B (iin)) 3,060 5,737

Amortisation of staff quarter rental 8 TTE&HE & U A B (I :E27)
income (Note 27) - 2,476

Amortisation of steam connection 3%z B U A B 8 (P 5£27)

income (Note 27) 2,384 1,932

Realised gain arising on injecting ~ M—REEE R BEAWE -
property, plant and equipment R K s A - b FRAEVE B

and land use right as capital FEEANE SR
to an associate 430 430
Gain on sales of scrap of coal and oil 5% /&8 M BEh 89 Zs 2,251 1,744
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, HEWE « BE &&RE
plant and equipment (B1B), W (1,762) 173
Others Hity 4,660 3,777
11,023 16,269
Note: sk -
()  For the year ended 31 December 2009, government grants iy HEZEZAF+-_A=Z+—BHLFE F
of approximately RMB3,060,000 was paid by 3¢ M EIIK KTV B BEHREBERECEY - HIEER
/& (Shouguang City Finance Bureau) for the purpose of the ERREEAEME N BT#EARE
encouragement in replacing aged machineries, prevention of 3,060,0007T © % i )4 B 75 B ER AT BB OR TE
air pollution; and provision of heat supply subsidy. They were WESEEEIEE -

granted at the discretion of the government and were not
recurring in nature.

iy BATRERTBREZE_TTNF+_A
=t+—B I FERAE BB BRI
IR 73 B A R #55,000,0007T ° 1% H Y Bh Y
RIS R BIELEHME -

(i) Government grant of RMB5,000,000 was paid by 3¢ mRIE
i B (Shouguang Technology Bureau) for the year ended 31
December 2008 in respect of the development of 65% lysine
technology. It was granted at the discretion of the government
and was not recurring in nature.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009
E-EEAFT A= +—HILFE

6 Other income (Continued) 6 HftA®)
Note: (Continued) Miat - (&)
(i) Government grant of RMB737,000 was paid by =3¢ B iy, BATHEHBREZ_TTNF+_A=
/& (Shouguang City Finance Bureau) for the year ended 31 +— B I FE XA BT ARE737,000
December 2008 to support a subsidiary, IIEFHE S T AL EMBATILESRELLS K
EKFEZEAFBRAE (Shandong Shouguang Juneng Golden BERAT(SEK])  BHRNEAER
Corn Development Co,, Ltd.) ("Golden Corn”), being one of the NS BIBR RN ER - B

largest agricultural businesses in the city and the application . . o -
gt a9 ‘ yand e app B T E T O R 2 3 B R AR ML -

of environmental-friendly and energy-saving facilities. It was

granted at the discretion of the government and was not

recurring in nature.

7 Finance income 7 BWERA
2009 2008
—EENEF —ET)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ANREF T
Interest income on bank deposits  $R1T1FE KA F B UL A 2,733 3,852
8 Finance costs 8 RERX
2009 2008
—EENEF —ET)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ANREFIT
Imputed interest on employee BTIFEERZER
housing deposits B E F S - 2,034
Interest on loan from a — & VHRRERD
minority shareholder BEHFE 79 -
Interest on discounted bills AR EER R B 2,090 1,694

2,169 3,728
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

HE-_ZTZAF+-_A=+—HIFE
9  Profit before taxation 9 BRBLATFIE
Profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging/ BREATAIEE 0B, (GEA) THIZIE -
(crediting):
2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
Depreciation of property, Yz - WE R
plant and equipment BB E 61,233 53,353
Amortisation of prepaid lease TESHE &R 54
payments 831 830
Total depreciation and
amortisation e M e 62,064 54,183
Loss/(gain) on disposal of HEYE - BE R&E
property, plant and equipment Ei1a, () 1,762 (173)
Net foreign exchange loss ME 1R R R 335 7,406
Cost of inventories recognised ERAZ A
as expenses FERAR 1,634,599 1,224,103
(Write-back of provision)/ FERE
provision for impairment of (BERE), BiE
inventories (3,839) 3,839
Operating lease payments KEHESRR 559 552
Employee benefits expenses EERAFAX
including directors’ emoluments BREEEME
(Note 11) (MEE11) 57,357 45,948
Research and development M RHEER
expenses 1,092 1,151
Auditor’s remuneration G 1,391 1,737

10

Income tax expenses

10 FI8HixH

HRAREZERXMEFERALEERSE
EESRINE - S EREENSHREL
B o BIMBHRARRFE AL R
BERAREEEXGRARNBRITHERGTH -

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group entities’ profit neither arose in nor was derived from
Hong Kong during both years. Taxation on overseas profits
has been calculated on the estimated assessable profits for
the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009
 E—EENFT_A=+—HLEFE

Income tax expenses (Continued) 10 FRfB®Hix(#)
2009 2008
—EEhEF ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETTT

PRC corporate income tax Bl TS

- Current year —AREFE 11,685 9,778
— Over provision in prior years — B FEHREERE (5,285) -
Deferred tax (Note 26) RAEFLIE (M9 5E26) (5,738) 977
662 10,755

The tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit
before taxation as follows:

AREEE RS ] R AT A SR -

2009 2008
—EEhEF T N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETIT
Profit before taxation B A5 A A1 127,476 105,981
Tax at the corporate income PATS SEFTIS TR % 025%
tax rate at 25% (2008: 25%) (ZEZNF: 25%) T EMTIE 31,869 26,495
Tax effect of share of result of FEME—FKEE & A RIS E (FOBRTRIE)
an associate net of tax ISR E (537) (1.611)
Effect of different tax rate Tl—JfR—'—EI'J%‘E 576 384
Effect of tax holiday EEMENTE (16,795) (16,103)
Tax effect of expenses that are not & JF F& sk i F B A
deductible in determining N HB R RS B &
taxable profits 1,529 5,187
Tax effect of income not taxable BERBWANT B E (1,360) (548)
Tax loss for which no deferred EHRARLEHIBEE T
tax asset was recognised KI5 518 - 4,357
Over provision in prior years ARG (5,285) -
Recognition of previously WA RERTSER
unrecognised tax loss B HERR (4,357) -
Reduction of income tax in respect FARLHE FI 28 2 Fr 1554
of tax benefit (4,978) (7,406)
662 10,755
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For the year ended 31 December 2009
(E_TTNFT _A=T—HILFE

10

11

Income tax expenses (Continued) 10 FiBHixd @)
Note: BT
On 16 March 2007, the PRC promulgated the Law of the People’s —EELF=ZA+H FERBEPEARKL
Republic of China on Enterprise Income Tax (the "New Tax Law”) by fﬂlif SBo35TAM T R EARLM Iu—_%ﬁﬁ
Order No. 63 of the President of the People’s Republic of China. On 26 BFSETHBOE]) - RZTBEZELE+ 2B =1<
December 2007, the State Council of the PRC issued the Notice of the EI AP (3 B 75 B B 4K Eﬁ%iﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ?@ﬁ@
Implementation of the Grandfathering Preferential Policies under the HEBEEBEY (B ]) (FE202007155395%) * B
New Tax Law (the “Notice”), (Guofa [2007] No. 39) the applicable tax “EENF—A B FIEPECENBEAR
rate for all the PRC enterprises will change to 25% from 1 January 2008. KB F25% o SAEFTR A8/ B BART Bk L AR
The Notice provides a five-year transition period from its effective date B ERNERPESROIZBEREREEE
for those enterprises which were established before the promulgation M A4 NHEEA T AEATAS
date of the New Tax Law and which were entitled to a preferential EH . At @ X KB _EENFHRETE=ZF
lower tax rate under the then effective tax laws or regulations. Thus, EZREINEDEMETRIEE -
Golden Corn can still entitle to 50% relief of PRC Foreign Enterprise
Income Tax for the next three years from 2008.
Further under the New Tax Law, non-resident enterprises without AN - ABEFEL  FEERDEN D EIER ST
an establishment or place of business in the PRC or which have an S EMRME Sk AR S ES BB R R
establishment or place of business in the PRC but whose relevant U A B rh B B <7 R S b BN M S kRl - 88
income is not effectively connected with the establishment or a place R EIEE A (HIaN2R B BIIR A IR ) B AN
of business in the PRC, will be subject to withholding tax (depending TR (R FRZAOTHENEEKRR) -
on the applicable tax rate on the treaty) on various types of passive
income such as dividends derived from sources within the PRC.
According to the notice Caishui 2008 No. 1 released by the Ministry AR 15 B BB M B R A 48 B T B A 8 A0 B #2008
of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation, distributions of F15E - MINEDRES —_ZEE N\FAINEZFMNER
the pre-2008 retained profits of a foreign-invested enterprise to a ZEENFIUED R TIHINEESE - RIS ETE
foreign investor in 2008 or after are exempt from withholding tax. RE e Bt AEBEIINEBECERZZTELF+=
Therefore, the retained profits at 31 December 2007 in the Group's A=+—HMEMEEE A BFHEFHER
foreign-invested enterprises’ books and accounts will not be subject 15 2R 73 Tk B S AR FE IR R ©
to withholding tax on future distributions.
As at 31 December 2009, no deferred tax liabilities have been recognised —EENF+ZA= ‘f’ H - BRARRAEEH
in respect of the tax that would be payable on the distribution of aZS@\\ﬁu;%E’JHQ R MABEBEEAB A&
the retained profits of the Group's foreign-invested enterprises as AR ARRTEEE - WILESLS ?JEZIKE@M\E
the Company controls the dividend policy of these foreign-invested CEBENENEMNNFHEEDETHERE -
enterprises and it is probable that such differences will not be reversed
in the foreseeable future.
Employee benefit expenses (including 11 EEREFBEX(BEEE#HE)
directors’ emoluments)
2009 2008
—EBAF AN
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARET T
Wages and salaries TERFS 42,721 34,162
Pension cost EReER 6,458 6,767
Staff welfares S TEA| 8,178 5019
57,357 45,948

No forfeited contributions are available to reduce the
contribution payable by the Group in future years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-BBAFT-A=+—AILFE

12 Emoluments for directors and five highest 12 BEERIEEZESHFATHEHS
paid individuals

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEME
Basic Retirement
salaries and Discretionary benefit
Fees  allowance bonus contribution Total
EXge RIK
EA KR BERA BAHER HE

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000
ARBTT AREBTR AREBTIRT ARETRT ARETR

2009 ZBEAE
Executive directors HITES
Tian Qixiang HEH - 516 500 - 1,016
Yu Yingquan T2 - 300 500 - 800
Gao Shijun BttE - 360 500 20 880
Liu Xianggang EEd - 252 500 20 772
- 1,428 2,000 40 3,468
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Dong Yanfeng G 50 - - - 50
Yu Shumin RN 50 - - - 50
Cao Zenggong BT 30 - - - 30
Yue Kwai Wa, Ken REE 89 - - - 89
219 - - - 219
219 1,428 2,000 40 3,687
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For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-BEAFT-A=+—RILFE

12 Emoluments for directors and five highest 12 EERAEZRESHFATHIME (2)
paid individuals (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EEM€(E)
Basic Retirement
salaries and  Discretionary benefit
Fees allowance bonus  contribution Total
EXEe RIK
-4 FEE BBRAL BAMR e

RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBTT  ARBTT ARBTL ARETT AREBTR

2008 —ETN\F
Executive directors HOTES
Tian Qixiang MEH - 516 500 - 1016
Yu Yingquan Faz - 300 500 - 800
Gao Shijun StE - 360 500 16 876
Liu Xianggang EEL - 252 500 16 768
- 1428 2,000 32 3,460
Independent non-executive BUFNTES
directors
Dong Yanfeng g 50 - - - 50
Yu Shumin KRE 50 - - - 50
Cao Zenggong 330 30 - - - 30
Yue Kwai Wa, Ken REE 89 - - - 89
219 - - - 219
219 1,428 2,000 32 3,679
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For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-BBAFT-A=+—AILFE

12 Emoluments for directors and five highest 12 EERAEZRESHFATHEIE 2
paid individuals (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) BEEEEHFAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments REBREHSHFALTH  OF(=ZE
in the Group, four (2008: four) were directors of the ENFWUEZ)AEKANAINES  BF
Company whose emoluments are presented above. The HEEN EX2F - BT —%(ZEZ
emoluments of the remaining one (2008: one) individual NF —RB)meETATHMESOT ¢

were as follows:

2009 2008
—2TNF ZETN\F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETIT

Employee EE
— basic salaries and allowance —EXFH® KERL 596 551
— retirement benefits scheme —RIREFFHEI R
contribution 11 8
607 559
The emolument was within RMB1,000,000. HE W NS 75 AR #1,000,0007C A A ©
(c) During the year, no emoluments have been paid by the (0 A AEEWMERNESSAZESH
Group to the directors or any of the five highest paid AT AEE - ERRSI A IIAZ
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the SERMNEESIEAREBANRHE -

Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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e B IS R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-PEAF A=+ —RILFE

13 Earnings per share 13 SREF
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to RABERESEEABLSREREBTT)
the ordinary equity holders of the Company is based on the WA EEE

following data:

2009 2008
—2TNEF ZET)\F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETIT

Earnings 2 F
Earnings for the purpose of ARG EERERZTN 8RBT
basic earnings per share (RREE=FAA
(profit for the year attributable JEAEARFEFE)
to equity holders of the Company) 126,659 98,234
2009 2008
—EENF —_ZT)\F
Number of shares ROEE
Weighted average number of AT EGIREARR T
ordinary shares for the purpose LB I
of basic earnings per share 2,612,500,000 2,612,500,000
No diluted earnings per share has been presented because HRZEZNFER _ZEZNFHELEEY
no dilutive potential ordinary shares exist for both 2009 and AREELBER WUIRZISRESRE
2008. ) o
14 Dividends 14 BRE
2009 2008
—EEhEF —ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T AREFTT
Dividend paid during the year: FHRNEMRKRE :

Final dividend, paid at HK1.14 cents REIE B EX &K
(2008: HK3.83 cents) per ordinary A% 1.14781
share —ZTT)\F : 383%1l) 26,254 17,870
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M SRR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-BBAFT-A=+—AILFE

14 Dividends (Continued) 14 RE (&)
A final dividend of HK1.16 cents per share has been proposed EERRERERESR 6B - AR
by the directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders R R BN ST R BEF K2 FiE - 7
at the forthcoming annual general meeting. AEE -
2009 2008
—EENAEF —TENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMET T ARBTTT
Dividend payable to the FER R BIRRAR B, -
shareholders of the company:
Final dividend proposed after PR B SR R BRAR B,
the end of the reporting period TR E BRI 6L
of HK1.16 cents per ordinary (ZZ2ZNF  GREBER.14800)
share (2008 : HK 1.14 cents per
ordinary share) 26,682 26,265
The final dividend proposed after the end of the year has not RERBEIRA AR BN RS H R R
been recognised as a liability as at the end of the reporting REAE-
period.

15 (Loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of 15 ZQ TR FE AR (EE), F

the Company pid

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company is dealt RArREREE ABLER AR S313,000
with in the financial statements of the Company to the extent 7T (ZZEZNF  FE A R #43,009,0007T)
of RMB8,313,000 (2008: profit of RMB43,009,000). BEEARAFBHRRPRIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B IS R R MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-BEAFT-A=+—RILFE

16 Property, plant and equipment 16 Y% - BRERRE

Group
PN |
Plant and
equipment
Plant and Motor Other under
Buildings machinery  vehicles machinery construction Total
"2
BF BER#E RE  Ht#E BERSRE &t
RMBOOO  RMB000  RMBOO0  RMB000  RMB00O  RMB'00O
AREBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT AR®TT ARETT
Cost A
At 1 January 2008 RZETN\F—-HA—H 251,467 395,575 5,008 9,671 195 661,916
Additions NE 12,271 55,618 2,042 14,729 83,633 168,293
Transfers BE 11,505 39,577 - 7977 (59,059) -
Disposals HE (74) (2,344) (156) (200) - (2,774)
At 31 December 2008 RZZFN\F+=RA=1+—H
and 1 January 2009 FZTENF-A—H 275,169 488,426 6,394 32,177 24,769 827,435
Additions NE 19,005 8,264 1621 3,824 40,420 73,134
Transfers = 9,269 48,999 - 1297 (59,565) -
Disposals HE (336) (5775) (874) (2,262) (448) (9,695)
At 31 December 2009 RZZFAFTZA=+—H 303107 539914 7,641 35,036 5176 890,874
Accumulated depreciation Z&HTE REE
and impairment
At 1 January 2008 RZETN\F—-HA—H 69,967 159,135 1911 5,385 - 236398
Depreciation charge FERNHEER
for the year 9,142 40,394 974 2,843 - 53,353
Disposals HE (74) (1,685) (65) (198) - (2,022)
At 31 December 2008 RZZFN\F+=RA=1+—H
and 1 January 2009 RZTENF-A—H 79,035 197,844 2,820 8,030 - 287,729
Depreciation charge FRTEER
for the year 10,205 44,939 1175 4914 - 61,233
Disposals HE (226) (3,345) (484) (2,047) - (6,102)
At 31 December 2009 RZEZNFFZA=+—H 89014 239,438 3511 10,897 - 342,860
Net carrying value REFE
At 31 December 2009 RZEZNFTZA=1+—H 214093 300476 4130 24,139 5,176 548,014
At 31 December 2008 RZZTN\FH+ZA=1+—H 19,134 290,582 4074 24,147 24,769 539,706
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Pursuant to the provisional sales and purchase agreement
("Agreement”) entered into between a subsidiary, namely, E&/5
Eae e T AKREWMAER AR (Linging Deneng Golden Corn Bio
Limited) ("Deneng Golden Corn”), and a minority shareholder
of Deneng Golden Corn, & /B2 8E £ W EHE B R A &) (Linging
Deneng Bio Technology Limited) (“Denang Bio Tech”), on 9
April 2008, the Group has paid a deposit of RMB18,000,000 for
additional purchase of property and building from Deneng Bio
Tech. In addition, the Group has also agreed to acquire the land
use right (the same location of property and building) from
Deneng Bio Tech at the lower of the costs incurred by Deneng
Bio Tech and RMB20,000,000 (Note 31).

In 2009, the Group has obtained the land use rights for
RMB17,200,000 (Note 17) and the related property and building
have been capitalised as property, plant and equipment at
RMB18,000,000. Although the Group is in the application
process for the title of property and building, the directors
of the Company are of the view that the Group is entitled to
lawfully and validly occupy and use the above-mentioned
buildings. The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
the aforesaid matter will not have any significant impact on the
Group's financial position as at 31 December 2009.

E M ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-BBAFT-A=+—AILFE

16 M%¥ - BMERRXE S

BRIEHBAGRBEEESTIREMERA
a([fEgEe ERDBEEES ERIHERR
REREEYMRBERAR(EBEEEYE
BORZZZN\FHANBITUNBEES
wE(ZWE])  AEBEEHREEEY
REEEREIMIEREFM MRS AR
18,000,0007T © It - NEE JFE R B MERE
EYRHZE T R E(R Y ERIETFH
AR  REABEEDEESIENE
FA 2 A R #20,000,0007T M & AR 89 8K & (BT
F£31) °

AEBR T NFEESF ARK17,200,000
TOHY T A RE17) - MABRE YD % K ig
FE AR 18000000THEM ¥, BWE
BEZER - BERNEBINENIERE
X¥REFEBNFE ARRESRAELE
BIEBHEEA M R AR A RERL EE
FoARBEENRE NLEBHALH
MN-ZZEAF+-A=+—BHHERRL
BmEATE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B IS R R MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-BEAFT-A=+—RILFE

17

18

Prepaid lease payments

17 AHEHER

Group
KEH
2009 2008
—EEhE —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TTT AREFIT
Cost A
At 1 January n—H—H 35,081 34,890
Additions NE 17,200 191
At 31 December R+=—H=+—H 52,281 35,081
Accumulated amortisation REtE#s
At 1 January nw—A—H 6,711 5,881
Amortisation charge for the year — FRE#HEE H 831 830
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 7,542 6,711
Net book amount BRENFE
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 44,739 28,370
Land in the PRC held under LR R E AR
medium-term lease BHAMLH 44,739 28,370
Analysed for reporting purposes:  {EZFRABZRA DT
Current mE 1,175 831
Non-current JERED 43,564 27,539
44,739 28,370
Subsidiaries 18 KB A F
(@) Investments in subsidiaries (a) RMBRATNERE
Company
RKAF
2009 2008
—EEhE —ET)NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFIT
Unlisted investments, at cost  FF FHRE (R A) 159,121 159,121
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

E M ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2009
E-EEAFT A= +—HILFE

18 Subsidiaries (Continued) 18 B AT (&)
(a) Investments in subsidiaries (Continued) (a) REBATKNKRE(E)
The following is a list of subsidiaries at 31 December N-ZEBEENFE+_A=+—"HOHREBEA
2009 ARSI
Issued and
Place of Place of fully paid up/ Interest
Name of companies incorporation  operation registered capital held (%) Principal activities
BRTRER/ Pz

RNEER AR EE  EEHE R EA (%)  EFEXK

Sourcestar Worldwide Inc. BVI Hong Kong US$240 ordinary shares 100 Investment holding

Sourcestar Worldwide Inc. EERARKE AR UOETHERR 100 REER

China Starch Group Limited ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong HKST ordinary share 100 Investment holding

RERHEEERAR 30 30 TR R 100 REER

Golden Corn"? PRC PRC RMB380,000,000 100 Manufacturing and sale of

eEXK 2 s s AR #380,000,0007T 100 cornstarch, lysine and
related products

BUERHE TR -

BakREREER

Deneng Golden Corn'* PRC PRC RMB200,000,000 91 Manufacturing and sale of

Eaee EK H H AR 200,000,0007T 91 cornstarch, starch-based
sweetener and related
products

SERIHE TR -

BN IEE R

! Subsidiaries are held indirectly by the Company. AR REEREENKB AR

2 The entity is a wholly foreign owned enterprise. P REBBRRIINERE-

3 The entity is an equity joint venture enterprise. P REBRREBKERE-

(b) Amounts due from subsidiaries (b) EWKEBITRE
The amounts due from subsidiaries are denominated in FEW B AR RIBLAEITIE » BIEE
Hong Kong Dollars, non-trade, interest free, unsecured 528 EBEREREREREER -

and repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-FEAF A=+ —RILFE

19 Interest in an associate 19 R—FREE QAT WER
Group
AEH
2009 2008
—BEAE  —TINE
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETIT

Unlisted investment, at cost FEETIRE (RAKA) 38,186 38,186
Less: Unrealised gain arising on B EAYE - BB RERER

injecting property, plant TH S RREIEREE

and equipment and land use B AR B3R Yz

right as capital contribution (2,703) (3,133)
Share of post-acquisition profits DGR ) 3,611 1,464

39,094 36,517
As at 31 December 2009 and 2008, details of the Group's interest RZBEENERZEENEF+ZA=1+—
in the associate, X & ER S MR BR A (Shouguang B AEERBEARSESEREERY
Golden Far East Modified Starch Co., Ltd.) are as follows: BRAFIMERFFROT
Issued and Attributable
Place and date of fully paid equity interest
incorporation registered capital of the Group Principal activities
= 110 AR 5L it 26 ERITR
& A BT R E A 75 B PR 4L AR A FTEEK
PRC US$9,600,000 49% Research, development,
F 9,600,0003E 7T manufacture and sale of
25 September 2004 modified starch and
—EEMFENA=THA their related products
s FE - BER
HRBZEm
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-BBAFT-A=+—AILFE

19 R—KBEQRNEDR @)
REBEHEARMAHERAWT

19 Interest in an associate (Continued)

Summarised financial information of the Group's associate

is as follows:
2009 2008
—EEAEF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ANREEFTT
Total assets 1BEE 112,637 105,446
Total liabilities FE=Er (27,337) (24,527)
Net assets BEFE 85,300 80,919
2009 2008
—EBNE —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Revenue WA 170,257 216,229
Profit for the year REZF|E 4,382 13,151

20 Inventories 20 FE
Group
TEH

2009 2008
—BBAE  —TTNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETFIT
Raw materials AR 143,635 61,226
Work in progress R 16,405 7,168
Finished goods RIFK oh 34,183 63,898
194,223 132,292
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-FEAFT-A=+—RILFE

20 Inventories (Continued) 20 FE#)
The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included BRATEMBEEIHER A INFEKA
in “cost of goods sold” amounted to RMB1,634,599,000 (2008: ABNERME] 634599000 ( ZEEZENE : AR
RMB1,224,103,000). #£1,224,103,0007T) °
For the year ended 31 December 2009, write-back of provision BE_ZETNF+_A=+—HIFE B
for inventories of RMB3,839,000 (2008: provision for inventories RO 17 E R A RE38390000( =2
of RMB3,839,000) has been recognised and included in “cost \EF - IFEEE ARE3,839,0007T) * WEE
of goods sold” BENEEA]A -
21 Trade and other receivables 21 B RHAMBERR
Group Company
rEH RKAHE
2009 2008 2009 2008
“EERAE —TT)\F ZEBBIE —TT)\F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREBTT AR¥TRT ARETT
Trade receivables B 5 WK 57,187 43,105 - -
Bank acceptance bills RITHR AR 153,054 63,548 - -
Other receivables H th & WK 3,865 6,902 - 259
214,106 113,555 - 259
The Group normally grants credit period ranging from 0 to 60 NEE—METFTEELHNEERHRERNTH
days to customers. E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2009
E-EEAFT A= +—HILFE

21 Trade and other receivables (Continued) 21 EFREMEWRRE)
AN AR haE BRI E 5 UG BRBR DA

An ageing analysis of trade receivables at the end of the
reporting period is shown as follows:

Group Company
rEE AT
2009 2008 2009 2008

—BTAE —TT/\F —BFRE —TT)\F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARMTT ARMTIR ARETR

0 - 30 days TE=+H 49,008 38,138 - -
31 - 60 days =+—Z=X+H 928 1,474 - -
61 — 90 days ANT—ZhTH 689 51 - -
Over 90 days N+BUE 6,562 3,442 - -

57,187 43,105 - -

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
credit quality of each of the potential customer and defines
credit limits of each customer. Credit limits attributed to
customers are reviewed monthly. Credit qualities of trade
receivables neither past due nor impaired have been assessed
by reference to historical information about the counterparty
default rates, based on which no impairment provision is
considered to require.

Included in the Group's trade receivables balance are debtors
with aggregate carrying amount of RMB6,668,000 (2008:
RMB4,316,000) which are past due but not impaired. These
relate to a number of independent customers for whom there
is no recent history of default.

EEMEAHELPH  AREEFAERE
EEFPHNEREMRBREPREEER
B BEPFNEERBSEAFLRT - L E
BHRHENESRETNEELRZ2RY
TEBEEQRERCETHE - MIKEE R
B RRABAELRERS

AEENESREREHEREERELER
AR #6668000c( — 2T )\F: AR#
4,316,00070) OB IBR X - BREAFIAE BB EIH
BWEFE - ZSEBREBTNEERLH
NEZZBLEFER -
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e IS R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-_ZZNF+_A=+—HLLEFE

21 Trade and other receivables (Continued) 21 BESRHEMBERRE
Ageing analysis of trade receivables which are past due but EE R IE/WTEE’]%?%J*HQ K B e 9 AT
not impaired is shown as follows: ZZI]—IT :
Group Company
rEE NG|
2009 2008 2009 2008

—FENF —TT\F —FEAF —TTF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMTRE ARMTR ARMTE ARMTR

0 - 30 days TE=+H - 110 - -
- 60 days =+—ZX+H 106 713 - -
61 — 90 days AT—ZATH - 51 - -
Over 90 days N+BRE 6,562 3,442 - -
6,668 4316 - —
Included in the trade receivables are amounts due from related BN BEEWEENRKIE AR
companies of RMB6,397,000 (2008: Nil) and an associate of 6,397,000C( ZF T\ F : &) REWEE A
RMB16,842,000 (2008: RMB6,428,000). No impairment has been BRI AR #16,842,0007T ( _iﬁj\i A
made to receivables from related companies. R #56,428,0007T) © FEULEHE N RIHFRIE I £
{ERERDRE o
Bank acceptance bills RITERHERE
Group Company
AEE RKAHE
2009 2008 2009 2008

—2FNF ZFTT/\F ZBENF ZTT/\F
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARETIT AR®TR ARETIT

Discounted bills (Note 25(a)) ALIR R (P 5E25(@)) 67,071 - - -
Endorsed bills BERE 27,555 27,651 - -
Bills on hand FHRERE 58,428 35,897 - -
153,054 63,548 - —
The bank acceptance bills are normally with maturity period of RITERAEE - RIBHRAE—BNTAH
180 days (2008: 180 days). There is no recent history of default (ZZEZENF : —aNA\TRH) - RITEALER
on bank acceptance bills. MERNP B B ACER o
As at 31 December 2009 and 2008, all other receivables aged RZEENFRZFEENF+_A=+—
between 0-30 days. H BB FNERREHERTEE=T
E o
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21 Trade and other receivables (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the trade and other receivables are

e MRS ERER M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-BBAFT-A=T—AILFE

21 BHREMERRE)
B 5 T EL At FE MK ) BR T (8 DA T 31 55 85 51

denominated in the following currencies: 1B :
Group Company
rEE AKAF
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EEAE —TENF ZBEAFE —ZTTN\F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETT AR¥ETR AREBTT
Hong Kong Dollars BIT 149 405 - 255
British Pound e - 4 - 4
Euro BT - 2,437 - -
Renminbi AR 213,957 110,709 - -
214,106 113,555 - 259

22 Cash and cash equivalents and pledgedbank 22 BRE&RBEEEBEY R EFERIT

deposits EE N
Group Company
rEE b N/N|
2009 2008 2009 2008
“EEAE —TTN\F ZBEAF —_TT)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARSI AREBTT AR®TR ARETT
Cash and cash equivalents: RekBEEEY :
Cash at bank and in RITHEERFHE
hand (Note (a)) Re (Mit@) 291,296 207,497 833 3,587
Short-term bank EHISRITIER
deposits (Note (b)) (FH7ED)) - 35,328 - 5473
291,296 242,825 833 9,060
Pledged bank deposits EHEFRITIFR 2,004 - - -
293,300 242,825 833 9,060
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e IS R AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2009
E-EEAFT-AS+—ALER

22 Cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank

22 RERBEEEYREERRT

deposits (Continued) FEhE)
Cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits are RekBRFEBYREERRITERIATS
denominated in the following currencies: EHEE -
Group Company
AEME RAFE
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENFE —ZE)N\F ZBEAFE —ZTTN\F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ETRT ARETIT AR¥TRT ARBTT
United States Dollars ETT 5,404 574 - -
Hong Kong Dollars BT 4,501 33,442 833 3,587
British Pound e - 5473 - 5473
Renminbi (Note (c)) AR () 283,395 203,336 - -
293,300 242,825 833 9,060
Note: B EE
(a)  Cash at banks earns interest at daily floating rates of bank (@) RITIRSTMRIBITERNEHE B KRB
deposit. F B, o
(b)  Short term time deposits are made for varying periods of b)) REHTHFANEFEHRHAE-—BE=@AT
between one day and three months depending on the %= BIEAREENEIBBESERMTE @ Wik
immediate cash requirement of the Group, and earn interest FEFER S Bl E BRI 0 R R BEEV R &, o
at the respective short-term time deposit rates.
() The Group's bank balances and deposits denominated in RMB © AEENUAREBIERNRITERRIFHRIF

are deposited with banks in the PRC. The conversion of these
RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies and the
remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to the rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the
government of the PRC.
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23 Trade and other payables

e ISR ER M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-BBAFT-A=T—AILFE

23 ESREMENRK

Group Company
F%E LN
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEBEBAF —_TT)N\F ZBBAF —_TT)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARBTT ARMTRT ARETT

Trade payables =Y AN 85,528 58,053 - -
Bills payable AN 2,712 - - -
Total trade and bills payables B S SR R ER
SR 88,240 58,053 - -
Advances from customers EYSE 53 60,389 29,868 - -
Deposits Hicn 2,818 7,569 - -
Sales commission HERE 3,723 4320 - -
Other tax payables Hith eS8 12,616 13,684 - -
Accrued expenses FEFTE R 4,100 1,719 1,616 1,698
Payroll and welfare payables e Er & K AET 5,854 5817 2,000 2,000
Payable for construction BERBBREMNK
and equipment 34,649 22,544 - -
Others HA, 5,595 8,889 - -
129,744 94,410 3,616 3,098
217,984 152,463 3,616 3,098

Bills payable are secured by pledged bank deposits (Note 22)
of RMB2,004,000 and bank acceptance bills of RMB708,000.

ENEEEUNEEFRIERARE
2,004,0007C (Mt 5E22) M RT3 i IR AR B
708,000 7TV o
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e B IS R R MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-_ZZNF+_A=+—HLLEFE

23 Trade and other payables (Continued) 23 EFRHEMESRE
The following is the ageing analysis for the trade and bills T ARERKRESENE &FEH;KFEE’]%
payables at the end of the reporting period: BT
Group Company
rEE PN
2009 2008 2009 2008

—RENF —TT)/\F ZBRNEF —TT)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETIT AR®TR ARETIT

0 - 60 days TE+H 52,521 32,874 - -
61 — 90 days At—Zh+H 11,114 9,997 - -
Over 90 days A+BBE 24,605 15,182 - -
Total a&t 88,240 58,053 - -
Included in the trade and other payables are payables to BoONEMENRBRERNBEARIR—F
related companies and a minority shareholder amounting DB R EFRIE 3 Bl B A RHE50,00070( = F
to RMB50,000 (2008: RMB160,000) and RMB4,516,000 (2008: F)\EF : ARH1600007T) B AR #4,516,000

T ( —FEE : T ) o
RMB2,415,000) respectively. TL=FF\E : ARH24150007C)

The average credit period on purchases is 80 days. The Group %Kﬁﬁﬁ’]$i/j EEHANTH - AEEDHT
has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that MERREEEEK  UBRAEENZNE
all payables are paid within the credit time frame. FAEEHANRSZT -
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E M ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2009
BHE_TTNFT_A=T—HIFE

23 Trade and other payables (Continued) 23 EFRHEMENSRKE
The carrying amounts of the trade and other payables are B NREMERNE E’JEEETEL/\T&_'J 5 7|
denominated in the following currencies: 1B :
Group Company
rEE AT
2009 2008 2009 2008

—RENF —ETT)\F ZBENEF —TT)/\F
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000
ARMTT ARBTT ARWTRT ARETT

United States Dollars ETT 2,220 3,067 - -
Hong Kong Dollars BT 1,636 1,719 1,616 1,698
Renminbi AR 214,128 147,677 2,000 2,000
217,984 152,463 3,616 3,698
24 Employee housing deposits 24 BETEERES
Group
REH
At 31 December
R+=—A=+—8H
2009 2008
—EEhE —EENF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETIT

Basic deposit portion HARESHD 26,381 26,499
Instalment portion o BRS EGER - 12,407
Instalment portion refundable: AR B 5 B K&

Within 1 year —F R - 12,407
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For the year ended 31 December 2009
 E—EENF+_A=+—HLLEE

24

Employee housing deposits (Continued)

The Group offers quarters to the staff with the aim of promoting
long service with the Group. These quarters are constructed by
the Group and offered to staff for application on a periodic basis.
Due to the excess demand of staff quarters and the relatively
substantial construction costs involved, the staff are required
to place housing deposit to the Group. The Group utilises the
amount received from staff as general working capital.

The employee housing deposits consist of two portions, the
basic deposit portion and instalment portion. Basic deposit
portion is interest free, unsecured and repayable one month
upon the return of the staff quarters by the employee
or termination of employment. The instalment portion is
unsecured and repayable by instalment of 30% at the end of
the third and fourth year from the date on which the instalment
portion is received. The remaining 40% of the instalment
portion is repayable at the end of the fifth year from the date
on which the instalment portion is received.

The imputed interest of instalment portion on initial recognition
and recognition of interest expense is determined with
reference to the bank deposit rate of 3.88% per annum. In
light of the strong cashflow position, the directors of Golden
Corn passed a resolution on 28 November 2008 to repay all
the remaining instalment portion of employee housing deposit
in March 2009. Therefore, the imputed interest for the year
ended 31 December 2008 of the instalment portion has been
reversed and charged to the statement of comprehensive
income statement.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-BBAFT-A=T—AILFE

25 Borrowings 25 AR
Group
AEE
2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTTT
Cash advances for discounted bills, MIREEMRERY
secured (Note (a)) 2R (s (a)) 67,071 -
Government loan, unsecured BT ESR - EEA
(Note (b)) (M3 (b)) 9,750 9,750
76,821 9,750
Carrying amount payables: JERTBREIE
Within 1 year —FR 69,509 1,551
Between 1 and 2 years —FEMF 886 886
Between 2 and 5 years MEERF 2,659 2,659
Over 5 years i ARG 3,767 4,654
76,821 9,750
Less:  Amount due within one year B ERBEEE TN —FA
shown under current liabilities FEm e R (69,509) (1,551)
7,312 8,199
Note: BIEE
(a)  The Group discounted bills receivable of RMB67,071,000 (2008: @ AEEEWFRTUHRZEREBARE
Nil) to banks in exchange for cash as at 31 December 2009. The 67,071,000C( ZZEZENF : E)ER =
transactions have been accounted for as collateralised bank TEZENF+-_A=+—HELR - JABE
advance. The cash advances for discounted bills are repayable RE - KPUBFEFNRITRRALR ©
within one year and bear interest at 1.71% to 5.04% per annum. BRIREENA LIS AR —FRNEE -
Interest expense on discounted bills for 31 December 2009 is N UAFERIR 71%E5.04%5F B o R ==
RMB2,090,000. ZNF+ZA=1T—H  BRZEENF

BX H A AR 090,0005T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-_ZZANF+-_A=+—HLEFE

25 Borrowings (Continued) 25 fEM#E)

Note: (Continued) BsE : (48)

(b)  Government loan represented government assistance provided b)) BUTEFESAMYBRER_ZTLNFN
to Golden Corn, for its corn refinery production by Finance ABFERRMIAEER® ERRBHROBITE
Bureau of Shouguang City in April 2004. The balance is Bh o sZ&ERTVEET - RENAER-ZT—N
unsecured, interest free and fully repayable by 6 April 2019. Fr0A /\El)qu%%ﬂg;& BEERE &
According to the loan agreement, the loan is repayable by 11 FERZZTENFNANBRIEFS +—H
annual instalment commencing from 6 April 2008. BE -

As at 31 December 2009, all of the Group’s interest bearing RIZEZAF+-_A=+—H AEEKAM

borrowings are carried at fixed rate and the effective interest EEBEFREUETH RS METEF

rate is 3.36% (2008: 0%). HEF336%(—FT)\F : 0%) °

26 Deferred taxation 26 EIEBIIE

Deferred income taxes are calculated in respect of temporary LLFﬁ/E BMIMRBESEFEARRERR 2

differences under the liability method using the tax rates EREEMAER LB BT RTER

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting Hv%ﬁ °

period.

The balances shown in the consolidated statement of financial KEEERIEE  FEPBIRAmEKRNERN

position are, after appropriate offsetting, as follows: N

2009 2008

—EENF —TENF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARET T

Deferred tax liabilities BEXERIBEEE (75) -
Deferred tax assets EERIEE EE 6,019 206

5,944 206
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For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-BBAFT-A=T—AILFE

26 Deferred taxation (Continued) 26 EIEFIE (&)
The movement on the net deferred tax is as follows: FIERIEF AT
2009 2008
—EEhE —EENF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETIT

At 1 January m—H—H 206 1,183
Credited/(charged) to the statement A (1K B ) 2 EKEER

of comprehensive income 5,738 (977)
At 31 December W+=—A=+—H 5,944 206
The movement of deferred tax assets and liabilities prior to PRI RE — A e AR R A ASeRAT - IRIER
offsetting of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction HEEMBENEIINT
is as follows:
Deferred tax liabilities EEFREEE

Realised gain on injecting
property plant and,
equipment and land use
right as capital contribution
EAYE - BERRE
MiERAEERIEEE
HWE SR kE
2009 2008
ZEEBAF —ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T

At 1 January R—HA—H (1,713) (1,605)
Charged to the statement of REBRERP G

comprehensive income (107) (108)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H (1,820) (1,713)
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For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-BBAF A=+ —RILFE

26 Deferred taxation (Continued) 26 ELEBIE(#)
Deferred tax assets EEFEEE

Impairment

of property,

plant and

equipment
Taxloss  RREH Other Total
nBEE e Ht a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARBT T ARETTT ARSTTT

At 1 January 2008 RZTEENF—H—H - 2,167 621 2,788
Charged to the statement of REE YRR
comprehensive income - (248) (621) (869)
At 31 December 2008 and RZZZNF+H
1 January 2009 =t+—BRZZEZTNF
—H—H - 1,919 - 1,919
Credited/(charged) to the BA(H0RE)2E
statement of Wk
comprehensive income 6,019 (174) - 5,845
At 31 December 2009 RZZZTNF
+-A=+—H 6,019 1,745 - 7,764
Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carry- RETIBE E DA ERBE B SRR
forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related tax RERT A IR Mt AT E RSB BIE
benefit through the future taxable profits is probable. As at ReR_TZNF+-_A=+—H £&
31 December 2008, the Group did not recognise deferred B RFERAIELTHIA R E /A KR4,357,000

TG 0 JYRARA AT AR I R IR E SR B U A R 5 1B
AR#17,429,0007T ° RIERRESEEH R
T—_FRH - R_FTAF+_A=+—
B E ARG ERE -

tax assets of RMB4,357,000 in respect of losses amounting
to RMB17,429,000 that can be carried forward against future
taxable income. The unrecognised tax losses will expire in
2012.There are no unrecognised tax losses as at 31 December
20009.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

E-FF

NFEFZA=+—HILEFE

27 Deferred income 27 EEWRA
Group
rEH
Staff
Steam quarter
connection rental
income income
A BIES Total
ERWA HEWA a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT AREBTT
At 1 January 2008 R-_ZEZENF—H—H 14,947 2,476 17,423
Additions 2 n 4,512 - 4512
Amortisation for the year NEGEE (1,932) (2,476) (4,408)
At 31 December 2008 and RZEZENF+=-_A=+—H
1 January 2009 MZZETNF—HA—H 17,527 - 17,527
Additions N 4,459 - 4,459
Amortisation for the year REEEIH (2,384) - (2,384)
At 31 December 2009 RZTEENFF+=—A=+—H 19,602 — 19,602

Steam connection income represents the payment received/
receivable from customers for the connection of steam
pipelines.

The deferred balance of staff quarter rental income is
determined based on the difference between the nominal
amount and the fair value of the instalment portion of the
employee housing deposits (Note 24) at initial recognition. It
is amortised over the expected occupancy period of the staff
quarter by the employees of 5 years on a straight-line basis.

In light of the strong cashflow position, the directors of Golden
Corn passed a resolution on 28 November 2008 to repay all the
remaining instalment portion of employee housing deposit in
March 2009. Thus, the deferred balance of staff quarter rental
income as at 31 December 2008 was fully amortised.

EAEBRBABEREFEREZAEENE
W, YUK

BETEEHSBEERARBERZETIEER
78 & (P 5E24) B9 0 BN SRR 3 I Sx ) W R B
MWREEE QN ENZEETE o ZFHKEMN
ERZERHETEREIEEHEAFA

ERRERERRIBR  EERNEEN
ETNF+-AZTNABBERZE R=
ETNF-AEREIFERBENMAER
ToOHES o Eitt - EIESESIBELERA
HRECR _ZTZEN\FT _A=+—"H2H
B3 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-_ZZNF+_A=+—HLLEFE

28 Share capital

28 WA

Movements in the Company’s authorised share capital are as

RARHDEEBRARZEE T

follows:
Number of shares  Share capital
G EE @S
‘000 HK$'000
T % TATT
Authorised EE
At 1 January 2008 RZZETNF—H—H 1,000,000 100,000
Increase on 16 May 2008 (Note () RZ=ZTZN\FFRA+7xB#INKIEW) 9,000,000 900,000
At 31 December 2008 and 2009 RZZEN\FER_ZTTNF+=_A=1+—H 10,000,000 1,000,000
Movements in the Company’s issued share capital are as ARABHBEBITIRAZESH T
follows:
Number Share
of shares capital
RHEE [N
‘000 HK$'000 RMB'000
T 1% FET ARETT
Issued and fully paid ERTREZR
At 1 January 2008 RZZETN\EF—H—H 522,500 52,250 50,477
Bonus shares issued on 16 May RZZEZNFRA+RA
2008 (Note (i) BATAL AR (B E () 2,090,000 209,000 187,285
At 31 December 2008 and 2009 RZZEZENER-_ZTTNF
+-A=+—H 2,612,500 261,250 237,762
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28 Share capital (Continued)

E M ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2009
BHE-_ZZNF+-_A=+—HILFE

28 WA (&)

Note: 5T -

0) Pursuant to the resolution passed at the extraordinary general i WBERZZZNFRAA+SBERITHRE
meeting held on 16 May 2008, the authorised share capital BRA® F@BHRER  BBEINET
of the Company was increased from HK$100,000,000 to 9,000,000,0008% & I& I 1H0.1 /& T I IR 15 7R
HK$1,000,000,000 by the creation of an additional 9,000,000,000 A B #97E TE AR 78 B3100,000,0005% 7T 38 A0 =
shares of HK$0.1 each. 1,000,000,0007% 7T °

(i) Pursuant to the resolution passed at the extraordinary general iy WREAR-ZZEZENFRATABETH
meeting held on 16 May 2008, 2,090,000,000 bonus shares RERR KRG F@BHREER EEZR
were issued at nil consideration. The issued and fully paid 172,090,000,0000% 4T A% 3% i@ %8 H) 3R 32
capital have been increased from HK$52,250,000 (equivalent 2,090,000,0008% & i% M {B0.175 7T /9 i 19
to RMB50,477,000) to HKS$261,250,000 (equivalent to P NE/NI=] Bz E 1T N8 R IR 7K 352,250,000
RMB237,762,000) by the creation of an additional 2,090,000,000 B (A E R A R #50477,0007T ) 1 N &
shares of HK$0.1 each. The bonus shares were credited as fully 261,250,000/ 7o( A8 & 7 A R #237,762,000
paid by way of capitalisation of HK$209,000,000 (equivalent to T) © FEiEEANA R 5 